

**City Research Online** 

## City, University of London Institutional Repository

**Citation:** Forbes, H. (2021). The two-spinor formalism in the study of the Bach equations and the massless free-field equations. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis, City, University of London)

This is the accepted version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/27833/

Link to published version:

**Copyright:** City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

**Reuse:** Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way. 
 City Research Online:
 http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/
 publications@city.ac.uk

## The two-spinor formalism in the study of the Bach equations and the massless free-field equations

Hamish Ian Forbes



A Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

City, University of London Department of Mathematics

December 2021

## Contents

| 1        | Introduction  | 1    |
|----------|---|------|
|          | 1.1 Summary of results  | . 3  |
|          | 1.2 Notation  | . 4  |
| <b>2</b> | Two-Spinor algebra  | 7    |
| 3        | Geometrical picture of a spin-vector  | 13   |
| 4        | Spinor analysis   | 17   |
| 5        | Spin-coefficient formalism  | 21   |
|          | 5.1 Geroch, Held, Penrose formalism   | . 23 |
|          | 5.2 Prime and asterisk operations   | . 25 |
|          | 5.3 Newman-Penrose equations  | . 26 |
|          | 5.4 Spinor form of the Bianchi identity   | . 27 |
|          | 5.5 Calculating spin-coefficients using Cartan's calculus                                     | . 28 |
| 6        | The Bach equations  | 31   |
|          | 6.1 Bach equations in terms of spin-coefficients  | . 33 |
|          | 6.2 Applications of the Bach equations in spin-coefficient form $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | . 36 |
|          | 6.2.1 PP-wave spacetime   | . 36 |
|          | 6.2.2 Static spherically-symmetric spacetime  | . 38 |
| 7        | Conformal Einstein space  | 43   |
|          | 7.1 Eastwood-Dighton tensor in terms of spin coefficients                                     | . 43 |
|          | 7.2 Conformal C-space   | . 46 |
|          | 7.3 Conformal factor for static spherically-symmetric spacetime                               | . 48 |
| 8        | Lanczos potential theory  | 51   |
|          | 8.1 Weyl-Lanczos equations  | . 51 |
|          | 8.2 Weyl-Lanczos equations in terms of spin-coefficients                                      | . 52 |
|          | 8.3 Applications of the Weyl-Lanczos equations in spin-coefficient form                       | . 53 |

| 9  | Dua                    | ality rotations and helicity                                | 57 |  |  |
|----|------------------------|---|----|--|--|
|    | 9.1                    | Massless free-field equations                               | 58 |  |  |
|    | 9.2                    | The helicity operator                                       | 59 |  |  |
|    |                        | 9.2.1 Spin 1 Maxwell  | 59 |  |  |
|    |                        | 9.2.2 Spin 2 Linear Gravity                                 | 61 |  |  |
|    | 9.3                    | Symplectic two-form   | 63 |  |  |
|    | 9.4                    | The helicity expression for integer spin massless fields    | 65 |  |  |
|    | 9.5                    | Complex structure   | 69 |  |  |
|    | 9.6                    | Conserved quantities in particle mechanics and field theory | 70 |  |  |
|    | 9.7                    | The helicity operator in twistor theory                     | 74 |  |  |
| 10 | 10 Summary and Outlook |   |    |  |  |
| Bi | Bibliography           |   |    |  |  |

# List of Figures

| 3.1 | The representation of $\nu^A$ as a null flag, exhibiting its relation to the vectors $N^a$ |    |
|-----|--|----|
|     | and $L^a$ .  | 15 |

#### Declaration

This work was carried out while studying for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at City, University of London. Part of this thesis has been published previously in [43], for which I am the sole author. Powers of discretion are granted to the Director of Library Services to allow this thesis to be copied in whole or in part without further reference to the author. This permission covers only single copies made for study purposes, subject to normal conditions of acknowledgement.

#### Acknowledgements

Thanks must go first and foremost to my supervisor Prof. Andreas Fring, for his patience, encouragement and helpful suggestions. Also to the mathematics department at City, including my fellow PhD students. I am grateful to my family and my in-laws for their encouragement. A special mention to my father, for his support during my teaching induction year. Most of all, I would like to thank my wife Eva, for her unwavering support and understanding, and for always believing in me. This work was financially supported by a doctoral studentship provided by City, University of London.

#### Abstract

This thesis applies the two-component spinor (two-spinor) calculus to study the Bach equations and the massless free-field equations. We first provide some context for the following chapters by outlining the history of the spinor concept and the motivation for using two-spinor methods as opposed to the better-known tensor calculus. We also give a summary of the original results and introduce the notation to be used throughout the thesis. We continue with the rules of spinor algebra, which are indispensable for carrying out calculations involving spinors, followed by a description of the geometrical picture of a spinor, which provides a useful mental aid to the more abstract algebraic approach. Next, in close analogy to the tensor formalism, we discuss spinor analysis by introducing the spinor covariant derivative and spinor curvature. Then in order to apply the two-spinor calculus in practical calculations, where explicit solutions are sought, we introduce the Newman-Penrose spin-coefficient formalism and its compacted version.

We proceed by applying the compacted spin-coefficient formalism to the Bach equations, which is an example of a conformal theory of gravity. We reconstruct two known exact solutions, namely the PP-wave spacetime and the static spherically-symmetric spacetime. In order to better understand the relationship between solutions of the Bach equations and the Einstein equations, we present the necessary and sufficient conditions, for a certain class of spacetimes to be a conformal Einstein space. As a further application of two-spinor methods, we introduce Lanczos potential theory, including the Lanczos spinor and the Weyl-Lanczos equations. We proceed to solve these equations for the Bach spacetime solutions found earlier.

Next, we discuss duality rotations and helicity in the context of the massless free-field equations. Using concepts from symplectic geometry, we derive an expression for the helicity of an integer spin s field. The helicity expression is given in terms of a three-surface integral over a conserved current density. Moreover, from the conformal invariance of the massless free-field equations, we show that it is conformally invariant. We also utilise concepts from twistor theory in order to better understand the relationship between duality rotations and helicity. We finish with a summary of results and outline future directions related to this work.

## List of Abbreviations

**EFE** Einstein field equations

 $\mathbf{NP}$  Newman-Penrose

GHP Geroch-Held-Penrose

#### **PP-wave** Plane-fronted gravitational wave with parallel rays

 ${\bf ED}$  Eastwood-Dighton

WL Weyl-Lanczos

 $\mathbf{PL}$ Pauli-Lubanski

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

According to current theory, all physics takes place within spacetime, which can be represented mathematically as a smooth four-dimensional manifold endowed with a smooth Lorentzian (+, -, -, -) metric. The tensor calculus is the most common mathematical formalism used to describe a manifold and its metric. However, in four dimensions and with Lorentzian signature, an alternative exists called the two-component spinor (two-spinor) formalism. Two-spinor techniques have been used to good effect when studying spacetime geometry, making clear some results that would have otherwise been obscure if only tensor descriptions had been employed. The aim of this thesis is to provide further applications of the two-spinor formalism to the study of relativistic field equations in four-dimensional spacetime. In particular, we will apply it to the Bach equations [8] and the massless free-field equations [38, 42], which are both conformally invariant field equations.

The concept of a spinor was first introduced by Cartan [27], however some of the formulas that arise in spinor theory, in the guise of Euler's rotational parameters, date back even further [77]. Much of the important literature on spinors up to 1953 is given in [9]. Spinor algebra and the two-component spinor notation (dotted and undotted indices) was introduced by Van der Waerden, see [108] for an English translation. Soon afterwards, a spinor analysis was provided [54]. Applications to curved spacetime were initiated in [15, 111, 80]. Penrose continued to develop spinor methods in a relativistic context. In [71], Newman and Penrose combined the two-spinor calculus with a Ricci-rotation-coefficient type of formalism, which is an example of a tetrad formalism based on a null-tetrad, now referred to as the Newman-Penrose (NP) spin-coefficient formalism. It was later streamlined into the compacted Geroch-Held-Penrose (GHP) spin-coefficient formalism [45]. Good introductions to two-spinor methods in relativity can be found in [107, 74]. A comprehensive account is provided in [89], and further applications of spinor and twistor methods are given in [90].

A physical motivation for employing the two-spinor calculus is the fundamental importance of the light-cone (null-cone) structure of spacetime. This structure is equivalent to the conformal structure of spacetime and is sufficient for all causal relations. As we will show, two-spinors are null objects. That is, they represent spin-vectors which point along the null-cone. Therefore, they are ideally suited to the study of Lorentzian spacetimes, as the following example shows. We can represent the four-momentum in the following matrix form

$$\boldsymbol{p} = \begin{pmatrix} p_0 + p_3 & p_1 + ip_2 \\ p_1 - ip_2 & p_0 - p_3 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{1.1}$$

where the matrix is Hermitian iff the momentum components are real numbers. If the fourmomentum is null, we have the following quadratic condition

$$p_0^2 - p_1^2 - p_2^2 - p_3^2 = 0. (1.2)$$

This condition is equivalent to the vanishing of the determinant of (1.1). Hence its rank must be equal to one, so it can be written as the outer product of two nonzero vectors

$$\boldsymbol{p} = \bar{\boldsymbol{\pi}} \boldsymbol{\pi}. \tag{1.3}$$

The  $\bar{\pi}$  and  $\pi$  are complex conjugates of each other iff p is Hermitian. They are two-component spinors, often referred to as spin-vectors, because in index notation they have a single spinor index. These spin-vectors exist only if (1.2) holds. Moreover, no further constraints need to be imposed. As spin-vectors, they are automatically null.

Another physical motivation for using two-spinors comes from the standard model of particle physics, where massless fields are treated as fundamental. In order to acquire mass, these fields must interact with the Higgs field. Massless fields only have support on null-momenta, so again a description in terms of two-spinors is more economical. This can be seen explicitly in twistor theory [90], where a twistor can be represented as a pair of two-spinors.

A motivation from a mathematical perspective comes from the fact that two-dimensional objects are simpler to deal with than four-dimensional objects. Furthermore, having two sets of indices (primed and unprimed) brings definite advantages, as we shall see. As one might expect from the above, two-spinors are specifically well-suited to four-dimensional spacetimes with one timelike and three space-like directions. In this case, the spin-space (the space of spin-vectors) splits into two irreducible spin-spaces of complex dimension two. The spin vectors of these spaces are the univalent (one spinor index) two-spinors, also known as Weyl spinors. From (2.6), it follows that two-spinors can be thought of as a square root of a (future-pointing) null-vector. That is, a vector with positive time-like component and zero norm. Because null-vectors are left invariant by a conformal rescaling, two-spinors are particularly useful for studying conformal symmetry and for proving conformal invariance. Furthermore, tensors with antisymmetric (skew) indices are concisely represented in the two-spinor formalism. Since the Maxwell-Faraday tensor is skew and the Riemann tensor has two pairs of skew indices, the equations of electromagnetism and gravitation take a concise form in two-spinor notation [60, 80]. At first sight, the application of the two-spinor calculus in gravitation theory seems to achieve all the same things as the tensor calculus, but with twice as many indices, and therefore feels like an unnecessary complication. However, the ability to manipulate each spinor index separately in a simple fashion is what makes this calculus so efficient. The tensor operations that correspond to these simple spinor index manipulations are often more complicated [108, 89].

In this thesis, we have chosen to investigate the Bach equations and the massless free-field equations for spin s using the two-spinor formalism. For the Bach equations, we aim to show the efficiency of the formalism in finding exact solutions. For the massless free-field equations, we focus of their duality invariance and the associated conserved charge, interpreted physically as the helicity. In both instances, expressing the equations in two-spinor form achieves a certain degree of economy. The main reason is that the relevant field variables can be expressed as totally symmetric complex spinors, which leads to an economic and elegant representation. Before introducing the equations to be studied, we introduce the basics of two-spinor theory, including the notation and the conventions of the abstract-index formalism. Chapter two describes the basics of the two-spinor algebra. Chapter three describes the geometrical picture of a spin-vector, the univalent spinor, which provides a useful mental aid to the more abstract algebraic approach. Chapter four discusses spinor analysis by introducing the spinor covariant derivative and spinor curvature. Chapter five describes the NP spin-coefficient formalism (and its compacted GHP version), which is a powerful calculus based on a null-tetrad or a spinor-dyad.

The main novel results of this thesis are contained in chapters six to nine. In chapter six, we translate the Bach equations into compacted GHP spin coefficient form and apply this formalism to find exact solutions for the Plane-fronted gravitational wave with parallel rays (PP-wave) spacetime and a static spherically-symmetric spacetime. Chapter seven describes the necessary and sufficient conditions for a spacetime to be a conformal Einstein space. For a spherically symmetric spacetime we apply the conditions to calculate the conformal factor that transforms the spacetime to an Einstein space. Chapter eight introduces Lanczos potential theory in its two-spinor formulation. We solve the Weyl-Lanczos (WL) equations to find the Lanczos coefficients for the PP-wave and spherically-symmetric spacetimes. Chapter nine discusses duality rotations and helicity in the context of the massless free-field equations. We use a symplectic two-form approach to derive an expression for the helicity of an integer spin sfield. The helicity expression is given in terms of a three-surface integral over a conserved current density. Moreover, from the conformal invariance of the massless free-field equations, we show that it is conformally invariant. We also utilise concepts from twistor theory in order to better understand the relationship between duality rotations and helicity. Chapter ten gives a summary of results and an outline of future directions related to this work.

#### **1.1** Summary of results

For the convenience of the reader, we list the original results presented in this thesis:

- The translation of the Bach equations into the compacted GHP spin-coefficient formalism
- Application of the Bach equations in spin-coefficient form to find two exact solutions: PP-wave spacetime and static spherically-symmetric spacetime
- Application of the conformal Einstein space conditions to calculate the conformal factor which transforms the spherically-symmetric Bach solution to the de Sitter-Schwarzschild solution
- Application of the Weyl-Lanczos equations to find the Lanczos coefficients for the PP-wave spacetime and static spherically-symmetric spacetime solutions of the Bach equations
- Applying symplectic methods and the two-spinor formalism to derive an expression for the helicity of an integer spin massless field

#### 1.2 Notation

We follow the conventions of the abstract-index formalism [83, 89]. The motivation of this formalism stems from recognising the importance of having a basis or coordinate independent formalism whilst also taking advantage of the familiar index notation, which is very useful for representing operations such as index permutation. The abstract-index formalism retains all the same operations as the familiar index notation, but is less ambiguous and often simpler.

In the abstract-index formalism, the symbol  $p^a$  represents an abstract vector, and not its components according to some basis. Similarly  $\pi^A$  and  $\bar{\pi}_A$  would represent abstract two-spinors. We can think of the index as an abstract marker, it does not take on numerical values. If there is no risk of confusion, when referring to a spinor or tensor within the text, indices may be suppressed.

When calculating solutions to the field equations, we invariably make a choice of basis. In such cases, we use the symbol  $p^{\mathbf{a}}$  with a bold index in order to represent the vector components with respect to our vector-basis, where  $\mathbf{a} = 0, 1, 2, 3$ . Similarly, we would represent spinor components as  $\pi^{\mathbf{A}}$  and  $\bar{\pi}_{\mathbf{A}'}$ , where  $\mathbf{A} = 0, 1$  and  $\mathbf{A}' = 0', 1'$ . The primed and unprimed indices refer to the irreducible spin-spaces, which are mapped to each other under complex conjugation. Lower case Latin indices will always represent vector indices and upper case Latin indices (either primed of unprimed) will represent spinor indices. One advantage of the abstract-index formalism is a greater economy in representing the correspondence between tensors and spinors. We can simply represent an abstract vector index as a pair of abstract spinor indices. For example, (1.3) can be written abstractly as

$$p_a = \bar{\pi}_A \pi_{A'}.\tag{1.4}$$

The equivalent equation in component form is

$$p_{\mathbf{a}} = g_{\mathbf{a}}{}^{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'} \bar{\pi}_{\mathbf{A}} \pi_{\mathbf{A}'}, \tag{1.5}$$

which introduces the mixed quantities  $g_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'}$  referred to as the Infeld-van der Waerden symbols [54]. These symbols can be viewed as the Kronecker delta tensor  $g_{a}^{\ b}$  where each index refers to a different type of basis. For each value of **a** they are represented as  $2 \times 2$  matrices. For a real vector-basis, the matrices are Hermitian. Our signature convention is such that the Minkowski metric  $\eta_{ab}$  is equal to diag(+1, -1, -1, -1).

## Chapter 2

## Two-Spinor algebra

There are three operations that are basic to the two-spinor algebra, namely scalar multiplication, addition and the inner product. In component notation these are

$$\alpha \left(\nu^{0}, \nu^{1}\right) = \left(\alpha \nu^{0}, \alpha \nu^{1}\right), \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\left(\nu^{0},\nu^{1}\right) + \left(\mu^{0},\mu^{1}\right) = \left(\nu^{0} + \mu^{0},\nu^{1} + \mu^{1}\right), \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\{(\nu^{0},\nu^{1}),(\mu^{0},\mu^{1})\} = \nu^{0}\mu^{1} - \nu^{1}\mu^{0}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\nu^{\mathbf{A}} = (\nu^0, \nu^1)$  and  $\mu^{\mathbf{A}} = (\mu^0, \mu^1)$  are spin vectors which are elements of spinspace. The first two have analogous operations in the tensor algebra. The third is analogous to the inner product in the tensor algebra. However, the important difference is that it is antisymmetric as opposed to symmetric, as follows from switching the positions of  $\nu^A$  and  $\mu^A$ . In the tensor algebra, the inner product gives rise to a unique symmetric tensor  $g_{ab}$ . Accordingly, in the spinor algebra there is a unique spinor  $\varepsilon_{AB}$ , which is antisymmetric

$$\varepsilon_{AB} = -\varepsilon_{BA},\tag{2.4}$$

which is called the *epsilon* spinor or the *Levi-Civita* spinor. We can write the inner product (2.3) equivalently as

$$\varepsilon_{AB}\nu^A\mu^B.$$
 (2.5)

Due to the antisymmetry of  $\varepsilon_{AB}$ , the spinor norm, which is the special case of the inner product of a spin-vector with itself, vanishes. This is in accordance with the fact that spin-vectors are closely connected to null vectors. Finally, there is also the outer product written as follows

$$\nu_{B...}^{A...}\mu_{D...}^{C...},$$
 (2.6)

which in the abstract index approach is commutative as well as associative and distributive over addition. A particular case of outer multiplication, when one of the spinors is a scalar, is scalar multiplication (2.1). In order to incorporate tensors into the spinor algebra, we need to include the complex conjugate of a spin-vector. Therefore, we require the operation of complex conjugation

$$\overline{\nu^A} = \bar{\nu}^{A'},\tag{2.7}$$

which is denoted by a bar over the entire symbol, including the index. The label A' may be regarded as the complex conjugate of the label A. The complex conjugate is obtained by replacing all unprimed indices with primed indices and vice versa. We also include a bar over the kernel symbol, whereas some authors omit this. In the case of a scalar, (2.7) is equivalent to the standard complex conjugacy relation. An exception to this convention occurs in the case of the conjugate epsilon spinor  $\varepsilon_{A'B'} = -\varepsilon_{B'A'}$ , where the over-bar is usually omitted. The condition for a spinor  $\xi_{AB'}^{CD'}$  to be *Hermitian* is

$$\bar{\xi}_{AB'}{}^{CD'} = \xi_{AB'}{}^{CD'},$$
(2.8)

whereas the term real is reserved for when all the spinor indices can be paired off, with one spinor index primed and the other unprimed

$$\bar{\xi}_{AA'}^{CC'} = \xi_{AA'}^{CC'}.$$
 (2.9)

The Riemannian metric tensor is a real symmetric two-index tensor, and its relation to the epsilon tensors is

$$g_{ab} = \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon_{A'B'}. \tag{2.10}$$

From (2.10), we see that  $\varepsilon_{AB}$  will play a similar role to the metric tensor of the tensor calculus, however, there are important differences arising from its antisymmetry. It is two-dimensional

$$\varepsilon_A{}^A = 2, \tag{2.11}$$

and raises and lowers spinor indices in the following way

$$\varepsilon_{AB}\nu^{A} = \nu_{B},$$

$$\varepsilon^{AB}\nu_{B} = \nu^{A},$$

$$\varepsilon^{AB}\varepsilon_{CB} = \varepsilon_{C}{}^{A},$$
(2.12)

where  $\nu^A$  is an arbitrary spinor and  $\varepsilon^{AB} = -\varepsilon^{BA}$ . For raising and lowering primed indices, analogous relations hold for the conjugate spinor. We note the minus sign in the following *see-saw* property

$$\nu_A \mu^A = -\nu^A \mu_A, \tag{2.13}$$

which stands in contrast to the contraction of tensor indices, where a plus sign appears instead. The two-spinor formalism can be used as a practical alternative to the tensor calculus because all tensor indices can be eliminated in favour of spinor indices. In fact, tensors are a particular type of spinor; specifically a spinor whose indices always occur in pairs, one of which is primed, and the other unprimed. That is, we can correlate an abstract tensor index, a, to a pair of abstract spinor indices, AA', cf. (1.4). Therefore, the tensor algebra is embedded in the spinor algebra, moreover, the relationship between the algebras can be understood from the following correspondence. Let  $V^a$  be a real four-vector in Minkowski spacetime with components

$$V^{\mathbf{a}} = (V^0, V^1, V^2, V^3) \tag{2.14}$$

in some orthonormal frame. Furthermore, let  $V^{AA'}$  be the Hermitian matrix with components

$$V^{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} V^0 + V^3 & V^1 + iV^2 \\ V^1 - iV^2 & V^0 - V^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.15)

Then we have

$$\det\left(X^{AA'}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\eta_{ab}V^aV^b,\tag{2.16}$$

where  $\eta_{ab}$  is the Minkowski metric. Equation (2.15) gives a real linear correspondence between four-vectors and  $2 \times 2$  Hermitian matrices. If we multiply (2.15) on the left by a  $2 \times 2$  complex valued matrix with unit determinant and on the right by its Hermitian conjugate, we have

$$V^{AA'} \to L^A{}_B V^{BB'} \bar{L}^{A'}{}_{B'}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $(L^A{}_B) \in SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  and  $\overline{L}^{A'}{}_{B'} = \overline{L^A{}_B}$ . The right hand side of (2.17) is again a Hermitian matrix, and the determinant is invariant. According to (2.15), the transformation (2.17) defines a corresponding linear transformation on the vector

$$V^a \to \Lambda^a{}_b V^b. \tag{2.18}$$

According to (2.16), the transformation (2.18) preserves its length, hence it defines a Lorentz transformation. Every proper orthochronous Lorentz transformation can be represented by (2.17). The isomorphism from  $SL(2,\mathbb{C})$  to the identity component of the Lorentz group is two-to-one; the identity Lorentz transformation is represented by both the identity and its minus in  $SL(2,\mathbb{C})[83, 112, 52].$ 

One of the reasons why operations in the two-spinor formalism tend to be simpler than in the tensor formalism is because one only needs to deal with symmetric spinors, which are separately symmetric in all primed and unprimed indices. In order to show this in the simplest case of a two index spinor  $\kappa_{CD}$ , consider the following identity satisfied by the epsilon tensor

$$\varepsilon_{A[B}\varepsilon_{CD]} = 0, \tag{2.19}$$

where square brackets denote antisymmetrisation over the enclosed indices. This identity is easily seen to be true by the following argument. Spinor indices can only take two values, one value must therefore appear twice in the antisymmetrisation, hence the result must vanish. Expanding out the bracket in (2.19), we find the equivalent relation

$$\varepsilon_{AB}\varepsilon_{CD} + \varepsilon_{AC}\varepsilon_{DB} + \varepsilon_{AD}\varepsilon_{BC} = 0. \tag{2.20}$$

If the indices C and D are raised according to (2.12), we can rearrange (2.20) to find

$$\varepsilon_A{}^C \varepsilon_B{}^D - \varepsilon_A{}^D \varepsilon_B{}^C = \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon^{CD}.$$
(2.21)

Contracting (2.21) with  $\kappa_{CD}$  yields

$$\kappa_{AB} - \kappa_{BA} = \varepsilon_{AB} \kappa_C^{\ C}. \tag{2.22}$$

Hence, the antisymmetric part of  $\kappa_{AB}$  is determined by the trace

$$\kappa_{[AB]} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{AB} \kappa_C{}^C, \qquad (2.23)$$

where the factor of a half arises due to the two-dimensionality of spin-space (2.11). Therefore, we can write  $\kappa_{AB}$  as the sum of its irreducible parts,

$$\kappa_{AB} = \kappa_{(AB)} + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{AB} \kappa_C^{\ C}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where round brackets denote symmetrisation over the enclosed indices. The resulting sum consists of a symmetric spinor and the epsilon spinor multiplied by (half) the trace. This result generalises to any multivalent spinor with both primed and unprimed indices. In the general case, it can be decomposed into a sum of a symmetric spinor and outer products of the epsilon tensor with symmetric spinors of lower valence [89]. Due to this result, tensor symmetries are simply represented in the two-spinor formalism. A striking example of this simplification happens in the case of the Weyl or Conformal tensor  $C^a_{bcd}$ , which has the somewhat complicated symmetries

$$C_{abcd} = C_{[ab]cd} = C_{ab[cd]} = C_{cdab}, \qquad C_{a[bcd]} = 0, \qquad C^a_{\ bad} = 0.$$
 (2.25)

In the two-spinor formalism, the Weyl tensor is represented as

$$C_{abcd} = \Psi_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{A'B'} \varepsilon_{C'D'} + \Psi_{A'B'C'D'} \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon_{CD}, \qquad (2.26)$$

where

$$\Psi_{ABCD} = \Psi_{(ABCD)}, \qquad \bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} = \bar{\Psi}_{(A'B'C'D')},$$
(2.27)

which are referred to as the Weyl conformal spinors. More precisely,  $\Psi$  represents the antiself-dual part of the Weyl tensor, and its complex conjugate  $\bar{\Psi}$  represents the self-dual part. Because the Weyl spinors are totally symmetric, the algebraic classification of the Weyl tensor is very systematic in the two-spinor formalism [80, 90].

## Chapter 3

## Geometrical picture of a spin-vector

Many texts introduce spinors in the context of group representation theory [28, 26]. Often the emphasis is on the algebraic rather than the geometric properties of spinors. Unfortunately, this can give the impression that a geometrical picture of a spinor is either non-existent or not very useful. But in many instances, a concrete geometrical picture is a helpful mental aid and provides a conceptually complementary approach to algebraic methods. In this chapter, we provide the geometrical interpretation of a spin-vector, up to a sign, as a null-flag [89, 107]. This is analogous to the way in which a vector can be pictured as a directed line segment or arrow.

Let  $\nu^A$  represent a spin-vector. By forming the outer product with its complex conjugate, we define the vector  $N^a = \nu^A \bar{\nu}^A$ . This vector  $N^a$  is real (equal to its complex conjugate). It is also null, since its norm is zero

$$N_a N^a = \nu_A \bar{\nu}_{A'} \nu^A \bar{\nu}^{A'} = \left| \nu_A \nu^A \right|^2 = 0.$$
(3.1)

It is also future pointing, which means it lies on the future-pointing null half-cone. If defined instead with a minus sign, it would correspond to a past-pointing null vector. The two cases are distinguished by the sign of  $N^0$ . According to (3.1), a spinor uniquely determines a futurepointing null vector, which represents the direction of the flagpole. However,  $N^a$  is left invariant by a change of phase

$$\nu^A \to e^{i\theta} \nu^A, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\theta$  is real. In order to interpret the phase geometrically, we consider the real bivector

$$M^{ab} = \nu^A \nu^B \varepsilon^{A'B'} + \bar{\nu}^{A'} \bar{\nu}^{B'} \varepsilon^{AB}, \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $M^{ab} = \overline{M}^{ab} = -M^{ba}$ . Furthermore, it is a null-bivector because it satisfies

$$M_{ab}M^{ab} = 0. (3.4)$$

We can simplify (3.3) by introducing the spin-vector  $\lambda^A$  satisfying

$$\nu_A \lambda^A = 1. \tag{3.5}$$

From (3.5) and (2.22), the following relation holds

$$\varepsilon^{AB} = \nu^A \lambda^B - \nu^B \lambda^A, \tag{3.6}$$

which is the definition that  $\nu^A$  and  $\lambda^A$  constitute a spin-frame. Contracting the indices on (3.6) and using (2.11) gives (3.5). Substituting (3.6) into (3.3), we find

$$M^{ab} = N^a L^b - N^b L^a, (3.7)$$

where  $L^a$  is defined as follows

$$L^a = \nu^A \bar{\lambda}^{A'} + \lambda^A \bar{\nu}^{A'}. \tag{3.8}$$

The form of (3.7) defines the null-bivector as *simple* because it can be written as the outer product of two vectors. From (3.8) and (3.5), it follows that the vector  $L^a$  satisfies the following

$$L^a = \bar{L}^a, \quad L_a L^a = -2;$$

which says that it is real and spacelike of length  $\sqrt{2}$ . It is also orthogonal to  $N^a$ 

$$L_a N^a = 0$$

The vector  $L^a$  is not uniquely determined by  $M^{ab}$  because  $\lambda^A$  is not uniquely determined. This is because the transformations

$$\lambda^A \to \lambda^A + \alpha \nu^A, \tag{3.9}$$

leave (3.5) invariant. From (3.8) and (3.9), it follows that  $L^a$  transforms as

$$L^a \to L^a + (\alpha + \bar{\alpha}) N^a. \tag{3.10}$$

Therefore,  $M^{ab}$  determines a two-space given by the set of vectors

$$aN^a + bL^a, (3.11)$$

where a and b are real numbers. To give significance to the sense of L, we restrict b > 0. Therefore, the two-space is actually a half-plane. Because it contains only one null direction, namely that of the flagpole  $N^a$ , it is by definition a null half-plane and is tangent to the null cone along the direction  $N^a$ . This null half-plane is called the *flag plane* of  $\nu^A$ , where the direction of the flag is  $L^a$ , see Fig. 3.1.



Figure 3.1: The representation of  $\nu^A$  as a null flag, exhibiting its relation to the vectors  $N^a$  and  $L^a$ .

We now show how the phase transformation (3.2) affects the direction of the flag  $L^a$ . In order to preserve (3.5), it is sufficient if  $\lambda^A$  transforms as

$$\lambda^A \to e^{-i\theta} \lambda^A. \tag{3.12}$$

From (3.8) it follows that  $L^a$  transforms as

$$L^a \to e^{2i\theta} \nu^A \bar{\lambda}^{A'} + e^{-2i\theta} \lambda^A \bar{\nu}^{A'}. \tag{3.13}$$

If we introduce the vector  $W^a$  defined as

$$W^a = i\nu^A \bar{\lambda}^{A'} - i\lambda^A \bar{\nu}^{A'}, \qquad (3.14)$$

then we can rewrite (3.13) as

$$L^a \to \cos 2\theta L^a + \sin 2\theta W^a. \tag{3.15}$$

The vector  $L^a$  is rotated in the  $(L^a, W^a)$ -plane by the angle  $2\theta$ . Therefore, the phase transformation (3.2) corresponds to a rotation by  $2\theta$  of the flag plane about the flagpole. The corresponding transformation of  $M^{ab}$  is

$$M^{ab} \to \cos 2\theta M^{ab} + {}^*M^{ab} \sin 2\theta, \qquad (3.16)$$

where

$$^*M_{ab} = \frac{1}{2}e_{abcd}M^{cd}, \tag{3.17}$$

represents the dual of  $M_{ab}$  and where  $e_{abcd} = e_{[abcd]}$  is the alternating tensor.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, the transformation (3.16) is referred to as a duality rotation [67]. Substituting the specific value  $\theta = \pi$  into (3.2) gives

$$\nu^A \to -\nu^A, \tag{3.18}$$

whereas it follows from (3.15) that  $L^a$  is invariant. Hence, whilst the flag plane undergoes a complete revolution through  $2\pi$  returning to its original position, the spin-vector  $\nu^A$  changes to its negative. Therefore, the null-flag only determines the spin-vector up to a sign, which is related to the well-known fact that spin transformations provide a double-valued representation of Lorentz transformations, cf. (2.17) and (2.18) and the paragraph that follows these equations.

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{Also}$  known as the four-dimensional Levi-Civita tensor.

## Chapter 4

## Spinor analysis

The basic concepts of spinor analysis are the spinor covariant derivative and the curvature spinors. A quick way to derive these is simply to take the tensor versions and translate them into spinor form according to a standard procedure [89]. Let us then first introduce the basic definitions and relations of Riemannian geometry using the tensor formalism [96]. Denote by  $\nabla_a$  the covariant derivative (or connection) which defines covariant differentiation. It satisfies

$$\nabla_a \left( V^b + W^b \right) = \nabla_a V^b + \nabla_a W^b, \tag{4.1}$$

$$\nabla_a \left( f V^b \right) = f \nabla_a V^b + V^b \nabla_a f, \tag{4.2}$$

where  $\nabla_a f$  is the ordinary gradient of a scalar f. Riemannian geommetry introduces a symmetric non-singular tensor,  $g_{ab} = g_{ba}$ , called the metric. The covariant derivative is required to be *metric-compatible*,

$$\nabla_a g_{bc} = 0, \tag{4.3}$$

and torsion-free

$$(\nabla_a \nabla_b - \nabla_b \nabla_a) f = 0. \tag{4.4}$$

The terminology stems from the fact that (4.4) is equivalent to the vanishing of the *torsion* tensor. If (4.3) and (4.4) are satisfied, the connection is uniquely defined by the metric. We use the following definition of the Riemann tensor in terms of a metric-compatible and torsion-free covariant derivative

$$(\nabla_a \nabla_b - \nabla_b \nabla_a) V^d = R_{abc}{}^d V^c, \tag{4.5}$$

where  $V^a$  is an arbitrary vector. With all indices lowered, it has the following symmetries

$$R_{abcd} = -R_{bacd}, \quad R_{abcd} = -R_{abdc}, \quad R_{abcd} = R_{cdab}, \quad R_{[abc]d} = 0.$$
(4.6)

The Ricci tensor is formed from the contraction of the Riemann tensor

$$R_{ab} = R_{acb}{}^c = R_{ba}, \tag{4.7}$$

and the Ricci scalar is formed from the contraction of the Ricci tensor

$$R \equiv R_a{}^a = g^{ab}R_{ab}.\tag{4.8}$$

The Weyl tensor is that part of the Riemann tensor which has all the trace parts removed

$$C_{ab}{}^{cd} = R_{ab}{}^{cd} - 2R_{[a}{}^{[c}g_{b]}{}^{d]} + \frac{1}{3}Rg_{[a}{}^{c}g_{b]}{}^{d}.$$
(4.9)

As well as being traceless, it shares all the symmetries of the Riemann tensor, cf. (4.6). In the spinor calculus, the covariant derivative is written as  $\nabla_{AA'}$  and satisfies the following properties when acting on spinors

$$\nabla_{AA'}\left(\xi^B + \omega^B\right) = \nabla_{AA'}\xi^B + \nabla_{AA'}\omega^B, \qquad (4.10)$$

$$\nabla_{AA'}\left(f\xi^B\right) = f\nabla_{AA'}\xi^B + \xi^B\nabla_{AA'}f,\tag{4.11}$$

which will agree with (4.1) when acting on tensors. If we demand that the spinor covariant derivative is torsion-free

$$(\nabla_{AA'}\nabla_{BB'} - \nabla_{BB'}\nabla_{AA'})f = 0, \qquad (4.12)$$

and that  $\varepsilon_{AB}$  be covariantly constant

$$\nabla_{AA'}\varepsilon_{BC} = 0, \tag{4.13}$$

then it will be uniquely defined. Also, we demand that covariant differentiation commutes with complex conjugation

$$\overline{\nabla_a \xi_{\cdots}} = \nabla_a \bar{\xi}_{\cdots}, \tag{4.14}$$

which follows from the following relations

$$\nabla_{AA'}\xi^{B'} = \overline{\nabla_{AA'}\bar{\xi}^B}, \qquad \nabla_{AA'}\omega_{B'} = \overline{\nabla_{AA'}\bar{\omega}_B}.$$
(4.15)

Hence, the covariant derivative  $\nabla_a$  is a real operator:  $\overline{\nabla}_a = \nabla_a$ . The Riemann curvature tensor followed from the covariant derivative via (4.5), similarly the curvature spinors follow from the spinor covariant derivative. However, it turns out to be more straightforward to translate the curvature tensor directly into spinor form as follows

$$R_{abcd} = \Psi_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{A'B'} \varepsilon_{C'D'} + \Psi_{A'B'C'D'} \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon_{CD} + \Phi_{ABC'D'} \varepsilon_{A'B'} \varepsilon_{CD} + \bar{\Phi}_{A'B'CD} \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon_{C'D'} + 2\Lambda \left( \varepsilon_{AC} \varepsilon_{B'D'} \varepsilon_{A'B'} \varepsilon_{C'D'} - \varepsilon_{AD} \varepsilon_{BC} \varepsilon_{A'D'} \varepsilon_{B'D'} \right), \qquad (4.16)$$

where  $\Psi_{ABCD}$  is the Weyl conformal spinor,  $\Phi_{ABC'D'}$  is the Ricci spinor, and  $\Lambda$  is proportional to the Ricci scalar. In fact we have

$$R = 24\Lambda,\tag{4.17}$$

hence  $\overline{\Lambda} = \Lambda$ . Moreover, the Ricci spinor is proportional to the traceless Ricci tensor

$$R_{ab} - \frac{1}{4}Rg_{ab} = -2\Phi_{ABA'B'} = -2\Phi_{ab}, \qquad (4.18)$$

hence  $\bar{\Phi}_{ABA'B'} = \Phi_{A'B'AB}$  is Hermitian. The Weyl spinor is related to the Weyl tensor as in (2.26)

$$C_{abcd} = \Psi_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{A'B'} \varepsilon_{C'D'} + \bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} \varepsilon_{AB} \varepsilon_{CD}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where  $\overline{\Psi_{ABCD}} = \overline{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'}$  is therefore a complex spinor. All the curvature spinors are symmetric in their respective primed and unprimed spinor indices. This is equivalent to the statement that (4.16) represents a decomposition of the Riemann tensor into its irreducible spinor parts under the group  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ .

The existence of spinors requires only a conformal structure. Moreover, the conformal invariance of a set of field equations follows more straightforwardly if expressed in spinor form. Consider a *conformal rescaling* 

$$g_{ab} \mapsto \hat{g}_{ab} = \Omega^2 g_{ab}, \tag{4.20}$$

where  $\Omega$  is a scalar field which is everywhere positive. In order to preserve (2.10) we have

$$\varepsilon_{AB} \mapsto \hat{\varepsilon}_{AB} = \Omega \varepsilon_{AB}. \tag{4.21}$$

More generally, we define  $\theta$  (spinor indices suppressed) to be a *conformal density* of weight k if it transforms under (4.20) as

$$\hat{\theta} = \Omega^k \theta. \tag{4.22}$$

Hence,  $g_{ab}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{AB}$  would have respective conformal weights 2 and 1. A set of field equations is defined to be *conformally invariant* if it is possible to assign a conformal weight to all field quantities, such that the field equations still hold after the conformal rescaling (4.20). In order to know how a set of field equations transforms under (4.20), we need to know how the covariant derivative transforms. This can be derived from the requirement that both the covariant derivative and the conformally rescaled covariant derivative are torsion-free and satisfy

$$\nabla_{AA'}\varepsilon_{AB} = 0,$$
  
$$\hat{\nabla}_{AA'}\hat{\varepsilon}_{AB} = 0.$$
 (4.23)

From (4.23), assuming  $\Omega$  is real, the two covariant derivatives are related as follows,

$$\hat{\nabla}_{AA'}\xi_{B\dots D'}{}^{P\dots R'} = \nabla_{AA'}\xi_{B\dots D'}{}^{P\dots R'} - \Upsilon_{BA'}\xi_{A\dots D'}{}^{P\dots R'} - \dots - \Upsilon_{AD'}\xi_{B\dots A'}{}^{P\dots R'} + \varepsilon_A{}^P\Upsilon_{XA'}\xi_{B\dots D'}{}^{X\dots R'} + \dots + \varepsilon_{A'}{}^{R'}\Upsilon_{AX'}\xi_{B\dots D'}{}^{P\dots X'},$$

$$(4.24)$$

where  $\xi_{B...D'}^{P...R'}$  is an arbitrary spinor and

$$\Upsilon_{AA'} = \Omega^{-1} \nabla_{AA'} \Omega. \tag{4.25}$$

In the special case when the spinor indices of  $\xi$  can be grouped into tensor indices

$$\xi_{BB'...D'D'}{}^{PP'...RR'} = \xi_{b...d}{}^{p...r}, \qquad (4.26)$$

we have

$$\hat{\nabla}_{a}\xi_{b\dots d}{}^{p\dots r} = \nabla_{a}\xi_{b\dots d}{}^{p\dots r} + U_{ax}{}^{p}\xi_{b\dots d}{}^{x\dots r} + \dots + U_{ax}{}^{r}\xi_{b\dots d}{}^{p\dots x} - U_{ab}{}^{x}\xi_{x\dots d}{}^{p\dots r} - \dots - U_{ad}{}^{x}\xi_{b\dots x}{}^{p\dots r}, \qquad (4.27)$$

where

$$U_{ab}{}^{c} = 2\Upsilon_{(a}g_{b)}{}^{c} - g_{ab}\Upsilon^{c}.$$
(4.28)

Due to the symmetrised term, (4.28) is in fact composed of three terms. Consequently, if each term in (4.27) is written out explicitly, it contains many more terms that its equivalent spinor transformation law (4.24). This fact makes proofs of conformal invariance more straightforward in the two-spinor formalism [89].

## Chapter 5

## Spin-coefficient formalism

When explicit calculations are required, all tensor quantities can be expressed in terms of their components with respect to a coordinate system. This requires choosing a coordinate basis (or natural basis) for the tangent space, which is provided by the partial derivatives with respect to the coordinates at a point. If a non-coordinate basis is chosen instead, one introduces a tetrad, which is a set of four linearly independent real vector-fields. This widely used method is called the *tetrad formalism*. Often an orthonormal-tetrad is employed, however, a null-tetrad is more closely related to the spinor calculus and leads to a *Ricci-rotation* type formalism called the NP *spin-coefficient formalism* [71]. Let us therefore introduce a null-tetrad of vectors  $l^a$ ,  $n^a$ ,  $\bar{m}^a$ ,

$$e_{\mathbf{m}}{}^{a} = \begin{pmatrix} l^{a} \\ n^{a} \\ m^{a} \\ \bar{m}^{a} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.1}$$

satisfying

$$\eta_{\mathbf{mn}} = g_{ab} e_{\mathbf{m}}{}^{a} e_{\mathbf{n}}{}^{b}, \tag{5.2}$$

where  $\eta_{mn}$  are the components of the following matrix

$$\eta_{\mathbf{mn}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.3)

The null-tetrad can be used to take components of an arbitrary vector in the following way

$$V^{\mathbf{a}} = e_a{}^{\mathbf{a}}V^a. \tag{5.4}$$

The analogous object for the spinor calculus is a dyad, which is a pair of linearly independent complex vector-fields,

$$\varepsilon_{\mathbf{A}}{}^{A} = (o^{A}, \iota^{A}), \tag{5.5}$$

which satisfies the following relations

$$\varepsilon_{AB}o^{A}o^{B} = o_{A}o^{A} = 0,$$
  

$$\varepsilon_{AB}\iota^{A}\iota^{B} = \iota_{A}\iota^{A} = 0,$$
  

$$\varepsilon_{AB}o^{A}\iota^{B} = o_{A}\iota^{A} = 1.$$
(5.6)

The third relation provides a normalisation condition, in which case the dyad is referred to as a spin-frame, cf. (3.6). The dyad may be used to take components of an arbitrary spinor with unprimed indices in the following way

$$\kappa^{\mathbf{A}} = \varepsilon_A{}^{\mathbf{A}}\kappa^A. \tag{5.7}$$

For taking components of an arbitrary spinor with primed indices, analogous relations hold for the conjugate dyad. We can express the null tetrad (5.1) in terms of the dyad (5.5) and its conjugate as follows

$$l^{a} = o^{A}o^{A'},$$

$$n^{a} = \iota^{A}\iota^{A'},$$

$$m^{a} = o^{A}\iota^{A'},$$

$$\bar{m}^{a} = \iota^{A}o^{A'}.$$
(5.8)

In terms of a spin-frame, twelve complex *spin-coefficients* are defined as follows

$$\kappa = o^{A} D o_{A}, \quad \gamma' = -\iota^{A} D o_{A}, \quad \tau' = -\iota^{A} D \iota_{A},$$

$$\rho = o^{A} \delta' o_{A}, \quad \beta' = -\iota^{A} \delta' o_{A}, \quad \sigma' = -\iota^{A} \delta' \iota_{A},$$

$$\sigma = o^{A} \delta o_{A}, \quad \beta = \iota^{A} \delta o_{A}, \quad \rho' = -\iota^{A} \delta \iota_{A},$$

$$\tau = o^{A} D' o_{A}, \quad \gamma = \iota^{A} D' o_{A}, \quad \kappa' = -\iota^{A} D' \iota_{A},$$
(5.9)

where the *intrinsic derivatives* are the components of the vector covariant derivative in the spinor basis

$$D = o^{A}o^{A'}\nabla_{AA'},$$
  

$$\delta = o^{A}\iota^{A'}\nabla_{AA'},$$
  

$$\delta' = \iota^{A}o^{A'}\nabla_{AA'},$$
  

$$D' = \iota^{A}\iota^{A'}\nabla_{AA'}.$$
  
(5.10)

The complex conjugate relations of (5.9) and (5.10) follow by replacing the dyad by its complex conjugate and the fact that the covariant derivative is real (4.14). The significance of the primed symbols is that under a discrete transformation called the *prime operation*, defined below in (5.24), primed symbols become unprimed and vice versa, thus an economy of notation is achieved. Let us also define the following standard shorthand,  $\xi_{r,t}$ , for the components of a
spinor  $\xi_{A...D...G'...K'}$  [98, 89]

$$\xi_{r,t} = \xi_{A...D...G'...K'} \underbrace{o^{A}}_{r'} \underbrace{l^{D}}_{r'} \underbrace{o^{G'}}_{t'} \underbrace{l^{K'}}_{t'} \underbrace{l^{K'}}_{t} ...$$
(5.11)

A particular example of (5.11) for the Weyl and Ricci spinors would be

$$\Psi_2 = \Psi_{ABCD} \, o^A o^B \iota^C \iota^D, \quad \Phi_{11} = \Phi_{ABA'B'} \, o^A \iota^B o^{A'} \iota^{B'}. \tag{5.12}$$

Moreover, the Ricci spinor is real, therefore, we have the following conjugate transpose relations between the components

$$\Phi_{rt} = \bar{\Phi}_{tr}.\tag{5.13}$$

### 5.1 Geroch, Held, Penrose formalism

The GHP formalism [45] is a calculus based on a pair of null directions. It was introduced for situations where two null vectors are physically distinguished by the problem under consideration, but a complete basis is not [45]. More relevant to our purposes, is that the compacted expressions are, in the majority of cases, considerably simpler than their counterparts in the original scheme. This alone justifies our use of the GHP formalism, therefore, the equations may be legitimately regarded as shorthand expressions for full spin-coefficient formulae. The most general change of spin-frame which leaves two null directions invariant is

$$o^A \mapsto \lambda o^A, \quad \iota^A \mapsto \lambda^{-1} \iota^A,$$
 (5.14)

where  $\lambda$  is an arbitrary (nowhere vanishing) complex scalar field. From (5.14) it follows that

$$o_A \mapsto \lambda o_A, \quad \iota_A \mapsto \lambda^{-1} \iota_A,$$
 (5.15)

and that

$$o^{A'} \mapsto \bar{\lambda} o^{A'}, \quad \iota^{A'} \mapsto \bar{\lambda}^{-1} \iota^{A'}, o_{A'} \mapsto \bar{\lambda} o_{A'}, \quad \iota_{A'} \mapsto \bar{\lambda}^{-1} \iota_{A'}.$$
 (5.16)

The formalism deals with scalars  $\eta$  associated with a spin-frame or null tetrad, where the scalars transform in the following way

$$\eta \mapsto \lambda^p \lambda^q \eta, \tag{5.17}$$

whenever the dyad transforms as in (5.14), where p and q are defined in terms of r, r', t and t' from (5.11) as

$$p = r' - r, \qquad q = t' - t.$$
 (5.18)

A scalar transforming according to (5.17) is called a weighted scalar of type (p,q). We have the following weighted scalars

$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi_r & (4-2r,0), \\
\Phi_{rt} & (2-2r,2-2t), \\
\Lambda & (0,0), \\
\rho & (1,1), \\
\tau & (1,-1), \\
\kappa & (3,1), \\
\sigma & (3,-1),
\end{aligned}$$
(5.19)

where  $24\Lambda = R$ . The remaining weighted scalars are obtained by priming, conjugating or performing both on (5.19), where the prime of a (p,q) scalar is of type (-p, -q), c.f. (5.2), and the complex conjugate of a (p,q) scalar is of type (q,p). As an example let us see how  $\sigma$ transforms,

$$\sigma = o^{A} \delta o_{A} = o^{A} o^{B} \iota^{B'} \nabla_{BB'} o_{A}$$

$$\rightarrow \lambda o^{A} \lambda o^{B} \bar{\lambda}^{-1} \iota^{B'} \nabla_{BB'} (\lambda o_{A})$$

$$= \lambda^{2} \bar{\lambda}^{-1} o^{A} o_{A} o^{B} \iota^{B'} \nabla_{BB'} \lambda + \lambda^{3} \bar{\lambda}^{-1} o^{A} o^{B} \iota^{B'} \nabla_{BB'} o_{A}$$

$$= \lambda^{3} \bar{\lambda}^{-1} \sigma, \qquad (5.20)$$

where the first term of the second to last line is zero due to (5.6).

The spin coefficients of the middle column of (5.9) are not weighted, nor are the intrinsic derivatives (5.10). They are therefore combined to give the following weighted derivative operators when acting on a (p,q) scalar [45],<sup>1</sup>

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{b} &= D + p\gamma' + q\bar{\gamma}' \quad (1,1), \\ \mathbf{b}' &= D' - p\gamma - q\bar{\gamma} \quad (-1,-1), \\ \bar{\mathbf{d}} &= \delta - p\beta + q\bar{\beta}' \quad (1,-1), \\ \bar{\mathbf{d}}' &= \delta' + p\beta' - q\bar{\beta} \quad (-1,1). \end{split}$$

$$(5.21)$$

The differential operators (5.21) are of weight (p,q) in the sense that acting on a scalar of type (u, v) produces a scalar of type (u + p, v + q). In terms of (5.21), the following relations follow from (5.9)

$$\begin{aligned} bo^{A} &= -\kappa l^{A}, \quad bl^{A} &= -\tau' o^{A}, \\ \delta' o^{A} &= -\rho l^{A}, \quad \delta' l^{A} &= -\sigma' o^{A}, \\ \delta o^{A} &= -\sigma l^{A}, \quad \delta l^{A} &= -\rho' o^{A}, \\ b' o^{A} &= -\tau l^{A}, \quad b' l^{A} &= -\kappa' o^{A}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.22)

Let  $\xi_{A...D...G'...K'}$  be a symmetric spinor with components defined by (5.11). Making use of (5.22) and their complex conjugate relations, the corresponding components of the intrinsic

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{The}$  symbol  $\flat$  is pronounced 'thorn' and  $\eth$  is pronounced 'eth'.

derivatives of  $\xi_{A...D...G'...K'}$  may be derived

$$(o^{A} \dots l^{D} \dots o^{G'} \dots l^{K'} \dots) D\xi_{A \dots D \dots G' \dots K'} = [b\xi_{r,t} + r'\kappa\xi_{r+1,t} + r\tau'\xi_{r-1,t} + t'\bar{\kappa}\xi_{r,t+1} + t\bar{\tau}'\xi_{r,t-1}, (o^{A} \dots l^{D} \dots o^{G'} \dots l^{K'} \dots) \delta\xi_{A \dots D \dots G' \dots K'} = \delta\xi_{r,t} + r'\sigma\xi_{r+1,t} + r\rho'\xi_{r-1,t} + t'\bar{\rho}\xi_{r,t+1} + t\bar{\sigma}'\xi_{r,t-1}, (o^{A} \dots l^{D} \dots o^{G'} \dots l^{K'} \dots) \delta'\xi_{A \dots D \dots G' \dots K'} = \delta'\xi_{r,t} + r'\rho\xi_{r+1,t} + r\sigma'\xi_{r-1,t} + t'\bar{\sigma}\xi_{r,t+1} + t\bar{\rho}'\xi_{r,t-1}, (o^{A} \dots l^{D} \dots o^{G'} \dots l^{K'} \dots) D'\xi_{A \dots D \dots G' \dots K'} = [b'\xi_{r,t} + r'\tau\xi_{r+1,t} + r\kappa'\xi_{r-1,t} + t'\bar{\tau}\xi_{r,t+1} + t\bar{\kappa}'\xi_{r,t-1}].$$

$$(o^{A} \dots l^{D} \dots o^{G'} \dots l^{K'} \dots) D'\xi_{A \dots D \dots G' \dots K'} = [b'\xi_{r,t} + r'\tau\xi_{r+1,t} + r\kappa'\xi_{r-1,t} + t'\bar{\tau}\xi_{r,t-1}].$$

Equations (5.23) are the key equations which provide an efficient way of translating differential spinor equations into the GHP formalism.

#### 5.2 Prime and asterisk operations

The significance of the *primed* symbols, e.g. the primed spin-coefficients occurring in (5.9), is that under the prime operation defined as

$$': o^A \mapsto i\iota^A, \quad \iota^A \mapsto io^A, \quad o^{A'} \mapsto -i\iota^{A'}, \quad \iota^{A'} \mapsto -io^{A'}, \tag{5.24}$$

which preserves the normalisation condition (5.6), the primed and unprimed spin-coefficients are interchanged. From (5.8), we see that under the prime operation, the null tetrad transforms as follows

$$l^a \mapsto n^a \quad n^a \mapsto l^a \quad m^a \mapsto \bar{m}^a \quad \bar{m}^a \mapsto m^a.$$
 (5.25)

Furthermore, the curvature spinor components transform as

$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi_r &\mapsto \Psi_s & 0 \leftrightarrow 4 \quad 1 \leftrightarrow 3 \quad 2 \leftrightarrow 2, \\
\Phi_{rs} &\mapsto \Phi_{tu} & 0 \leftrightarrow 2 \quad 1 \leftrightarrow 1.
\end{aligned}$$
(5.26)

Note that the operation of complex conjugation, which interchanges primed indices for unprimed indices, commutes with the prime operation, such that  $(\bar{\alpha})' = \overline{(\alpha')}$ .

There exists another discrete symmetry possessed by the spin-coefficient formalism, called the asterisk (\*) operation, which effects the following transformation

$$*: o^{A} \mapsto o^{A}, \quad \iota^{A} \mapsto \iota^{A}, \quad o^{A'} \mapsto \iota^{A'}, \quad \iota^{A'} \mapsto -o^{A'}.$$

$$(5.27)$$

From (5.27) and the definitions (5.8), (5.9), (5.10), (5.11), the corresponding transformation under the asterisk operation of the null tetrad, spin-coefficients, intrinsic derivatives and spinor components follow respectively. The prime and asterisk operations may be used to generate new equations from equations already known, or alternatively to check the correctness and consistency of equations found by other means.

### 5.3 Newman-Penrose equations

Equation (4.5) defines the Riemann tensor in terms of the commutator of the covariant derivatives. In the spinor formalism there is a similar relation when such commutators are applied to spinors

$$(\varepsilon_{A'B'}\nabla_{C'(A}\nabla_{B)}^{C'} + \varepsilon_{AB}\nabla_{C(A'}\nabla_{B')}^{C})\kappa^{D}$$
  
=  $(\varepsilon_{A'B'}\Psi_{ABD}^{C} + \Lambda\varepsilon_{A'B'}(\varepsilon_{AD}\varepsilon_{B}^{C} + \varepsilon_{A}^{C}\varepsilon_{BD}) + \varepsilon_{AB}\Phi_{A'B'D}^{C})\kappa^{D},$  (5.28)

where  $\kappa^D$  is an arbitrary spinor. Let us set  $\kappa^D = \varepsilon_{\mathbf{D}}{}^D$  and take components of (5.28). Using (5.23), we then obtain the NP equations in the GHP formalism [89]

$$\flat \rho - \eth' \kappa = \rho^2 + \sigma \bar{\sigma} - \bar{\kappa} \tau - \tau' \kappa + \Phi_{00}, \qquad (5.29a)$$

$$b\sigma - \delta\kappa = (\rho + \bar{\rho})\sigma - (\tau + \bar{\tau}')\kappa + \Psi_0, \qquad (5.29b)$$

$$b\tau - b'\kappa = (\tau - \bar{\tau}')\rho + (\bar{\tau} - \tau')\sigma + \Psi_1 + \Phi_{01}, \qquad (5.29c)$$

$$\delta \rho - \delta' \sigma = (\rho - \bar{\rho})\tau + (\bar{\rho}' - \rho')\kappa - \Psi_1 + \Phi_{01},$$
 (5.29d)

$$\delta \tau - \wp' \sigma = -\rho' \sigma - \bar{\sigma}' \rho + \tau^2 + \kappa \bar{\kappa}' + \Phi_{02}, \qquad (5.29e)$$

$$\flat' \rho - \eth' \tau = \rho \bar{\rho}' + \sigma \sigma' - \tau \bar{\tau} - \kappa \kappa' - \Psi_2 - 2\Lambda.$$
(5.29f)

Applying the prime operation to (5.29), we obtain six more relations. Equations (5.29) and their primed partners are equivalent to the Ricci identities of the tensor calculus [96].

The remaining equations of the NP formalism take the form of commutator expressions. To derive them, consider the following commutator of intrinsic derivatives acting on an arbitrary scalar f

$$\left[\nabla_{\mathbf{AB}'}, \nabla_{\mathbf{CD}'}\right] f = \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{AB}'}(\varepsilon_{\mathbf{C}}{}^{Q}\varepsilon_{\mathbf{D}'}{}^{Q'}) - \nabla_{\mathbf{CD}'}(\varepsilon_{\mathbf{A}}{}^{Q}\varepsilon_{\mathbf{B}'}{}^{Q'})\right) \nabla_{QQ'} f.$$
(5.30)

Taking components of (5.30) and using (5.23), the following commutator expressions may be derived

$$bb' - b'b = (\bar{\tau} - \tau')\delta + (\tau - \bar{\tau}')\delta' - p(\kappa\kappa' - \tau\tau' + \Psi_2 + \Phi_{11} - \Lambda) - q(\bar{\kappa}\bar{\kappa}' - \bar{\tau}\bar{\tau}' + \bar{\Psi}_2 + \Phi_{11} - \Lambda),$$
(5.31a)

$$\delta\delta' - \delta'\delta = (\bar{\rho}' - \rho')b + (\rho - \bar{\rho})b' + p(\rho\rho' - \sigma\sigma' + \Psi_2 - \Phi_{11} - \Lambda) - q(\bar{\rho}\bar{\rho}' - \bar{\sigma}\bar{\sigma}' + \bar{\Psi}_2 - \Phi_{11} - \Lambda),$$
(5.31b)

$$b\delta - \delta b = \bar{\rho}\delta + \sigma\delta' - \bar{\tau}'b - \kappa b' - p(\rho'\kappa - \tau'\sigma + \Psi_1) - q(\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\kappa} - \bar{\rho}\bar{\tau}' + \Phi_{01}), \qquad (5.31c)$$

$$b'\delta' - \delta'b' = \bar{\rho}'\delta' + \sigma'\delta - \bar{\tau}b' - \kappa'b + p(\rho\kappa' - \tau\sigma' + \Psi_3) + q(\bar{\sigma}\bar{\kappa}' - \bar{\rho}'\bar{\tau} + \Phi_{21}), \qquad (5.31d)$$

$$b\delta' - \delta'b = \rho\delta' + \bar{\sigma}\delta - \tau'b - \bar{\kappa}b' - q(\bar{\rho}'\bar{\kappa} - \bar{\tau}'\bar{\sigma} + \Psi_1) - p(\sigma'\kappa - \rho\tau' + \Phi_{10}), \qquad (5.31e)$$

$$b'\delta - \delta b' = \rho'\delta + \bar{\sigma}'\delta' - \tau b' - \bar{\kappa}'b + q(\bar{\rho}\bar{\kappa}' - \bar{\tau}\bar{\sigma}' + \Psi_3) + p(\sigma\kappa' - \rho'\tau + \Phi_{12}).$$
(5.31f)

#### 5.4 Spinor form of the Bianchi identity

The Riemann tensor satisfies an important differential identity called the *Bianchi identity* 

$$\nabla_{[a}R_{bc]de} = 0, \tag{5.32}$$

which is equivalent to [59]

$$\nabla^a * R_{abcd} = 0, \tag{5.33}$$

where we define the (left) Hodge dual operation to act on the first and second indices as follows

$${}^{*}R_{abcd} = \frac{1}{2}e_{ab}{}^{pq}R_{pqcd}.$$
(5.34)

Substituting (4.9) into (5.33) and using (5.34) gives a differential relation between the Weyl tensor, Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar

$$\nabla^a C_{abcd} = \nabla_{[c} R_{d]b} + \frac{1}{6} g_{b[c} \nabla_{d]} R.$$
(5.35)

Taking the trace of (5.35) gives

$$\nabla^a R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla_b R = 0. \tag{5.36}$$

The spinor equivalent of (5.35) is

$$\nabla_{B'}^{A}\Psi_{ABCD} = \nabla_{B}^{A'}\Phi_{CDA'B'} - 2\varepsilon_{B(C}\nabla_{D)B'}\Lambda.$$
(5.37)

In terms of the GHP formalism, the components of (5.37) are given by the following six equations

$$\begin{split} b\Psi_{1} - \eth'\Psi_{0} - b\Phi_{01} + \eth\Phi_{00} \\ &= -\tau'\Psi_{0} + 4\rho\Psi_{1} - 3\kappa\Psi_{2} + \bar{\tau}'\Phi_{00} - 2\bar{\rho}\Phi_{01} - 2\sigma\Phi_{10} + 2\kappa\Phi_{11} + \bar{\kappa}\Phi_{02}, \end{split}$$
(5.38a)  
$$b\Psi_{2} - \eth'\Psi_{1} - \eth'\Phi_{01} + b'\Phi_{00} + 2b\Lambda \end{split}$$

$$= \sigma' \Psi_0 - 2\tau' \Psi_1 + 3\rho \Psi_2 - 2\kappa \Psi_3 + 2\bar{\rho}' \Phi_{00} - 2\bar{\tau} \Phi_{01} - 2\tau \Phi_{10} + 2\rho \Phi_{11} + \bar{\sigma} \Phi_{02}, \quad (5.38b)$$
  
$$\flat \Psi_3 - \delta' \Psi_2 - \flat \Phi_{21} + \delta \Phi_{20} - 2\delta' \Lambda$$

$$= 2\sigma'\Psi_1 - 3\tau'\Psi_2 + 2\rho\Psi_3 - \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\rho'\Phi_{10} + 2\tau'\Phi_{11} + \bar{\tau}'\Phi_{20} - 2\bar{\rho}\Phi_{21} + \bar{\kappa}\Phi_{22}, \qquad (5.38c)$$
  
$$\flat\Psi_4 - \eth'\Psi_3 - \eth'\Phi_{21} + \flat'\Phi_{20}$$

$$= 3\sigma'\Psi_2 - 4\tau'\Psi_3 + \rho\Psi_4 - 2\kappa'\Phi_{10} + 2\sigma'\Phi_{11} + \bar{\rho}'\Phi_{20} - 2\bar{\tau}\Phi_{21} + \bar{\sigma}\Phi_{22}, \qquad (5.38d)$$

$$\begin{split} b\Phi_{12} + b'\Phi_{01} - \partial\Phi_{11} - \partial'\Phi_{02} + 3\partial\Lambda \\ &= (\rho' + 2\bar{\rho}')\Phi_{01} + (2\rho + \bar{\rho})\Phi_{12} - (\tau' + \bar{\tau})\Phi_{02} - 2(\tau + \bar{\tau}')\Phi_{11} \\ &- \bar{\kappa}'\Phi_{00} - \kappa\Phi_{22} + \sigma\Phi_{21} + \bar{\sigma}'\Phi_{10}, \end{split}$$
(5.38e)  
$$b\Phi_{11} + b'\Phi_{00} - \partial\Phi_{10} - \partial'\Phi_{01} + 3b\Lambda \end{split}$$

$$= (\rho' + \bar{\rho}') \Phi_{00} + 2 (\rho + \bar{\rho}) \Phi_{11} - (\tau' + 2\bar{\tau}) \Phi_{01} - (2\tau + \bar{\tau}') \Phi_{10} - \bar{\kappa} \Phi_{12} - \kappa \Phi_{21} + \sigma \Phi_{20} + \bar{\sigma} \Phi_{02},$$
(5.38f)

and their corresponding primed relations.

### 5.5 Calculating spin-coefficients using Cartan's calculus

The spin-coefficients can be calculated efficiently using Cartan's differential calculus [89]. First we take the exterior derivative of the dual basis one-forms

$$d\mathbf{l} = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} e^{\mathbf{m}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{m}} \wedge \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}}), \tag{5.39}$$

$$d\mathbf{n} = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} e^{\mathbf{m}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{m}} \wedge \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (5.40)$$

$$d\mathbf{m} = m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} e^{\mathbf{m}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{m}} \wedge \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (5.41)$$

where a comma denotes partial differentiation and

$$\mathbf{e}_1 = \mathbf{l}, \mathbf{e}_2 = \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{e}_3 = \mathbf{m}, \mathbf{e}_4 = \bar{\mathbf{m}},\tag{5.42}$$

which gives

$$d\mathbf{l} = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right) + l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right), \qquad (5.43a)$$
$$d\mathbf{n} = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right)$$

$$+ n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{2\mathbf{a}} e^{3\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{2\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + e^{3\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right), \qquad (5.43b)$$

$$d\mathbf{m} = m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{\mathbf{l}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right) + m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} \left( e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{a}} e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + e^{\mathbf{2}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + e^{\mathbf{3}\mathbf{a}} e^{4\mathbf{b}} (\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) \right).$$
(5.43c)

The spin-coefficients are defined as follows

$$2\mathbf{d}\mathbf{l} = (\gamma' + \bar{\gamma}')(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) + (\bar{\beta} - \beta' - \bar{\tau})(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + (\beta - \bar{\beta}' - \tau)(\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) - \bar{\kappa}(\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) - \kappa(\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + (\rho - \bar{\rho})(\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}),$$
(5.44a)

$$2d\mathbf{n} = -(\gamma + \bar{\gamma})(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) - \kappa'(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) - \bar{\kappa}'(\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + (-\tau' + \beta' - \bar{\beta})(\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) + (-\bar{\tau}' + \bar{\beta}' - \beta)(\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) - (\rho' - \bar{\rho}')(\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}), \quad (5.44b)$$
$$2d\mathbf{m} = -(\tau - \bar{\tau}')(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{n}) + (\gamma - \bar{\gamma} - \bar{\rho}')(\mathbf{l} \wedge \mathbf{m}) - \bar{\sigma}'(\mathbf{l} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}})$$

+ 
$$(-\gamma' + \bar{\gamma}' - \rho)(\mathbf{n} \wedge \mathbf{m}) - \sigma(\mathbf{n} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}) + (\beta + \bar{\beta}')(\mathbf{m} \wedge \bar{\mathbf{m}}).$$
 (5.44c)

Comparing (5.44) with (5.43) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma' + \bar{\gamma}' &= l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} n^{\mathbf{b}}, & \beta - \bar{\beta}' - \tau = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & \bar{\beta} - \beta' - \bar{\tau} = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, \\ -\bar{\kappa} &= l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\bar{\kappa} = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, & \rho - \bar{\rho} = l_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} m^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, \\ -\gamma - \bar{\gamma} &= n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} n^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\kappa' = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\bar{\kappa}' = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, \\ -\tau' + \beta' - \bar{\beta} &= n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\bar{\tau}' + \bar{\beta}' - \beta = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\rho' + \bar{\rho}' = n_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} m^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, \\ -\tau + \bar{\tau}' &= m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} n^{\mathbf{b}}, & \gamma - \bar{\gamma} - \bar{\rho}' = m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\bar{\sigma}' = m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} l^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, \\ -\gamma' + \bar{\gamma}' - \rho &= m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} m^{\mathbf{b}}, & -\sigma &= m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} n^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}, & \beta + \bar{\beta}' &= m_{[\mathbf{b},\mathbf{a}]} m^{\mathbf{a}} \bar{m}^{\mathbf{b}}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.45)

Equations (5.45) contain only 24 independent real equations, thus they enable us to solve uniquely for the twelve complex spin-coefficients in terms of the null tetrad [32]. All the formulae hitherto are well-known and can be found in the literature [107, 89, 100, 52, 74].

# Chapter 6

### The Bach equations

In the hope to describe more varied phenomena, the theory of General Relativity has been generalised in various different ways. To name just a few, including torsion in the connection, scalar-tensor theories and the inclusion of higher-order curvature terms in the Lagrangian, see [25] for an overview. An example of the last was proposed by Bach in 1921 [8], where he introduced a set of field equations now called the Bach equations. These equations can be derived from a Lagrangian equal to the square of the Weyl tensor. The corresponding action is conformally invariant, hence the Bach equations are also conformally invariant. Conformal gravity theories are defined by field equations that determine only the conformal structure of the spacetime manifold. Hence, the Bach equations represent an early example of such a theory. In the previous chapter, we noted some different mathematical formalisms which can be used to solve the field equations, including coordinate or tetrad based approaches, Cartan's calculus of differential forms. However, our focus has been primarily on the spinor calculus in its compacted GHP spin-coefficient form. In the present chapter, we apply this formalism to the Bach equations. Although each formalism makes the same physical predictions, they differ in the ease of their calculations. In particular, the spin-coefficient formalism has led to many exact solutions, which would have been otherwise difficult to find [98]. As a simple application of the formalism, we reconstruct two well-known solutions: the PP-wave spacetime and the static spherically-symmetric spacetime.

Among the most important differences between the Bach equations and the Einstein field equations (EFE) are that they are fourth-order differential equations in the metric, as opposed to the second-order EFE. Furthermore, they are conformally invariant, a consequence of this invariance is that the conformal scale factor is left undetermined by them. The theory is, however, different to Weyl's [110] conformal theory in that the spacetime geometry remains Riemannian and therefore the covariant derivative of the metric is zero (metric compatibility (4.3)).

An important remark, from a physical standpoint, is that every spacetime locally conformal to an Einstein space (vanishing of traceless Ricci tensor) is a solution of the Bach equations. Therefore, the physically important Schwarzschild, Kerr, gravitational wave and most Friedmann-Lemaitre-Robertson-Walker cosmological spacetimes are also solutions of the Bach equations. Whilst this is an attractive feature of the Bach equations, it is far from sufficient to argue that they are therefore physically relevant. With this is mind, we wish to emphasise not the physicality of the Bach equations, but the efficiency of the spin-coefficient formalism in solving them.

The main new achievement of this chapter is the translation of the Bach equations into compacted spin-coefficient form [43]. We suggest that this formulation may be used as an efficient alternative to tensor methods for solving the Bach equations. Arguments in support of this suggestion are the following. Firstly, the spin-coefficient formalism deals entirely with scalar quantities, which are easily manipulated and may take the form of explicit functions. Moreover, because the spin coefficients are complex quantities, the number of them are reduced to 12, instead of the 24 required in a orthonormal tetrad formalism, or the 40 Christoffel symbols used in coordinate based approaches. As a consequence, fewer terms arise in the calculation. Another advantage of the spin-coefficient formalism is that the Weyl tensor (or spinor) has an economic representation as just five complex Weyl scalars. Since the Weyl tensor (or spinor) is the primary field variable in the Bach equations, they have a similarly economic representation in this formalism. Lastly, it has been shown that the GHP formalism incorporates conformal transformations in a straightforward way [89], which should prove useful in studying conformally invariant equations such as the Bach equations. In support of the idea that the GHP formalism is particularly well suited to solving the Bach equations, we give two straightforward applications of the formalism by solving the Bach equations for a PP-wave spacetime [39, 41, 63] and a static spherically symmetric spacetime [41, 65], where the general solution for the curvature spinors are obtained in explicit form.

The tensor form of the Bach equations may be derived from the following action

$$S = \int C_{abcd} C^{abcd} \sqrt{g} \,\mathrm{d}^4 x,\tag{6.1}$$

where  $C_{abcd}$  is the Weyl tensor, introduced earlier, which represents the trace-free part of the Riemann tensor (4.9). They are equivalent to the vanishing of the Bach tensor, which is defined as follows [96, 57]

$$B_{ab} = (\nabla^c \nabla^d - \frac{1}{2} R^{cd}) C_{acbd}, \tag{6.2}$$

where  $\nabla_a$  is the covariant derivative and  $R_{cd}$  is the Ricci tensor, cf. (4.7). The Bach tensor satisfies the following relations

$$B_{ab} = B_{ba}, \quad g^{ab}B_{ab} = 0, \quad \nabla^a B_{ab} = 0, \quad B_{ab} = \bar{B}_{ab}.$$
 (6.3)

such that it is symmetric, traceless, divergence-free and real. In the last relation we have used an over-bar to denote the complex conjugate of a tensor, cf. (2.7). Furthermore, under the conformal rescaling

$$g_{ab} \mapsto \hat{g}_{ab} = \Omega^2 g_{ab}, \tag{6.4}$$

we have

$$\hat{B}_{ab} = B_{ab},\tag{6.5}$$

such that it is conformally invariant and therefore so too are the Bach equations. The Bach spinor is defined as follows<sup>1</sup> [96, 57, 90]

$$B_{ABA'B'} = 2(\nabla_{A'}^C \nabla_{B'}^D + \Phi_{A'B'}^{CD}) \Psi_{ABCD},$$
(6.6)

where  $\Psi_{ABCD} = \Psi_{(ABCD)}$  is the (complex) Weyl spinor and  $\Phi_{ABC'D'} = \Phi_{(AB)(C'D')} = \overline{\Phi}_{ABC'D'}$ is the (real, traceless) Ricci spinor. We have also denoted the complex conjugation of a spinor with an over-bar, see (2.7). The Bach spinor has the same symmetries as the Ricci spinor

$$B_{ABA'B'} = B_{(AB)(A'B')}, \quad B_{ABC'D'} = B_{ABC'D'}.$$
 (6.7)

#### 6.1 Bach equations in terms of spin-coefficients

With the help of (5.23) the translation of (6.6) into spin-coefficient form is straightforward. According to (5.7) and its complex conjugate relation we first take components of (6.6) as follows

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{\mathbf{ABA'B'}} = -\bar{\varepsilon}_{\mathbf{B'}}{}^{B'}\varepsilon_{\mathbf{A}}{}^{A}\varepsilon_{\mathbf{B}}{}^{B}\varepsilon_{\mathbf{C}}{}^{C}\nabla_{\mathbf{A'}}^{\mathbf{C}}\nabla_{B'}^{D}\Psi_{ABCD} - \Phi_{\mathbf{A'B'}}^{\mathbf{CD}}\Psi_{\mathbf{ABCD}}.$$
(6.8)

Writing out the individual terms of the summation in the derivative term of (6.8), we find terms of the form of the left hand side of (5.23) with  $\Psi_{ABCD}$  playing the role of  $\xi_{A...D...G'...K'}$ . Substituting the right hand side of (5.23) with the corresponding values of r, r', t, t' we obtain an expression in terms of the derivative operators and spin-coefficients of the GHP formalism.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The ordering of unprimed in relation to primed indices is inconsequential, therefore, it is not necessary to stagger up and down indices of different types.

The Bach tensor in spin-coefficient form is then given as follows  $^2$ 

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{01} = (\flat - 3\rho)[(\flat' - 2\rho')\Psi_{1} - (\flat - 3\tau)\Psi_{2} + \kappa'\Psi_{0} - 2\sigma\Psi_{3}]$$

$$+ (\eth' - \tau')[(\eth - 4\tau)\Psi_{1} - (\flat' - \rho')\Psi_{0} + 3\sigma\Psi_{2}]$$

$$+ 2\kappa[(\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_{2} - (\eth - 2\tau)\Psi_{3} + 2\kappa'\Psi_{1} - \sigma\Psi_{4}]$$

$$+ \overline{\tau}'[(\eth' - 2\tau')\Psi_{1} - (\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_{2} + \sigma'\Psi_{0} - 2\kappa\Psi_{3}]$$

$$+ \overline{\rho}'[(\flat - 4\rho)\Psi_{1} - (\eth' - \tau')\Psi_{0} + 3\kappa\Psi_{2}] - \Phi_{21}\Psi_{0} + 2\Phi_{11}\Psi_{1} - \Phi_{01}\Psi_{2},$$

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{21} = (\flat' - 3\rho')[(\flat - 2\rho)\Psi_{3} - (\eth' - 3\tau')\Psi_{2} + \kappa\Psi_{4} - 2\sigma'\Psi_{1}]$$

$$+ (\eth - \tau)[(\eth' - 4\tau')\Psi_{3} - (\flat - \rho)\Psi_{4} + 3\sigma'\Psi_{2}]$$

$$+ 2\kappa'[(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_{2} - (\eth' - 2\tau')\Psi_{1} + 2\kappa\Psi_{3} - \sigma'\Psi_{0}]$$

$$+ \overline{\tau}[(\eth - 2\tau)\Psi_{3} - (\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_{2} + \sigma\Psi_{4} - 2\kappa'\Psi_{1}]$$

$$+ \overline{\rho}[(\flat' - 4\rho')\Psi_{3} - (\eth - \tau)\Psi_{4} + 3\kappa'\Psi_{2}] - \Phi_{01}\Psi_{4} + 2\Phi_{11}\Psi_{3} - \Phi_{21}\Psi_{2},$$

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{10} = (\flat - 2\rho)[(\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 - (\flat - 2\rho)\Psi_3 + 2\sigma'\Psi_1 - \kappa\Psi_4]$$

$$+ (\delta' - 2\tau')[(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_2 - (\delta' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 - \sigma'\Psi_0 + 2\kappa\Psi_3]$$

$$+ \kappa[(\delta' - 4\tau')\Psi_3 - (\flat - \rho)\Psi_4 + 3\sigma'\Psi_2]$$

$$+ \bar{\kappa}[(\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_2 - (\delta - 2\tau)\Psi_3 + 2\kappa'\Psi_1 - \sigma\Psi_4]$$

$$+ \bar{\sigma}[(\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\flat' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 - \kappa'\Psi_0 + 2\sigma\Psi_3] - \Phi_{20}\Psi_1 + 2\Phi_{10}\Psi_2 - \Phi_{00}\Psi_3,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{12} = (\flat' - 2\rho')[(\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\flat' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 + 2\sigma\Psi_3 - \kappa'\Psi_0]$$

$$+ (\delta - 2\tau)[(\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_2 - (\delta - 2\tau)\Psi_3 - \sigma\Psi_4 + 2\kappa'\Psi_1]$$

$$+ \kappa'[(\delta - 4\tau)\Psi_1 - (\flat' - \rho')\Psi_0 + 3\sigma\Psi_2]$$

$$+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_2 - (\delta' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 + 2\kappa\Psi_3 - \sigma'\Psi_0]$$

$$+ \bar{\sigma}'[(\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 - (\flat - 2\rho)\Psi_3 + 2\sigma'\Psi_1 - \kappa\Psi_4] - \Phi_{02}\Psi_3 + 2\Phi_{12}\Psi_2 - \Phi_{22}\Psi_1,$$

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ We adhere to the convention that a differential operator acts only on the symbol (or bracketed expression) which immediately follows it-unless this is also a differential operator.

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2}B_{00} &= (\wp - 3\rho)[(\delta' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 - (\wp - 3\rho)\Psi_2 + \sigma'\Psi_0 - 2\kappa\Psi_3] \quad (6.11a) \\ &+ (\delta' - \tau')[(\wp - 4\rho)\Psi_1 - (\delta' - \tau')\Psi_0 + 3\kappa\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\kappa[(\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 - (\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 + 2\sigma'\Psi_1 - \kappa\Psi_4] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}[(\wp' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 - (\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 + \kappa'\Psi_0 - 2\sigma\Psi_3] \\ &+ \bar{\sigma}[(\delta - 4\tau)\Psi_1 - (\wp' - \rho')\Psi_0 + 3\sigma\Psi_2] - \Phi_{20}\Psi_0 + 2\Phi_{10}\Psi_1 - \Phi_{00}\Psi_2, \\ \frac{1}{2}B_{02} &= (\delta - 3\tau)[(\wp' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 - (\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 + \kappa'\Psi_0 - 2\sigma\Psi_3] \\ &+ (\wp' - \rho')[(\delta - 4\tau)\Psi_1 - (\wp' - \rho')\Psi_0 + 3\sigma\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\sigma[(\wp' - 3\rho')\Psi_2 - (\delta - 2\tau)\Psi_3 + 2\kappa'\Psi_1 - \sigma\Psi_4] \\ &+ \bar{\sigma}'[(\delta' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 - (\wp - 3\rho)\Psi_2 + \sigma'\Psi_0 - 2\kappa\Psi_3] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\wp - 4\rho)\Psi_1 - (\delta' - \tau')\Psi_0 + 3\kappa\Psi_2] - \Phi_{22}\Psi_0 + 2\Phi_{12}\Psi_1 - \Phi_{02}\Psi_2, \\ \frac{1}{2}B_{20} &= (\delta' - 3\tau')[(\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ (\wp - \rho)[(\delta' - 4\tau')\Psi_3 - (\wp - \rho)\Psi_4 + 3\sigma'\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\sigma'[(\wp - 3\rho)\Psi_2 - (\delta' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 + 2\kappa\Psi_3 - \sigma'\Psi_0] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}[(\wp' - 4\rho')\Psi_3 - (\delta - \tau)\Psi_4 + 3\kappa'\Psi_2] - \Phi_{00}\Psi_4 + 2\Phi_{10}\Psi_3 - \Phi_{20}\Psi_2, \\ \frac{1}{2}B_{22} &= (\wp' - 3\rho')[(\delta - 2\tau)\Psi_3 - (\wp' - 3\rho')\Psi_2 + \sigma\Psi_4 - 2\kappa'\Psi_1] \\ &+ (\delta - \tau)[(\wp' - 4\rho')\Psi_3 - (\delta - \tau)\Psi_4 + 3\kappa'\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\kappa'[(\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\wp' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 + 2\sigma\Psi_3 - \kappa'\Psi_0] \\ &+ (\delta - \tau)[(\wp' - 4\rho')\Psi_3 - (\delta - \tau)\Psi_4 + 3\kappa'\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\kappa'[(\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\wp' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 + 2\sigma\Psi_3 - \kappa'\Psi_0] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ (\delta - \tau)[(\wp' - 4\rho')\Psi_3 - (\delta - \tau)\Psi_4 + 3\kappa'\Psi_2] \\ &+ 2\kappa'[(\delta - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\wp' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 + 2\sigma\Psi_3 - \kappa'\Psi_0] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[(\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[((\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[((\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[((\wp - 2\rho)\Psi_3 - (\delta' - 3\tau')\Psi_2 + \kappa\Psi_4 - 2\sigma'\Psi_1] \\ &+ \bar{\kappa}'[((\delta' - 4\tau')\Psi_3 - (\wp - \rho)\Psi_4 + 3\sigma'\Psi_2] - \Phi_{02}\Psi_4 + 2\Phi_{12}\Psi_3 - \Phi_{22}\Psi_2, \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}B_{11} = (\flat - 2\rho)[(\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_2 - (\eth - 2\tau)\Psi_3 + 2\kappa'\Psi_1 - \sigma\Psi_4]$$

$$+ (\eth' - 2\tau')[(\eth - 3\tau)\Psi_2 - (\flat' - 2\rho')\Psi_1 - \kappa'\Psi_0 + 2\sigma\Psi_3]$$

$$+ \kappa[(\flat' - 4\rho')\Psi_3 - (\eth - \tau)\Psi_4 + 3\kappa'\Psi_2]$$

$$+ \sigma'[(\eth - 4\tau)\Psi_1 - (\flat' - \rho')\Psi_0 + 3\sigma\Psi_2]$$

$$+ \bar{\rho}'[(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_2 - (\eth' - 2\tau')\Psi_1 + 2\kappa\Psi_3 - \sigma'\Psi_0] - \Phi_{21}\Psi_1 + 2\Phi_{11}\Psi_2 - \Phi_{01}\Psi_3.$$
(6.12)

Setting equations (6.9), (6.10), (6.11) and (6.12) to zero gives the Bach equations in spincoefficient form. The Bach equations in the GHP formalism are interchanged by the prime and asterisk operations respectively in the following way, cf. (5.2)

$$B_{rs} \mapsto B_{tu} \quad 0 \leftrightarrow 2 \quad 1 \leftrightarrow 1, \tag{6.13}$$

$$B_{01} \leftrightarrow -B_{01},$$

$$B_{21} \leftrightarrow -B_{21},$$

$$B_{10} \leftrightarrow B_{12},$$

$$B_{00} \leftrightarrow B_{02},$$

$$B_{22} \leftrightarrow B_{20},$$

$$B_{11} \leftrightarrow -B_{11}.$$

$$(6.14)$$

Therefore, the Bach equations split into the four groups (6.9), (6.10), (6.11) and (6.12) which transform only amongst themselves under the combined action of (6.13) and (6.14).

Ì

#### 6.2 Applications of the Bach equations in spin-coefficient form

#### 6.2.1**PP-wave spacetime**

As a straightforward example, we solve the Bach equations for a metric corresponding to a PP-wave spacetime <sup>3</sup>, which may be represented in a coordinate chart (u, v, x, y) by the following fundamental form

$$g_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b} = 2H du^{2} + (du \, dv + dv \, du) - dx^{2} - dy^{2}, \qquad (6.15)$$

where H = H(u, x, y). Substituting (6.15) into (5.2) and using (5.3) we find that the components of the null tetrad  $e_{\mathbf{m}}^{\mathbf{a}}$  are given by the following matrix

$$e_{\mathbf{m}}{}^{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & 0\\ 1 & -H & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & i\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -i \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.16)

where

$$e_{\mathbf{ma}} = \begin{pmatrix} l_{\mathbf{a}} \\ n_{\mathbf{a}} \\ m_{\mathbf{a}} \\ \bar{m}_{\mathbf{a}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.17)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A PP-wave was defined in [39] to be any Lorentzian manifold which admits a covariantly constant null vector field. Furthermore, the authors showed that a metric for such a spacetime can always be written in the form (6.15), which was investigated earlier, see [19].

and

$$l_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(2, 0, 0, 0), \tag{6.18a}$$

$$n_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(H, 1, 0, 0),$$
 (6.18b)

$$m_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0, 0, -1, -i), \tag{6.18c}$$

$$\bar{m}_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0, 0, -1, i).$$
 (6.18d)

Substituting (6.18) into (5.45) we obtain the following non-zero spin-coefficient for a PP-wave spacetime

$$\sqrt{2}\kappa' = -\partial H,\tag{6.19}$$

where we have introduced the following complex coordinates

$$z = x + iy, \quad \bar{z} = x - iy, \tag{6.20}$$

and the following notation for the partial derivatives

$$\partial = \partial_z = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x - i\partial_y), \quad \overline{\partial} = \partial_{\overline{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y), \quad (6.21)$$

familiar from complex manifold theory [109]. All other spin-coefficients are zero. Substituting (6.19) into the NP equations (5.29), we find the following non-zero curvature spinor components

$$\Psi_4 = -\delta'\kappa' = \partial^2 H, \tag{6.22}$$

$$\Phi_{22} = -\delta\kappa' = \bar{\partial}\partial H, \tag{6.23}$$

all other curvature spinor components are zero. Substituting (6.23) and (6.22) into (6.9), (6.11), (6.12) and (6.10) we find that all the Bach equations are trivially satisfied except for (6.11d) which gives

$$\delta^2 \Psi_4 = \delta^2 \Psi_4 = 2\bar{\partial}^2 \Psi_4 = 0. \tag{6.24}$$

The general solution to (6.24) is

$$\Psi_4(u, z, \bar{z}) = \bar{z}\psi_1(u, z) + \psi_2(u, z), \tag{6.25}$$

where  $\psi_1(u, z)$  and  $\psi_2(u, z)$  are arbitrary complex functions. From (6.22) and (6.23) we find

$$\bar{\partial}\Psi_4 = \partial\Phi_{22},\tag{6.26}$$

which is the only non-trivial Bianchi identity remaining for a PP-wave spacetime, see (5.38). Substituting (6.25) into (6.26) we find the general solution for the Ricci spinor

$$\Phi_{22}(u, z, \bar{z}) = \phi(u, z) + \bar{\phi}(u, \bar{z}), \tag{6.27}$$

where

$$\psi_1 = \partial \phi. \tag{6.28}$$

The function H can be obtained implicitly by integrating twice either (6.25) or (6.27) according to (6.22) or (6.23) respectively. The explicit solutions (6.25) and (6.27) have not been found in the literature, however, they follow as a special case of the examples considered in [63, 41]. As mentioned in the introduction to this chapter, it is well known that an Einstein space, defined by the condition  $\Phi_{ab} = 0$ , solves the Bach equations. In this particular case, from (6.27) and (6.28) we see that  $\psi_1 = 0$ . Since in this case the Ricci tensor is zero, only the Weyl curvature remains, hence this solution corresponds to a pure gravity wave.

In order to gain a better insight into the physical role played by the curvature components (6.22) and (6.23), we consider the following (different) special case of a *plane wave* [81], which is a PP-wave where the function H depends on z and  $\overline{z}$  in the following way

$$H(u, z, \bar{z}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} z, & \bar{z} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H_{zz} & H_{z\bar{z}} \\ \bar{H}_{z\bar{z}} & \bar{H}_{zz} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z \\ \bar{z} \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.29)

where  $H_{zz} = H_{zz}(u)$  and  $H_{z\bar{z}} = H_{z\bar{z}}(u)$  are arbitrary functions of u. Substituting (6.29) into (6.22) and (6.23) we find

$$\Phi_{22} = H_{z\bar{z}} + \bar{H}_{z\bar{z}},\tag{6.30}$$

$$\Psi_4 = H_{zz},\tag{6.31}$$

and in this case (6.24) is trivially satisfied since  $\Psi_4$  depends only on u. The modulus and argument of  $\Psi_4$  correspond respectively to the amplitude and polarization of the gravitational plane wave. The square root of  $\Phi_{22}$  corresponds to the electromagnetic part of the wave, the polarization of the electromagnetic part, whilst still an arbitrary function of u, does not contribute to the curvature [81].

#### 6.2.2 Static spherically-symmetric spacetime

For our second example we consider a static spherically symmetric spacetime, i.e. the conditions under which the Schwarzschild solution is the unique solution of the EFE. The solution to the Bach equations under these conditions was found in [65], where the authors show that a static spherically symmetric spacetime may be represented in a coordinate chart  $(t, r, \theta, \phi)$  by the following fundamental form

$$g_{\mathbf{ab}} \mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{a}} \mathrm{d}x^{\mathbf{b}} = \frac{p^2}{r^2} \left( A^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 - A^{-2} \mathrm{d}r^2 - r^2 \mathrm{d}\theta^2 - r^2 \sin^2\theta \,\mathrm{d}\phi^2 \right), \tag{6.32}$$

where p = p(r) and A = A(r). Since the Bach equations (6.6) are conformally invariant we may make the following conformal rescaling

$$g_{\mathbf{ab}} \mapsto \hat{g}_{\mathbf{ab}} = \frac{r^2}{p^2} g_{\mathbf{ab}},\tag{6.33}$$

such that our metric is transformed to

$$\hat{g}_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b} = A^{2} dt^{2} - A^{-2} dr^{2} - r^{2} d\theta^{2} - r^{2} \sin^{2} \theta d\phi^{2}.$$
(6.34)

All quantities (e.g. spin-coefficients and spinor components) will now refer to the conformally rescaled metric (6.34), however, we omit the hats on these quantities. Substituting (6.34) into (5.2) we find

$$e_{\mathbf{m}}{}^{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1} & -A & 0 & 0\\ A^{-1} & A & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -r^{-1} & -ir^{-1}\csc\theta\\ 0 & 0 & -r^{-1} & ir^{-1}\csc\theta \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.35)

such that

$$l_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (A, A^{-1}, 0, 0), \tag{6.36a}$$

$$n_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (A, -A^{-1}, 0, 0), \tag{6.36b}$$

$$m_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0, 0, r, ir\sin\theta),$$
 (6.36c)

$$\bar{m}_{\mathbf{a}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0, 0, r, -ir\sin\theta).$$
 (6.36d)

Substituting (6.35) and (6.36) into (5.43) and (5.44) we calculate the following spin-coefficients [35]

$$\rho = -\rho' = \frac{A}{\sqrt{2}r},\tag{6.37a}$$

$$\gamma = -\gamma' = -\frac{\dot{A}}{2\sqrt{2}},\tag{6.37b}$$

$$\beta = \beta' = \frac{\cot\theta}{2\sqrt{2}r},\tag{6.37c}$$

where we have denoted differentiation with respect to the radial coordinate r, not the time, with an over-dot because the prime is already in use. All other spin-coefficients are zero. Substituting (6.37) into (5.29) and (5.31) we find that the NP equations and commutator expressions reduce to the following

$$-2r\rho\dot{\gamma} = -4\gamma^2 + \Psi_2 + \Phi_{11} - \Lambda, \qquad (6.38a)$$

$$4\gamma\rho = \Psi_2 + 2\Lambda, \tag{6.38b}$$

$$\frac{1}{2r^2} = \rho^2 - \Psi_2 + \Phi_{11} + \Lambda, \tag{6.38c}$$

where  $\overline{\Psi}_2 = \Psi_2$  and all other curvature spinor components are zero. From (6.37) and (6.38) we find that all the Bach equations are trivially satisfied except for (6.11a) and (6.12). The former is given by

$$(\flat - 3\rho) [(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_2] = 0.$$
 (6.39)

Expanding (6.39) and using  $\flat \rho = \rho^2$  and  $\flat \Psi_2 = -r\rho \dot{\Psi}_2$ , which follow from (5.29), and from (5.21), (6.36) and (6.37) respectively, we find that it reduces to

$$\rho^2 \left[ r^2 \ddot{\Psi}_2 + 6(r \dot{\Psi}_2 + \Psi_2) \right] = 0.$$
 (6.40)

If  $\rho = 0$  then from (6.37a) and (6.32) we see that this solution trivially corresponds to a singular metric tensor. Therefore, we must have

$$r^2 \ddot{\Psi}_2 + 6(r \dot{\Psi}_2 + \Psi_2) = 0, \tag{6.41}$$

from which we obtain the general solution

$$\Psi_2(r) = \frac{c_1}{r^2} + \frac{c_2}{r^3},\tag{6.42}$$

where  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are constants of integration. Equation (6.12) is given by the following

$$(\flat - 2\rho)((\flat' - 3\rho')\Psi_2) + \rho'(\flat - 3\rho)\Psi_2 + 2\Phi_{11}\Psi_2 = 0.$$
(6.43)

Using (6.39), we may further simply  $(6.43)^4$ 

$$(2\gamma\rho + \rho^2)\left(r\dot{\Psi}_2 + 3\Psi_2\right) + \Phi_{11}\Psi_2 = 0.$$
(6.44)

Equations (6.44) and (6.38) are the only ones remaining that we need to solve. To achieve this, we make use of the Bianchi identities (5.38b) and (5.38f), which in our example are given by

$$(b - 3\rho)\Psi_2 - 2\rho\Phi_{11} + 2b\Lambda = 0, \qquad (6.45)$$

$$(b - 4\rho)\Phi_{11} + 3b\Lambda = 0, \tag{6.46}$$

<sup>4</sup>Note that  $bb'\Psi_2 = -b^2\Psi_2 - 4\gamma b\Psi_2$  and  $b\rho' = -b\rho - 4\gamma\rho$ .

which simplify to the following

$$\rho \left( r \dot{\Psi}_2 + 3\Psi_2 + 2\Phi_{11} + 2r \dot{\Lambda} \right) = 0, \tag{6.47}$$

$$\rho \left( r \dot{\Phi}_{11} + 4 \Phi_{11} + 3 r \dot{\Lambda} \right) = 0. \tag{6.48}$$

Assuming  $\rho \neq 0$ , we then substitute (6.42) and (6.48) into (6.47) to find

$$\Phi_{11} = -\frac{3c_1}{2r^2} + \frac{c_3}{r},\tag{6.49}$$

$$\Lambda = -\frac{c_1}{2r^2} + \frac{c_3}{r} - \lambda, \qquad (6.50)$$

where  $c_3$ ,  $\lambda$  are constants of integration. Substituting (6.42), (6.49) and (6.50) into (6.38c), we obtain  $\rho^2$  and hence from (6.37a) we find  $A^2$  to be

$$A^{2} = 1 + 6c_{1} + \frac{2c_{2}}{r} - 4c_{3}r + 2\lambda r^{2}.$$
(6.51)

We find  $\gamma$  from (6.37b) and substitute it, along with (6.42), (6.49) and (6.51), into (6.44) to obtain the following relation between our constants of integration

$$3c_1^2 + c_1 + 2c_2c_3 = 0. (6.52)$$

The third term of (6.51) is present in the Schwarzschild solution where  $c_2$  would be equal to (minus) the Newtonian mass [29]. The fifth term is the cosmological constant term, which is present in the de Sitter spacetimes. The second and fourth term, however, are peculiar to the solution of the Bach equations, (cf. [65] where  $c_3$  is proportional to their constant  $\gamma$ ). The spherically symmetric solution to Einstein's vacuum equations is the well-known Schwarzschild solution. Due to a theorem of Birkhoff, which states that any spherically symmetric solution of the Einstein vacuum equations is locally equivalent to the Schwarzschild spacetime [49], one may wonder whether the same is true of the spherically symmetric solution to the Bach equations. In fact, the analogous theorem is true [94]. Therefore, as in the case of the Schwarzschild solution, the assumption that our metric be static is not necessary.

Since there exist very few exact solutions to the Bach equations in the literature, we hope that our translation of the Bach equations into spin-coefficient form will be useful for finding new exact solutions that would be otherwise difficult to obtain. This hope is sustained by the fact that the spin-coefficient formalism has already proven to be a powerful method for finding exact solutions to the EFE [98].

In order to show the efficiency of the formalism applied to the Bach equations, we chose two straightforward examples, the plane-fronted wave spacetime and a static spherically symmetric spacetime. In comparison to coordinate based tensor methods, the calculations involved are shorter. For example, in a standard approach, one would start with the metric, from which the 40 Christoffel symbols are derived, from these the Riemann tensor follows and its trace and trace-free parts give the Ricci and Weyl tensors. These are then substituted into the Bach equations yielding fourth-order partial differential equations in the metric components. On the other hand, starting from the Bach equations in spin-coefficient form, the steps are far fewer, as shown in our examples. Furthermore, the equations are never more than second-order, since one solves directly for the curvature components as opposed to the metric components. In more complicated problems we expect the improved efficiency to increase.

# Chapter 7

## **Conformal Einstein space**

After the spherically symmetric solution to the Bach equations was found in [65], it was noted in [66] that the solution was conformally related to the de Sitter-Schwarzschild solution (also known as the Kottler [98] or Weyl-Trefftz metric [41]) of the Einstein equations with cosmological constant. Centrally symmetric solutions of the Bach equations and their relation to solutions of the Einstein equations were investigated earlier in [41]. In this chapter, we look at this relationship in more detail, which leads us to consider *conformal Einstein spaces*. An Einstein space is defined as a spacetime with zero traceless Ricci tensor. Spacetimes which satisfy Einstein's vacuum equations with a cosmological constant are Einstein spaces. From both a physical and a mathematical point of view, Einstein spaces represent an interesting class of spacetimes. In the context of conformally invariant theories of gravity, conformal Einstein spaces, which are spacetimes related to an Einstein space by a conformal transformation, play an analogous role. In [57], the necessary and sufficient conditions were given for a spacetime to be a conformal Einstein space. The proof requires that the complex invariant

$$J = \Psi_{ABCD} \Psi^{CD}{}_{EF} \Psi^{EFAB} \tag{7.1}$$

of the Weyl spinor is non-zero. The conditions are equivalent to the vanishing of the Bach tensor (6.2) (or equivalently the Bach spinor (6.6)) and the Eastwood-Dighton (ED) tensor [13], which we introduce presently.

### 7.1 Eastwood-Dighton tensor in terms of spin coefficients

The ED tensor arose during an investigation into *local twistors* in twistor theory [37]. It was shown that conformally invariant spinors, such as the ED, Weyl and Bach spinors, derive naturally from the curvature twistor, defined via local twistor transport. In [44], it was shown that the local twistor connection coincides with the normal conformal Cartan connection, a well-studied object in conformal geometry [56].

The ED tensor is given in terms of the Weyl tensor as

$$E_{abc} = \Psi_{ABCD} \nabla^{DD'} \bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} - \bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} \nabla^{DD'} \Psi_{ABCD}, \qquad (7.2)$$

where

$$E_{abc} = E_{(abc)}, \qquad E^a{}_{ab} = 0, \qquad \hat{E}_{abc} = E_{abc}, \qquad \bar{E}_{abc} = -E_{abc},$$
(7.3)

such that (7.2) is symmetric, trace-free and conformally invariant, as is the Bach tensor, c.f (6.3). However, the last condition in (7.3) shows that the ED spinor is pure imaginary, in contrast to the Bach tensor, which is real. In terms of the GHP formalism, the components of (7.2) are given by the following sixteen equations,

$$E_{00} = \Psi_0 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - \bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_0 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 4\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - 3\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ + \Psi_1 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 4\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta} - \bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_0 + 3\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4a)

$$E_{33} = \Psi_4 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - \bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 4\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ + \Psi_3 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 4\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - \bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4b}$$

$$E_{01} = \Psi_0 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 2\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 3\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_0 - 2\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] \\ + \Psi_1 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 3\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 2\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_0 + 2\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4c}$$

$$E_{32} = \Psi_4 \left[ (\dot{p} - 2\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\eth - 3\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_4 - 2\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_1 \right] \\ + \Psi_3 \left[ (\dot{p}' - 3\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\eth' - 2\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_4 + 2\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_1 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4d)

$$E_{02} = \Psi_0 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 3\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 2\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 + 2\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] \\ + \Psi_1 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 2\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 3\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - 2\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_1 + \bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4e}$$

$$E_{31} = \Psi_4 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 3\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 2\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 + 2\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_0 \right] \\ + \Psi_3 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 2\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 3\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - 2\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_3 + \bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_0 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4f}$$

$$E_{03} = \Psi_0 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 4\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - \bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ + \Psi_1 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - \bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 4\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4g}$$

$$E_{30} = \Psi_4 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 4\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta} - \bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_0 + 3\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_2 \right]$$

$$(-5)$$

$$+ \Psi_{3} \left[ (\dot{p}' - \bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_{0} - (\eth' - 4\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_{1} - 3\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_{2} \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4h}$$
$$E_{10} = \Psi_{1} \left[ (\dot{p}' - \bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_{0} - (\eth' - 4\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_{1} - 3\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_{2} \right]$$

$$+\Psi_{2}\left[\left(\mathbf{b}-4\bar{\rho}\right)\bar{\Psi}_{1}-\left(\mathbf{\delta}-\bar{\tau}'\right)\bar{\Psi}_{0}+3\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_{2}\right]-c.c.,$$
(7.4i)

$$E_{23} = \Psi_3 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - \bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 4\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ + \Psi_2 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 4\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - \bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4j}$$

$$E_{11} = \Psi_1 \left[ (\flat' - 2\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\eth' - 3\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_0 - 2\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] \\ + \Psi_2 \left[ (\flat - 3\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\eth - 2\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_0 + 2\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4k)

$$E_{22} = \Psi_3 \left[ (\flat - 2\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\eth - 3\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_4 - 2\bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_1 \right] \\ + \Psi_2 \left[ (\flat' - 3\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\eth' - 2\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_4 + 2\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_1 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4l)

$$E_{12} = \Psi_1 \left[ (\dot{p}' - 3\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\ddot{\partial}' - 2\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 + 2\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] \\ + \Psi_2 \left[ (\dot{p} - 2\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\ddot{\partial} - 3\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - 2\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_1 + \bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4m)

$$E_{21} = \Psi_3 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 3\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - (\mathbf{\delta} - 2\bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 + 2\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\sigma}'\bar{\Psi}_0 \right]$$

$$+ \Psi_2 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 2\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 3\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_2 - 2\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_3 + \bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_0 \right] - c.c., \tag{7.4n}$$

$$E_{13} = \Psi_1 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - 4\bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_3 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - \bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\kappa}'\bar{\Psi}_2 \right]$$

$$= \Psi_1 \left[ (\dot{p} - 4\rho) \Psi_3 - (\ddot{0} - 4\bar{\tau}') \Psi_4 + 5\kappa \Psi_2 \right] + \Psi_2 \left[ (\dot{p} - \bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_4 - (\ddot{0} - 4\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.40)

$$E_{20} = \Psi_3 \left[ (\mathbf{b} - 4\bar{\rho}) \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - (\mathbf{\delta} - \bar{\tau}') \,\bar{\Psi}_0 + 3\bar{\kappa}\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] + \Psi_2 \left[ (\mathbf{b}' - \bar{\rho}') \,\bar{\Psi}_0 - (\mathbf{\delta}' - 4\bar{\tau}) \,\bar{\Psi}_1 - 3\bar{\sigma}\bar{\Psi}_2 \right] - c.c.,$$
(7.4p)

where c.c. stands for complex conjugate. Note that the components can be divided into pairs, where each member is transformed into the other by the prime operation.

#### 7.2 Conformal C-space

In [102], a *C-space* was defined as a spacetime satisfying the following condition

$$\nabla^{DD'}\Psi_{ABCD} = 0. \tag{7.5}$$

From (7.2) it follows that all C-spaces have vanishing ED tensors. Furthermore, because (7.2) is conformally invariant, this is true for all spaces which are conformal transformations of C-spaces, such spaces are referred to as *conformal C-spaces*. After a conformal transformation,  $\hat{g}_{ab} = \Omega^2 g_{ab}$ , (7.5) transforms as

$$\hat{\nabla}_{D'}^{D}\hat{\Psi}_{ABCD} = \Omega^{-1} \left( \nabla_{D'}^{D}\Psi_{ABCD} + \Upsilon_{D'}^{D}\Psi_{ABCD} \right) = 0, \tag{7.6}$$

where

$$\Upsilon^{DE'} = \Omega^{-1} \nabla^{DE'} \Omega, \tag{7.7}$$

and  $\bar{\Upsilon}^{DE'} = \Upsilon^{DE'}$  since  $\bar{\Omega} = \Omega$ . Substituting (7.7) into (7.6) and rearranging yields

$$\nabla^{DE'} \left( \Omega^{-1} \Psi_{ABCD} \right) = 0. \tag{7.8}$$

Setting (7.2) to zero and contracting with  $\overline{\Psi}^{A'B'C'D}$  yields

$$\bar{\Psi}^{A'B'C'E'}\Psi_{ABCD}\nabla^{DD'}\bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} - \bar{\Psi}^{A'B'C'E'}\bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'}\nabla^{DD'}\Psi_{ABCD} = 0.$$
(7.9)

The Weyl spinor satisfies the following identity

$$\bar{\Psi}^{A'B'C'E'}\bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'} = \frac{\bar{I}}{2}\varepsilon_{D'}{}^{E'}, \qquad \bar{I} = \bar{\Psi}^{A'B'C'D'}\bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'}.$$
(7.10)

Rearranging (7.9) and using (7.10) yields

$$\nabla^{DE'}\Psi_{ABCD} + V^{DE'}\Psi_{ABCD} = 0, \qquad (7.11)$$

where  $V^{DE'}$  is defined as

$$V^{DE'} = -\frac{2}{\bar{I}}\bar{\Psi}^{A'B'C'E'}\nabla^{DD'}\bar{\Psi}_{A'B'C'D'}.$$
(7.12)

In [57], it was shown that if  $J \neq 0$ , it follows from (7.11) that (7.12) is equal to a gradient

$$V^{DE'} = V^{-1} \nabla^{DE'} V. (7.13)$$

As before, substituting (7.13) into (7.11) and rearranging yields

$$\nabla^{DE'} \left( V^{-1} \Psi_{ABCD} \right) = 0. \tag{7.14}$$

In terms of the GHP formalism, the components of (7.12) are given by the following four equations

$$\begin{split} \frac{I}{2} V_{00'} &= -\bar{\Psi}_0 \left[ (\eth - 4\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_3 - (\image -\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ &+ 3\bar{\Psi}_1 \left[ (\eth - 3\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_2 - (\image -2\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_3 + 2\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] \\ &- 3\bar{\Psi}_2 \left[ (\eth -2\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_1 - (\image -3\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_0 - 2\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] \\ &+ \bar{\Psi}_3 \left[ (\eth -\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_0 - (\circlearrowright -4\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_1 - 3\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] , \end{split}$$
(7.15a)  
$$\\ \frac{\bar{I}}{2} V_{11'} &= -\bar{\Psi}_4 \left[ (\eth' -4\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_1 - (\circlearrowright' -\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_0 + 3\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ &+ 3\bar{\Psi}_3 \left[ (\eth' -3\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_2 - (\circlearrowright' -2\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_1 + 2\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_0 \right] \\ &- 3\bar{\Psi}_2 \left[ (\eth' -2\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_3 - (\circlearrowright' -3\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_4 - 2\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_1 \right] \\ &+ \bar{\Psi}_1 \left[ (\eth' -\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_4 - (\circlearrowright' -4\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] , \end{aligned}$$
(7.15b)  
$$\\ \frac{\bar{I}}{2} V_{01'} &= -\bar{\Psi}_1 \left[ (\eth -4\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_3 - (\circlearrowright -\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_4 + 3\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ &+ 3\bar{\Psi}_2 \left[ (\eth -3\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_2 - (\circlearrowright -2\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_3 + 2\bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_1 - \bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_4 \right] \\ &- 3\bar{\Psi}_3 \left[ (\eth -2\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_1 - (\circlearrowright -3\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\sigma}' \bar{\Psi}_0 - 2\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_3 \right] \\ &+ \bar{\Psi}_4 \left[ (\eth -\bar{\tau}') \bar{\Psi}_0 - (\circlearrowright -4\bar{\rho}) \bar{\Psi}_1 - 3\bar{\kappa} \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] , \end{aligned}$$
(7.15c)  
$$\\ \frac{\bar{I}}{2} V_{10'} &= -\bar{\Psi}_3 \left[ (\eth' -4\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_1 - (\circlearrowright' -\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_0 + 3\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] \\ &+ 3\bar{\Psi}_2 \left[ (\eth' -3\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_2 - (\circlearrowright' -2\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_1 + 2\bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_3 - \bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_0 \right] \\ &- 3\bar{\Psi}_1 \left[ (\eth' -2\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_3 - (\circlearrowright' -3\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_2 + \bar{\sigma} \bar{\Psi}_4 - 2\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_1 \right] \\ &+ \bar{\Psi}_0 \left[ (\eth' -\bar{\tau}) \bar{\Psi}_4 - (\circlearrowright' -4\bar{\rho}') \bar{\Psi}_3 - 3\bar{\kappa}' \bar{\Psi}_2 \right] . \end{aligned}$$
(7.15d)

We have shown that when (7.6) holds, the space is conformal to a C-space, with the corresponding conformal factor V.

Imposing the condition that the Bach tensor must vanish, reduces the class from conformal C-spaces to a subset called *conformal Einstein spaces*. Alternatively, we can first find a solution to the Bach equations, then check if it is conformally Einstein by substituting the solution into (7.2) to see whether it vanishes. If it does, the spacetime can be transformed into an Einstein space with conformal factor, V, calculated from the Weyl spinor according to (7.12)

(equivalently (7.15)) and (7.13).

### 7.3 Conformal factor for static spherically-symmetric spacetime

In section 6.2.2, we found two solutions to the Bach equations. According to the algebraic classification of the Weyl spinor (Petrov types) [90], the PP-wave spacetime is type {4} (or {N} for null), meaning all of its principal null directions coincide. In this case the complex invariant (7.1) vanishes, hence the proof in [57] does not apply. However, the spherically symmetric solution is type {22} (or {D} for doubly degenerate), where the principal null directions occur in two pairs. In this case  $J \neq 0$ , so the proof does apply. From (7.15), we find  $V_{01'} = 0$ ,  $V_{10'} = 0$  and

$$V_{00'} = V_{11'} = \frac{6}{\bar{I}} \bar{\Psi}_2 \left( \mathbf{b} - 3\bar{\rho} \right) \bar{\Psi}_2$$
  
=  $\Psi_2^{-1} D \Psi_2 + 3\rho$   
=  $-\rho \left( r \Psi_2^{-1} \dot{\Psi}_2 + 3 \right),$  (7.16)

where we have used  $\bar{I} = 6\bar{\Psi}_2^2$ ,  $\bar{\Psi}_2 = \Psi_2$  and  $\flat\Psi_2 = D\Psi_2 = -r\rho\dot{\Psi}_2$ . On the other hand, taking the 00 component of (7.13) with indices lowered gives

$$V_{00'} = V^{-1}DV = -r\rho V^{-1}\dot{V}.$$
(7.17)

Equating (7.16) and (7.17) gives

$$V^{-1}\dot{V} = \Psi_2^{-1}\dot{\Psi}_2 + \frac{3}{r},\tag{7.18}$$

for  $\rho \neq 0$ . Integrating (7.18) yields

$$V = \frac{r^3}{r_0} \Psi_2,$$
 (7.19)

where  $r_0$  is a constant of integration. From (7.14), it follows that  $V^{-1}\Psi_2$  will satisfy the Einstein vacuum equations. Indeed, rearranging (7.19) gives

$$V^{-1}\Psi_2 = \frac{r_0}{r^3},\tag{7.20}$$

which represents the non-zero Weyl component of the well-known Schwarzschild solution with  $r_0 = -M$ , where M is the Newtonian mass. Accordingly, we can find V by substituting (6.42) into (7.19) with  $r_0 = c_2$ , which gives

$$V = 1 + \frac{c_1 r}{c_2}.$$
 (7.21)

Soon after the spherically symmetric solution to the Bach equations was found, it was noted that the solution was conformally related to a solution of the Einstein field equations [66]. This particular point was discussed further in [95], where the conformal factor was given explicitly and agrees with (7.21). Because our calculation uses the curvature directly, as opposed to the metric, our method represents a complementary approach. Moreover, because the Weyl scalar  $\Psi_2$  is conformally weighted and invariant under transformations of the spin-basis [74], it allows the correct conformal factor to be identified straightforwardly as in (7.21).

We note that the generalisation to the axis-symmetric case, considered in [66], follows rapidly from the relationship between the Schwarzschild and Kerr solutions, which is manifest in the spin-coefficient formalism [70]. The Weyl spinor for the Kerr spacetime is calculated from the Schwarzschild solution by formally replacing  $r \rightarrow r - ia \cos \theta$ , where,  $r, \theta$  are oblate spheroidal coordinates[92]. In [104], this transformation was shown to be a particular case of a more general transformation, which sends solutions to other solutions for a large sub-class of the *Kerr-Schild* metrics [1]. The same transformation can be used to find the axis-symmetric solution to the Bach equations, which will be similarly conformally related to the Kerr solution [66].

# Chapter 8

### Lanczos potential theory

In this chapter, we introduce an approach to solving the Einstein field equations known as *Lanczos potential theory* [58, 103, 10, 72], see [76] for a historical review. Our interest in Lanczos potential theory is due to the importance of the Lanczos tensor (spinor) in its role as a potential for the Weyl tensor (spinor). The Weyl spinor has especial significance in any conformal gravity theory, due to its conformal invariance, therefore, one expects the Lanczos spinor also to be significant.

The two-spinor formalism has proved itself to be very useful when analysing the Weyl-Lanczos equations, which are of central importance to Lanczos potential theory [64, 114, 105, 53, 22]. Furthermore, due to the considerable simplifications which occur, the spin-coefficient formalism has provided much success in the search for explicit solutions [4, 74]. We will apply this formalism to calculate the Lanczos spinor for the two solutions found in section (6.2).

#### 8.1 Weyl-Lanczos equations

In [58], whilst analysing the self-dual part of the Riemann tensor in four-dimensional spacetime, Lanczos discovered a tensor,  $H_{abc}$  of third-order. It was later shown in [103] that this tensor generates the Weyl tensor differentially. The corresponding set of equations are now referred to as the WL equations

$$C_{abcd} = \nabla_d H_{abc} + \nabla_b H_{cda} + \nabla_c H_{bad} + \nabla_a H_{dcb} + \nabla_e H^e{}_{ac}g_{bd} + \nabla_e H^e{}_{bd}g_{ac} - \nabla_e H^e{}_{ad}g_{bc} - \nabla_e H^e{}_{bc}g_{ad},$$
(8.1)

where  $H_{abc}$  is the Lanczos tensor, skew-symmetric in *ab*. Equations (8.1) are obtained only after imposing the following gauge conditions

$${}^{*}H^{ab}_{\ a} = 0, \qquad H^{b}_{ab} = 0, \qquad \nabla_{c}H^{c}_{ab} = 0.$$
(8.2)

Equations (8.1) show that the Weyl tensor can be generated by differentiation from a potentiallike equation in the same way that the Maxwell-Faraday tensor is obtained by differentiating the electromagnetic potential in Maxwell's theory.

The WL equations (8.1) are given in the spinor formulation in [74]. When (8.2) are applied they take the following simple form

$$\Psi_{ABCD} = 2\nabla_D^{D'} H_{ABCD'},\tag{8.3}$$

where  $H_{ABCD'}$  is the Lanczos spinor, symmetric in AB. The gauge conditions in spinor form are given by

$$H_{AB}{}^{B}{}_{C'} = 0, \qquad \nabla^{CC'} H_{ABCC'} = 0.$$
 (8.4)

The first condition makes  $H_{ABCD'}$  a symmetric spinor

$$H_{ABCC'} = H_{(ABC)C'}.$$
(8.5)

#### Weyl-Lanczos equations in terms of spin-coefficients 8.2

Using (5.23), we can translate the WL equations (8.3) into the GHP formalism

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_0 = (\eth - \bar{\tau}')H_{00} - (\flat - \bar{\rho})H_{01} + 3\sigma H_{10} - 3\kappa H_{11}, \qquad (8.6a)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_{0} = (\mathbf{O} - \tau^{\prime})H_{00} - (\mathbf{p} - \rho)H_{01} + 3\sigma H_{10} - 3\kappa H_{11},$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_{1} = (\mathbf{p}' - \bar{\rho}')H_{00} - (\mathbf{\overline{O}}' - \bar{\tau})H_{01} + 3\tau H_{11} - 3\rho H_{11},$$
(8.6b)

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_1 = (\eth - \bar{\tau}')H_{10} - (\flat - \bar{\rho})H_{11} + \rho'H_{00} - \tau'H_{01} + 2\sigma H_{20} - 2\kappa H_{21},$$
(8.6c)

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_2 = (\mathbf{b}' - \bar{\rho}')H_{10} - (\mathbf{\tilde{o}}' - \bar{\tau})H_{11} - 2\rho H_{21} + 2\tau H_{20} - \sigma' H_{01} + \kappa' H_{00},$$
(8.6d)

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_2 = (\eth - \bar{\tau}')H_{20} - (\flat - \bar{\rho})H_{21} + 2\rho'H_{10} - 2\tau'H_{11} + \sigma H_{30} - \kappa H_{31}, \qquad (8.6e)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_3 = (\mathbf{p}' - \bar{\rho}')H_{20} - (\mathbf{d}' - \bar{\tau})H_{21} - \rho H_{31} + \tau H_{30} - 2\sigma' H_{11} + 2\kappa' H_{10}, \tag{8.6f}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_3 = (\eth - \bar{\tau}')H_{30} - (\flat - \bar{\rho})H_{31} - 3\tau'H_{21} + 3\rho'H_{20}, \qquad (8.6g)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_4 = (\flat' - \bar{\rho}')H_{30} - (\eth' - \bar{\tau})H_{31} - 3\sigma' H_{21} + 3\kappa' H_{20}, \tag{8.6h}$$

where we have labelled the components of the Lanczos spinor as

$$H_{00} = H_{ABCC'} o^{A} o^{B} o^{C} o^{C'},$$

$$H_{10} = H_{ABCC'} o^{A} o^{B} \iota^{C} o^{C'},$$

$$H_{20} = H_{ABCC'} o^{A} \iota^{B} \iota^{C} o^{C'},$$

$$H_{30} = H_{ABCC'} \iota^{A} \iota^{B} \iota^{C} o^{C'},$$

$$H_{01} = H_{ABCC'} o^{A} o^{B} o^{C} \iota^{C'},$$

$$H_{11} = H_{ABCC'} o^{A} o^{B} \iota^{C} \iota^{C'},$$

$$H_{21} = H_{ABCC'} \iota^{A} \iota^{B} \iota^{C} \iota^{C'},$$

$$H_{31} = H_{ABCC'} \iota^{A} \iota^{B} \iota^{C} \iota^{C'},$$

$$(8.7)$$

according to (5.11). This notation follows naturally from the translation formulae (5.23), although it is different to that used in [74]. According to (5.17), the Lanczos spinor components are weighted scalars of the following types

$$\begin{array}{ll} H_{00} & (3,1), \\ H_{10} & (1,1), \\ H_{20} & (-1,1), \\ H_{30} & (-3,1), \\ H_{01} & (3,-1), \\ H_{11} & (1,-1), \\ H_{21} & (-1,-1), \\ H_{31} & (-3,-1). \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} (8.8) \\ (8.$$

The WL equations in the GHP formalism are interchanged by the prime and asterisk operations respectively in the following way,

$$H_{10} \leftrightarrow H_{11},$$

$$H_{20} \leftrightarrow H_{21},$$

$$H_{30} \leftrightarrow H_{31},$$

$$H_{01} \leftrightarrow -H_{00},$$

$$H_{11} \leftrightarrow -H_{10},$$

$$H_{21} \leftrightarrow -H_{20},$$

$$H_{31} \leftrightarrow -H_{30}.$$
(8.10)

### 8.3 Applications of the Weyl-Lanczos equations in spincoefficient form

In section 6.2, we found the non-zero Weyl spinor components for two solutions to the Bach equations. The first was the PP-wave spacetime, which is in an example of a Petrov type Nspacetime, where the only non-zero Weyl scalar is  $\Psi_4$ . For a general type N spacetime, comparing (8.6) with the NP field equations (5.29) suggests that the Lanczos coefficients can be given in terms of the spin coefficients [74]. Specialising to the PP-wave spacetime, the only non-zero spin coefficient is  $\kappa'$ , hence the one non-trivial equation from (8.6) is

$$\frac{1}{2}\Psi_4 = -\eth' H_{31}. \tag{8.11}$$

Comparing (8.11) to (6.22), we see that the only non-zero component of the Lanzcos spinor is

$$H_{31} = \frac{1}{2}\kappa', \tag{8.12}$$

where the explicit solution follows from (6.25) by integration.

The second solution we found was that for a static spherically symmetric spacetime, which is an example of a Petrov type D spacetime. For type D spacetimes, it has been suggested that the following conditions on the Lanczos coefficients hold [74, 73]

$$H_{31} = H_{00},$$
  

$$H_{21} = H_{10},$$
  

$$H_{11} = H_{20},$$
  

$$H_{01} = H_{30},$$
  
(8.13)

which can be understood as relating each Lanczos coefficient to the negative of its primed counterpart, in accordance with (8.9) and (6.37). Furthermore, for a static spherically symmetric spacetime, we may assume that  $H_{rs} = H_{rs}(r, \theta)$ . Substituting (8.13) into (8.6), we find

$$(\delta - 2\beta)H_{00} - (D - 2\gamma - \rho)H_{30} = 0, \qquad (8.14a)$$

$$-(D+4\gamma-\rho)H_{00} - (\delta+4\beta)H_{30} = 3\rho H_{20}, \qquad (8.14b)$$

$$\delta H_{10} - (D - \rho)H_{20} = \rho H_{00}, \qquad (8.14c)$$

$$-(D+2\gamma-\rho)H_{10} - (\delta+2\beta)H_{20} = 2\rho H_{10} + \frac{1}{2}\Psi_2, \qquad (8.14d)$$

$$(\delta + 2\beta)H_{20} - (D + 2\gamma - \rho)H_{10} = 2\rho H_{10} + \frac{1}{2}\Psi_2, \qquad (8.14e)$$

$$-(D-\rho)H_{20} - \delta H_{10} = \rho H_{00}, \qquad (8.14f)$$

$$(\delta + 4\beta)H_{30} - (D + 4\gamma - \rho)H_{00} = 3\rho H_{20}, \qquad (8.14g)$$

$$-(D - 2\gamma - \rho)H_{30} - (\delta - 2\beta)H_{00} = 0.$$
(8.14h)

Taking linear combinations of (8.14) gives the following equivalent set of equations

$$(D - 2\gamma - \rho)H_{30} = 0, (8.15a)$$

$$-(D+4\gamma-\rho)H_{00} = 3\rho H_{20}, \qquad (8.15b)$$

$$\delta H_{10} = 0, \tag{8.15c}$$

$$(\delta + 2\beta)H_{20} = 0, \tag{8.15d}$$

$$-(D+2\gamma+\rho)H_{10} = \frac{1}{2}\Psi_2, \qquad (8.15e)$$

$$-(D-\rho)H_{20} = \rho H_{00}, \qquad (8.15f)$$

$$(\delta + 4\beta)H_{30} = 0, (8.15g)$$

$$(\delta - 2\beta)H_{00} = 0, (8.15h)$$

which can be solved to yield the following the Lanczos coefficients

$$H_{00} = H_{31} = 0,$$
  

$$H_{10} = H_{21} = -\frac{2}{3}\gamma,$$
  

$$H_{20} = H_{11} = 0,$$
  

$$H_{30} = H_{01} = \rho \csc^2 \theta.$$
  
(8.16)

The explicit solutions then follow from (6.37a), (6.37b) and (6.51).

We see from (8.12) and (8.16), that the non-zero Lanczos coefficients are proportional to the spin-coefficients  $\kappa'$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\rho$  respectively. This is true also in the analogous solutions to Einstein's field equations [74]. For the spherically symmetric case, the mathematical steps are identical to those in the Schwarzschild spacetime [75]. However, the explicit form of the Lanczos coefficients as functions of spacetime is different. Moreover, in accordance with the previous chapter, we find that the explicit solution corresponding to (8.16) is conformally related to the corresponding solution for the de Sitter-Schwarzschild spacetime with conformal factor given by (7.21).

### Chapter 9

### Duality rotations and helicity

In this chapter, we consider a second set of conformally invariant field equations called the massless free-field equations. We restrict our considerations to conformally flat spacetime, due to the algebraic consistency relations which exist for the massless field equations in conformally curved space [20, 89]. In contrast to the Bach equations, where comparatively few exact solutions are known, the general solution to the massless free-field equations, for arbitrary spin, is given by means of a contour integral expression involving arbitrary analytic functions [85]. A more detailed description is given in terms of twistor theory [84], where it was shown that the functions are more correctly described as elements of *first sheaf cohomology groups* [90, 52]. In light of this, instead of applying the two-spinor formalism to finding exact solutions, as we did for the Bach equations, we follow a different line of enquiry for the massless free-field equation. The motivation stems from a certain conserved quantity for the Maxwell equations, given in terms of a three-surface integral over a conserved current density [24]. There it was referred to as the 'screw action', on account of its equivalence to the expression for helicity when expanded into Fourier components. In [21], Noether's theorem was used to show that the corresponding symmetry was that of a duality transformation. Although both helicity and duality are central notions in spinor theory and even more so in twistor theory, no reference to a field conservation law for helicity has been found in the spinor-twistor literature. Instead, the connection between the helicity constant arising in particle theory and that arising in the description of massless fields is described via 'twistor first quantization' [78, 90]. That is, via a quantum description regarding the field as a one-particle state. One the other hand, while there exist other types of contour integrals which produce a twistor expression for conserved currents, the conserved quantities explicitly described are electric charge, energy-momentum and angular momentum [79, 78]. Therefore, it appeared that a study of the helicity constant in field theory and its relation to duality rotations using the two-spinor formalism would be worthwhile. At a minimum, it would be a new derivation of results derived previously using tensor methods.

#### 9.1 Massless free-field equations

The massless free-field equations are given as follows

$$\nabla^{A_1 A'_1} \phi_{A_1 \dots A_n} = 0, \tag{9.1}$$

where  $\phi_{A_1...A_n}$  is totally symmetric and the spin s of the field is equal to half the number of unprimed indices  $s = \frac{n}{2}$ . Taking the complex conjugate of (9.1) yields

$$\nabla^{A_1 A'_1} \bar{\phi}_{A'_1 \dots A'_n} = 0, \tag{9.2}$$

where  $\phi_{A'_1...A'_n}$  is again totally symmetric, also describes a massless field of spin *s*, equal to half the number of primed indices. Equations (9.1) and (9.2) are referred to as the anti- and self dual cases, respectively. This terminology corresponds to how they transform under the Hodge dual operation

$$*\phi_{A_1\dots A_n} = -i\phi_{A_1\dots A_n},\tag{9.3}$$

$$*\phi_{A'_1\dots A'_n} = i\phi_{A'_1\dots A'_n}.$$
(9.4)

Physically important specific cases of (9.1) and (9.2) include the Weyl equation n = 1, the source-free Maxwell equations n = 2 and the linearised gravity equations n = 4 (weak-field Einstein vacuum equations). The corresponding case for n = 0 would be the wave equation

$$\nabla^{AA'} \nabla_{AA'} \phi = 0. \tag{9.5}$$

Assuming the spinors have a conformal weight of -1, such that

$$\hat{\phi}_{A_1...A_n} = \Omega^{-1} \phi_{A_1...A_n}, \tag{9.6}$$

$$\hat{\bar{\phi}}_{A_{1'}\dots A_{n'}} = \Omega^{-1} \bar{\phi}_{A_{1'}\dots A_{n'}},\tag{9.7}$$

we can use (4.24) to show that (9.1) and (9.2) are invariant under the conformal rescaling (4.20), that is [89]

$$\hat{\nabla}^{A_1 A'_1} \hat{\phi}_{A_1 \dots A_n} = \Omega^{-3} \nabla^{A_1 A'_1} \phi_{A_1 \dots A_n} = 0, \qquad (9.8)$$

$$\hat{\nabla}^{A_1 A'_1} \hat{\phi}_{A'_1 \dots A'_n} = \Omega^{-3} \nabla^{A_1 A'_1} \bar{\phi}_{A'_1 \dots A'_n} = 0.$$
(9.9)
### 9.2 The helicity operator

#### 9.2.1 Spin 1 Maxwell

In [36] the conserved quantity corresponding to the duality rotation,

$$F_{ab} \to \cos \theta F_{ab} + \sin \theta^* F_{ab} ,$$
  
$$^*F_{ab} \to \cos \theta^* F_{ab} - \sin \theta F_{ab} , \qquad (9.10)$$

was derived. It was shown that the infinitesimal form of the transformation (9.10) changes the action by a total derivative, hence Noether's theorem applies. The corresponding Noether charge was calculated in both the second order Lagrangian and the first order Hamiltonian formulations. Written in terms of the Maxwell tensor, its dual and their respective potentials, the constant is

$$H_1 = \int_{\Sigma} \left( A^{b*} F_{ab} - C^b F_{ab} \right) \mathrm{d}^3 x^a, \tag{9.11}$$

where

$$F_{ab} = \nabla_{[a}A_{b]}, \qquad {}^{*}F_{ab} = \nabla_{[a}C_{b]}.$$
 (9.12)

Whilst the current appearing in the integrand of (9.11) depends on the choice of gauge (due to the presence of the gauge-dependent potentials), with suitable boundary conditions the integral is in fact gauge-invariant [2]. By expanding into Fourier components, equation (9.11) gives the difference between the number of right and left circularly polarised waves, furthermore, it agrees exactly with the *Stokes parameter* V [55, 16]. In particle physics, this would represent the difference between the number of right and left circularly polarised photons, known as the helicity [24, 21, 2, 12]. Helicity is in fact a general concept, which exists in many areas of physics. In particle physics, it is represented as the projection of the spin angular momentum in the direction of the linear momentum. In field theory, it has an analogous representation as the projection of the spin angular momentum in the direction of wave propagation. In every case, it is a pseudoscalar quantity related to the angular momentum or vorticity. For instance, in fluid mechanics it is used as a measure of the degree of knottedness of vortex lines [68], and in (magneto)hydrodynamics the first term of (9.11) measures the winding of magnetic lines of force, thereby characterising the topological configuration of these vortex lines [93].

Noether's theorem provides the link between symmetry transformations of spacetime and corresponding conserved quantities, like energy-momentum-angular-momentum. According to [12, 23, 18], the corresponding transformation for helicity is considered to be the duality rotation, cf. (9.10) in the case of the Maxwell field strength. A complementary method exhibiting this relationship makes use of the Pauli-Lubanski (PL) vector

$$S_a = \frac{1}{2} e_{abcd} p^b M^{cd}, \tag{9.13}$$

where  $p^b$  is the momentum and  $M^{cd}$  the angular momentum. In the case of zero rest mass particles and massless fields, (9.13) is a null vector and is proportional to the momentum [79]

$$S^a = sp^a, (9.14)$$

where the proportionality constant s is equal to the helicity. Using tensor methods, the relationship between the duality operator and the helicity was derived in [17, 6]. Using two-spinors, the spin-one-half case (Weyl equation) was derived in [46]. We will first give the analogous calculation for spin-one and spin-two and then give the general results for a spin s massless field. The action of a Poincaré generator on a tensor or spinor field is defined by the Lie derivative of the field with respect to the associated Killing vector. According to (9.13) and (9.14), in order to derive the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity, we need to define the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the momenta and angular-momenta. These are given as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_k \phi^{MN} = k^b \nabla_b \phi^{MN}, \tag{9.15}$$

where  $k^b$  is constant Killing vector, and

$$\mathcal{L}_l \phi^{MN} = L^c_{\ d} x^d \nabla_c \phi^{MN} - L^{(MD'}_{\ XD'} \phi^{N)X}, \qquad (9.16)$$

where

$$l^c = L^c_{\ d} x^d, \tag{9.17}$$

is a Killing vector and  $L_{cd}$  is antisymmetric and constant. There product gives

$$\mathcal{L}_{k}\mathcal{L}_{l}\phi^{MN} = k^{b}\nabla_{b}\left(L^{c}{}_{d}x^{d}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} - L^{(MD'}{}_{XD'}\phi^{N)X}\right)$$
$$= k^{b}\left(L^{c}{}_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} + L^{c}{}_{d}x^{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} - L^{(MD'}{}_{XD'}\nabla_{b}\phi^{N)X}\right)$$
$$= k^{b}L^{cd}\left(g_{bd}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} + x_{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} + \varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(M}\nabla_{b}\phi^{N)}\right).$$
(9.18)

In accordance with (9.13) we replace  $k^b L^{cd}$  with  $u_a e^{abcd}$ 

$$u_{a}S^{a}\phi^{MN} = u_{a}e^{abcd} \left( g_{bd}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} + x_{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{MN} + \varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(M}\nabla_{b}\phi^{N)} \right)$$
  

$$= u_{a}e^{abcd}\varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(M}\nabla_{b}\phi^{N)}{}_{D}$$
  

$$= iu_{AA'} \left( \varepsilon^{AC}\varepsilon^{BD}\varepsilon^{A'D'}\varepsilon^{B'C'} - \varepsilon^{AD}\varepsilon^{BC}\varepsilon^{A'C'}\varepsilon^{B'D'} \right) \varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(M}\nabla_{b}\phi^{N)}{}_{D}$$
  

$$= -iu^{B'(M}\nabla_{BB'}\phi^{N)B} - iu^{B'}_{A}\nabla^{(M}_{B'}\phi^{N)A}$$
  

$$= iu_{a}\nabla^{a}\phi^{MN}, \qquad (9.19)$$

where the first two terms in the first line are symmetric in b, d, and hence vanish when contracted with  $e^{abcd}$ . In the third equality we substituted the spinor equivalent of the alternating tensor

$$e^{abcd} = i\varepsilon^{AC}\varepsilon^{BD}\varepsilon^{A'D'}\varepsilon^{B'C'} - i\varepsilon^{AD}\varepsilon^{BC}\varepsilon^{A'C'}\varepsilon^{B'D'}.$$
(9.20)

In the last equality we have used Maxwell's equations such that, in the fourth line, the first term vanishes and the second term is totally symmetric in M, N and A. Comparing (9.19) with (9.14) and (9.15) we find that

$$\hat{s}\phi_{MN} = i\phi_{MN},\tag{9.21}$$

where we distinguish the helicity operator with a hat over the symbol s. According to (9.21), for a spin-1 Maxwell spinor the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity is simply multiplication by the complex unit i. As emphasised in [17], in the context of particle physics, the helicity operator is almost always represented via momentum eigenstates [91]. But as the PL vector method has shown, this decomposition is not strictly necessary. In the standard way, we can obtain the finite transformation from the infinitesimal one by exponentiating

$$\phi_{MN} \to e^{i\theta} \phi_{MN}. \tag{9.22}$$

The Maxwell spinor defines the anti-self-dual part of the Maxwell tensor

$$\phi_{AB}\varepsilon_{A'B'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{ab} + i^* F_{ab} \right). \tag{9.23}$$

Substituting (9.22) into (9.23) and taking the real imaginary parts yields the duality rotations (9.10). In the case of spin-one, we have shown that the finite transformation (9.22) is precisely the duality rotation (9.10). This agrees with the interpretation that the generator of duality rotations, via Noether's theorem, corresponds to the conserved quantity helicity [12, 23, 18]. In the next section we give the analogous calculation for spin-two.

#### 9.2.2 Spin 2 Linear Gravity

Since the derivation of the action of the helicity operator for spin-two linear gravity is analogous to that of spin-one, in [17, 6] the final result was given without the explicit calculation. We include the calculation here in terms of two-spinors. The tensor quantity analogous to the Maxwell field is the first order tensor  $K_{abcd}$  which, in the absence of sources, is defined as [89]

$$K_{abcd} = \lim \left( u^{-1} C_{abcd} \right), \tag{9.24}$$

where u is a parameter such that when u = 0 we recover Minkowski spacetime, that is  $C_{abcd} = 0$ . However, in the limit  $u \to 0$ , the limit (9.24) is well defined. This procedure is equivalent to the more common description of linearised Einstein theory in terms of a perturbation potential field  $h_{ab}$ , where

$$g_{ab}(u) = g_{ab} + uh_{ab} + O(u^2).$$
(9.25)

In terms of the first order Weyl tensor, the corresponding duality rotation takes the following form

$$K_{abcd} \to \cos \theta K_{abcd} + \sin \theta^* K_{abcd},$$
  
$$^*K_{abcd} \to \cos \theta^* K_{abcd} - \sin \theta K_{abcd}.$$
 (9.26)

As in (9.18), we take the product of the Lie derivatives corresponding to the linear and angular momentum and apply the result to the first order Weyl spinor  $\phi_{ABCD}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{k}\mathcal{L}_{l}\phi^{KLMN} = k^{b}\nabla_{b}\left(L^{c}{}_{d}x^{d}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} - 2L^{(KD'}{}_{XD'}\phi^{LMN)X}\right)$$
$$= k^{b}\left(L^{c}{}_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} + L^{c}{}_{d}x^{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} - 2L^{(KD'}{}_{XD'}\nabla_{b}\phi^{LMN)X}\right)$$
$$= k^{b}L^{cd}\left(g_{bd}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} + x_{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} + 2\varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(K}\nabla_{b}\phi_{D}^{LMN)}\right).$$
(9.27)

In accordance with (9.13) we replace  $k^b L^{cd}$  with  $u_a e^{abcd}$ ,

$$u_{a}S^{a}\phi^{KLMN} = u_{a}e^{abcd}\left(g_{bd}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} + x_{d}\nabla_{b}\nabla_{c}\phi^{KLMN} + 2\varepsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(K}\nabla_{b}\phi_{D}^{LMN)}\right)$$

$$= 2u_{a}e^{abcd}\epsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(K}\nabla_{b}\phi^{LMN)}{}_{D}$$

$$= 2iu_{AA'}\left(\epsilon^{AC}\epsilon^{BD}\epsilon^{A'D'}\epsilon^{B'C'} - \epsilon^{AD}\epsilon^{BC}\epsilon^{A'C'}\epsilon^{B'D'}\right)\epsilon_{C'D'}\varepsilon_{C}{}^{(K}\nabla_{b}\phi^{LMN)}{}_{D}$$

$$= -2iu^{B'(K}\nabla_{BB'}\phi^{LMN)B} - 2iu^{B'}_{A}\nabla^{(K}_{B'}\phi^{LMN)A}$$

$$= 2iu_{a}\nabla^{a}\phi^{KLMN}, \qquad (9.28)$$

where the first two terms in the first line are symmetric in b, d and hence vanish when contracted with  $e^{abcd}$ . In the third equality we have substituted (9.20). In the last equality we have used the spin-two massless free-field equations such that, in the fourth line, the first term vanishes and the second term is totally symmetric in K, L, M, N and A.

Comparing (9.19) with (9.14) and (9.15) we find that

$$\hat{s}\phi_{KLMN} = 2i\phi_{KLMN},\tag{9.29}$$

such that for a anti-self-dual spin-2 Weyl spinor the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity is simply multiplication by 2i. In the standard way, we can obtain the finite transformation from the infinitesimal one by exponentiating

$$\phi_{KLMN} \to e^{2i\theta} \phi_{KLMN}. \tag{9.30}$$

The first-order Weyl spinor defines the anti-self-dual part of the first-order Weyl tensor

$$\phi_{ABCD}\varepsilon_{A'B'}\varepsilon_{C'D'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( K_{abcd} + i^* K_{abcd} \right).$$
(9.31)

Substituting (9.30) into (9.31) and taking the real imaginary parts does not produce precisely the duality rotation (9.26) because of the factor two, which necessarily appears due to the first-order Weyl spinor having four indices, in contrast to the Maxwell spinor, which has two indices.

#### Spin *s* massless fields

The previous cases of spin-one and spin-two massless fields easily generalise to spin s massless fields

$$\hat{s}\phi_{A_1\dots A_n} = \frac{n}{2}i\phi_{A_1\dots A_n},\tag{9.32}$$

such that the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity is simply multiplication by  $\frac{n}{2}i$ . In the standard way, we can obtain the finite transformation from the infinitesimal one by exponentiating

$$\phi_{A_1\dots A_n} \to e^{\frac{n_i}{2}\theta} \phi_{A_1\dots A_n}. \tag{9.33}$$

An advantage of the two-spinor formalism is that the spin-one-half case (Weyl equation) is included in (9.32) on the same footing as the other spin values. When acting on spinors with integral spin (even number of indices), the essential part of the helicity operator is the duality operator, which agrees with known results using tensor methods [17, 6]. Nevertheless, the multiplying factor  $s = \frac{n}{2}$ , indicates that for arbitrary spin values, the correlation between helicity and duality rotations is not as direct as in the spin-one case, where the helicity transformation is precisely that of a duality rotation. The transformation which corresponds precisely to the helicity constant, in the sense of Noether's theorem, is given later using twistor theory and standard methods from symplectic geometry. Moreover, the origin of the multiplying factor can also be better understood in that context. Therefore, in the next section we introduce the necessary concepts from symplectic geometry, which will also allow us to derive the helicity constant for spin s fields.

#### 9.3 Symplectic two-form

In the previous chapter we derived the transformation corresponding to the helicity constant. In this section we make use of this transformation to derive the helicity constant. In order to achieve this, we give a brief introduction to the *covariant phase space* construction for field theories, restricting ourselves to the concepts required to derive conserved quantities. The general theory is given in [31, 112] and a concise summary in [7]. The advantage of the covariant phase construction over non-covariant constructions is that is does not require a preferred instant of time. It achieves this by constructing a phase space isomorphic to the space of dynamically allowed histories. In non-covariant constructions, this is achieved by fixing an instant of time. But this is not necessary for our purposes. For there exists a symplectic twoform on the phase space which is Lie-dragged by the dynamical vector field, and is therefore independent of the choice of initial instant. We can use the symplectic two-form to derive an expression for conserved quantities. In general, they are obtained as the generators of canonical transformations corresponding to symmetries of the system. Using tensor methods, the authors in [40] derived the expression for the helicity constant for the Maxwell spin-one case. Using spinor methods we derive the same expression for spin-s massless fields.

We assume that the dynamics are specified by a Lagrangian density

$$L(\phi, \nabla \phi), \tag{9.34}$$

which is an invariant function of the fields and their first covariant derivative. The field equations are obtained by requiring that the variation of the action integral

$$S = \int_{V} L(\phi, \nabla \phi) \epsilon, \qquad (9.35)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is the space-time volume element, should vanish under any variation  $X^{\alpha}$  of  $\phi^{\alpha}$  which vanishes on the boundary of V. The variation of the action is

$$dS = \int_{V} \left( \frac{\partial L}{\partial \phi^{\alpha}} - \nabla_{a} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \phi^{\alpha}_{a}} X^{\alpha} \right) \epsilon + \int_{\Sigma} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \phi^{\alpha}_{a}} X^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{a}, \qquad (9.36)$$

where  $\phi_a^{\alpha} = \nabla_a \phi^{\alpha}$  and  $d\sigma_a = n_a d\sigma$ ,  $d\sigma$  is volume element and  $n^a$  the unit normal on the boundary  $\Sigma = \partial V$ . The second term defines a potential one-form  $\theta$  which in general depends on  $\Sigma$ 

$$\theta(X) = \int_{\Sigma} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \phi_a^{\alpha}} X^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}\sigma_a, \qquad (9.37)$$

and resembles the analogous expression  $\theta = p_a dq^a$  from particle mechanics. Taking the exterior derivative, we obtain

$$\omega(X,Y) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma} \omega^a \mathrm{d}\sigma_a \tag{9.38}$$

where X and Y are solutions of the linearised equations. The symplectic current  $\omega^a$  is defined as

$$\omega^{a} = \frac{\partial^{2}L}{\partial\phi^{\beta}\partial\phi_{a}^{\alpha}} \left(Y^{\alpha}X^{\beta} - X^{\alpha}Y^{\beta}\right) + \frac{\partial^{2}L}{\partial\phi_{b}^{\beta}\partial\phi_{a}^{\alpha}} \left(Y^{\alpha}\nabla_{b}X^{\beta} - X^{\alpha}\nabla_{b}Y^{\beta}\right).$$
(9.39)

Due to the linearised field equations  $\nabla_a \omega^a = 0$ , therefore  $\omega(X, Y)$  is independent of  $\Sigma$  assuming the linearised fields tend to zero fast enough at spatial infinity. Furthermore, because  $\omega$  is the exterior derivative a one-form, it is closed  $d\omega = 0$  and represents the (pre)symplectic two-form. In general, the two-form will be degenerate; motions corresponding to gauge transformations give rise to directions in which  $\omega$  vanishes. The gauge freedom is removed by factoring out the integral manifold of the degenerate directions resulting in a reduced phase space with non-degenerate symplectic two-form. Let X be an infinitesimal canonical transformation, by definition we then have  $\mathcal{L}_X \omega = 0$ . Furthermore, if there exists a potential  $\theta$  that is also Lie dragged by X, then we have

$$\mathcal{L}_X \theta \equiv i_X \omega + d(\theta(X)) = 0, \qquad (9.40)$$

where  $i_X$  is the interior product such that

$$i_X \omega = \omega(X, \cdot), \tag{9.41}$$

and  $H = \theta(X)$  is the unique Hamiltonian (up to a constant) which generates the canonical transformation X. In symplectic geometry,  $\theta(X)$  is referred to as the moment map. When a symmetry group exists, each element of the corresponding Lie algebra gives rise to a vector field X which preserves the two-form  $\omega$ . For a given trajectory in the phase space, the conserved quantities  $\theta(X)$  map elements of the Lie algebra linearly to constants H, that is, they are elements of the dual of the Lie algebra. For the Poincaré group, the constants include the energy-momentum-angular-momentum, whence the name moment map.

#### 9.4 The helicity expression for integer spin massless fields

For a spin s anti-self-dual field, the canonical transformation corresponding to the helicity constant was given in (9.32), such that the infinitesimal helicity transformation for a spin-s anti-self-dual fields is simply multiplication by is, whereas for self-dual fields it is multiplication by -is. We denote the corresponding 'helicity Hamiltonian' as  $H_s$ , which can be identified up to a constant by the following relation (9.40)

$$i_s \omega = \omega(\hat{s}, \cdot) = -dH_s. \tag{9.42}$$

We will consider the helicity expression for different values of integer spin. Firstly, a scalar field satisfying the wave equation (9.5) has zero indices, n = 0. Therefore, according to (9.32) it has zero helicity, as expected. Let us then start with the spin-one case. Substituting the Maxwell Lagrangian into (9.38) and (9.39), we find the corresponding symplectic form [112]

$$\omega(\delta\phi,\delta\phi') = \int_{\Sigma} \left( \delta\phi_{AB} \delta\bar{\eta}'^B_{A'} - \delta\phi'_{AB} \delta\bar{\eta}^B_{A'} + c.c. \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{AA'}, \tag{9.43}$$

where c.c. stands for complex conjugate and  $\delta\phi$  and  $\delta\phi'$  are solutions of the linearised equations. Some authors would write simply  $\phi$  when the field equations are linear to begin with, as is the case here. We do not follow this convention however, instead we represent our variations always as  $\delta\phi$ , where they were previously written as X and Y. The  $\delta$  satisfies the properties of the exterior derivative on the space of solutions [34]. According to (9.42), we calculate the helicity by using the interior product of the phase space vector, corresponding to the infinitesimal helicity transformation (9.32), with the symplectic two-form,

$$\omega(\hat{s}\phi,\delta\phi) = \int_{\Sigma} \left( i\phi_{AB}\delta\bar{\eta}^{B}_{A'} - \delta\phi_{AB}(-i)\bar{\eta}^{B}_{A'} + c.c. \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{AA'} \\
= i\delta \int_{\Sigma} \left( \phi_{AB}\bar{\eta}^{B}_{A'} - \bar{\phi}_{A'B'}\eta^{B'}_{A} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{AA'}.$$
(9.44)

Comparing (9.44) with (9.42) we find

$$H_1(\phi) = i \int_{\Sigma} \left( \phi_{AB} \bar{\eta}^B_{A'} - \bar{\phi}_{A'B'} \eta^{B'}_A \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{AA'}, \qquad (9.45)$$

where the potential satisfies the following equation  $[79]^1$ 

$$\nabla^{AA'}\eta^{B'}_A = 0, \qquad (9.46)$$

and the Maxwell potential gives rise to the Maxwell spinor

$$\phi_{AB} = \nabla_{AA'} \eta_B^{A'}, \tag{9.47}$$

which is symmetric due to (9.46). The Maxwell spinor with unprimed indices represents the complex anti-self-dual part of the Maxwell tensor

$$\phi_{AB}\varepsilon_{A'B'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{ab} + i^* F_{ab} \right), \qquad (9.48)$$

whereas the spinor with primed indices represents the complex self-dual part

$$\bar{\phi}_{A'B'}\varepsilon_{AB} = \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{ab} - i^* F_{ab} \right). \tag{9.49}$$

The complex potential  $\eta^{AA'}$  can also be written in terms of its real and imaginary parts

$$\eta^{AA'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( A^a - iC^a \right), \tag{9.50}$$

and

$$\bar{\eta}^{AA'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( A^a + iC^a \right), \tag{9.51}$$

which represent the usual Maxwell potential and the potential for the dual tensor, respectively [14]. Substituting eqs. (9.48) to (9.51) into (9.45) recovers (9.11). Our result is precisely the spinor form of the tensor expression given in [18]. The tensor form is written as the imagi-

 $<sup>{}^{1}</sup>$ In [3] the symmetric part of (9.47) is called an adjoint equation, which is essential to their general classification method of conservation laws.

nary part of a complex quantity, which is the contraction of the right hand sides of (9.48) and (9.51).

In the case of spin-two linearised gravity we have the following symplectic form

$$\omega(\delta\phi,\delta\phi') = \int_{\Sigma} \left( \delta\phi_{ABCD} \delta\bar{\eta}'^{BCD}_{A'} - \delta\phi'_{ABCD} \delta\bar{\eta}^{BCD}_{A'} + c.c. \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{AA'}. \tag{9.52}$$

We calculate the helicity as follows

$$\omega(\hat{s}\phi,\delta\phi) = \int_{\Sigma} \left( 2i\phi_{ABCD}\delta\bar{\eta}_{A'}^{BCD} - \delta\phi_{ABCD}(-2i)\bar{\eta}_{A'}^{BCD} + c.c. \right) d\sigma^{AA'} = 2i\delta \int_{\Sigma} \left( \phi_{ABCD}\bar{\eta}_{A'}^{BCD} - \bar{\phi}_{A'B'C'D'} \eta_{A}^{B'C'D'} \right) d\sigma^{AA'}.$$
(9.53)

Comparing (9.53) with (9.42) we find

$$H_{2}(\phi) = 2i \int_{\Sigma} \left( \phi_{ABCD} \bar{\eta}_{A'}^{BCD} - \bar{\phi}_{A'B'C'D'} \eta_{A}^{B'C'D'} \right) d\sigma^{AA'}.$$
(9.54)

The potential chain is given as [88]

$$\nabla_{BB'} \eta_A^{B'C'D'} = \chi_{AB}^{C'D'},$$
  

$$\nabla_{CC'} \chi_{AB}^{C'D'} = \gamma_{ABC}^{D'},$$
  

$$\nabla_{DD'} \gamma_{ABC}^{D'} = \phi_{ABCD},$$
(9.55)

where all fields are totally symmetric in their primed and unprimed indices separately. Furthermore, they satisfy the following

$$\nabla^{AA'} \eta_A^{B'C'D'} = 0,$$
  

$$\nabla^{AA'} \chi_{AB}^{C'D'} = 0,$$
  

$$\nabla^{AA'} \gamma_{ABC}^{D'} = 0,$$
  

$$\nabla^{AA'} \phi_{ABCD} = 0.$$
(9.56)

The first-order Weyl spinor with unprimed indices represents the complex anti-self-dual part of the first-order Weyl tensor

$$\phi_{ABCD}\varepsilon_{A'B'}\varepsilon_{'D'} = \frac{1}{2} \left( K_{abcd} + i^* K_{abcd} \right), \qquad (9.57)$$

whereas the spinor with primed indices represents the complex self-dual part

$$\bar{\phi}_{A'B'C'D'}\varepsilon_{AB}\varepsilon_{CD} = \frac{1}{2} \left( K_{abcd} - i^* K_{abcd} \right).$$
(9.58)

Our expression (9.54) looks seemingly different to that given in [11], but this is only due to it being presented in different variables. For fields tending to zero at infinity, we can integrate (9.54) by parts using (9.55) [88],

$$\int \phi_{ABCD} \bar{\eta}_{A'}^{BCD} d\sigma^{AA'} = -\int \gamma_{ABC}^{D'} \bar{\chi}_{A'D'}^{BC} d\sigma^{AA'}.$$
(9.59)

The potential  $\chi_{AB}^{C'D'}$  represents the complex linearised metric, its real and imaginary parts give the two potentials used in [11], which are the usual linear metric potential and the potential for the dual Weyl tensor. The  $\gamma_{ABC}^{D'}$  represent the linearised spin-coefficients (or Christoffel symbols) which, in accordance with (8.3) and (9.55), resemble a linearised version of the Lanzcos spinor. In [50], yet another set of variables, referred to as *superpotentials*, is used to represent the helicity constant. These superpotentials are examples of Hertz type potentials [82, 99]. For integer *s*, the general expression for the helicity is given as

$$H_{s}(\phi) = is \int_{\Sigma} \left( \phi_{A_{1}A_{2}...A_{n}} {}^{(1)} \bar{\eta}_{A'_{1}}^{A_{2}...A_{n}} - \bar{\phi}_{A_{1'}A_{2'}...A_{n'}} {}^{(1)} \eta_{A_{1}}^{A'_{2}...A'_{n}} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{A_{1}A_{1'}}, \tag{9.60}$$

where  $s = \frac{n}{2}$ . The corresponding spin s potential chain is given as [78, 79]

$$\nabla_{A_{r+1}A'_{r+1}}{}^{(r)}\eta^{A'_{r+1}A'_{r+2}\dots A'_{n-r}}_{A_1\dots A_r} = {}^{(r+1)}\eta^{A'_{r+2}\dots A'_{n-r}}_{A_1\dots A_{r+1}},$$
(9.61)

where  $r \leq n$  such that the last field in the recursive chain is

$${}^{(n)}\eta_{A_1\dots A_n} = \phi_{A_1\dots A_n}.$$
(9.62)

Every field in the chain satisfies

$$\nabla^{A_r A'_r(r)} \eta^{A'_{r+1} \dots A'_{n-r}}_{A_1 \dots A_r} = 0, \qquad (9.63)$$

when n = r we recover the massless field equations (9.1). In order to have the correct dimension of helicity (or action), our helicity expressions eqs. (9.45), (9.54) and (9.60) should have Planck's constant  $\hbar$  reinstated. This is done via (9.32), as in [6]. However, in contrast to the derivation given in [6], we have not introduced a positive/negative frequency decomposition of the fields. As is well known, this splitting is used in quantum field theory in order to construct a Hilbert space of states, with a corresponding positive definite Hermitian scalar product [91]. This can be introduced via an (almost) complex structure, which we discuss next, since it has relevance also for duality and hence helicity.

### 9.5 Complex structure

One approach to defining a complex manifold M is to define an extra structure on a smooth real manifold. This extra structure is referred to as a complex structure [30]. A complex structure J on a real vector space V can be defined by a real tensor J (linear map) satisfying [52]

$$J^2 = -1. (9.64)$$

An almost complex structure M is a tensor field of complex structures on the tangent bundle TM. It is called integrable if a certain tensor constructed from J, called the Nijenhuis tensor, is zero. If J is integrable then M is a complex manifold with almost complex structure J [69]. In the complexified vector space  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ , J has two eigenspaces with the eigenvalues  $\pm i$ . Therefore, from (9.32) we see that the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity is a constant multiple of an (almost) complex structure, in this case the hodge duality operator. In four dimensions, the corresponding eigenspaces of the duality operator are two-forms that are either self-dual or anti-self-dual. Moreover, since these can be represented respectively by unprimed and primed symmetric spinors, the corresponding complex vector space can be thought of as spin-space.

A different complex structure, which is employed in quantum field theory, gives a decomposition of the field into positive and negative frequencies as follows

$$J(\phi) = i\phi^{+} - i\phi^{-}, \tag{9.65}$$

where  $\phi$  is a spinor or tensor field (indices suppressed) and  $\phi^{\pm}$  represent the positive negative frequency parts of  $\phi$ . In quantum field theory, the vector space V of real solutions  $\phi$  to the field equations is made into a complex vector space via (9.65), where multiplication is defined as

$$(a+ib).\phi := a\phi + bJ.\phi,\tag{9.66}$$

for real a and b. The complex structure J is *compatible* with the symplectic structure, which means it gives rise to a Hermitian scalar product

$$\langle \phi | \phi' \rangle = \omega(\phi, J\phi) + i\omega(\phi, \phi'),$$
(9.67)

which is positive definite so that  $(V, \langle | \rangle)$  is a Hilbert space. The complex structure defined by (9.65) makes the action of the Poincaré group on the Hilbert space unitary. The helicity operator on the Hilbert space is then given as follows [6]

$$\hat{S} = -sJ.D,\tag{9.68}$$

where J provides the positive/negative frequency splitting and D is the Hodge duality operator. The corresponding helicity is defined as

$$H_S(\phi) = \langle \phi | \hat{S} \phi \rangle. \tag{9.69}$$

Substituting (9.68) and (9.65) into (9.67), we find that (9.69), where  $\phi$  is regarded as an element on the one-particle Hilbert space, agrees with the helicity expression (9.60) given earlier. Therefore, we have two equivalent expressions interpreted respectively as the helicity of a one-particle state and of the corresponding classical field. The same equivalence, but for the energy, was postulated in [5] in order to single out the unique complex structure (9.65). We note that when  $\phi$  is regarded as an element on the one-particle Hilbert space, with the corresponding positive/negative frequency decomposition (9.65), the corresponding helicity is positive if it has positive frequency, whereas it is negative if it has negative frequency. Therefore, as emphasised in [6], for a quantum field that has both positive- and negative-frequency components, there is no direct relationship between duality and helicity.

### 9.6 Conserved quantities in particle mechanics and field theory

From (9.32), we have shown that the infinitesimal transformation corresponding to the helicity constant is essentially the duality rotation acting as an (almost) complex structure. However, it also included multiplication by a half-integer, representing the spin of the massless field. In [11], when comparing the action of the duality operator in the spin-one and spin-two cases, the author correctly noted that an extra factor of two needs to be included in the latter case due to the different values of the spin. However, because only the duality transformation was considered, the multiplying factor representing the spin was missing, and so it was necessary to put this factor in by hand. In contrast, using the PL vector method, the half-integer representing the spin value appears automatically from the Lie derivatives of the rotations. Although the PL vector has its origins in particle mechanics, we have shown it to be useful in deriving a field conservation law also. The basic reason being its relation to symmetry transformations of spacetime and the essential identity between how conservation laws in particle mechanics and field theory arise. In this section, we describe this process in general terms.

It is in the presence of a Killing vector or conformal Killing vector, that there is a close similarity in the way in which conserved quantities arise in particle mechanics and in the continuous case of fields. For test particles, where we assume the particle does not back-react on the spacetime, we assume they move on geodesics, which means the particle's momentum is parallelly propagated

$$p^a \nabla_a p^b = 0, \tag{9.70}$$

where  $p^a$  is the particle's momentum, which is tangent to the particle's world line. If a (conformal) Killing vector  $\xi^b$  exists, then we have

$$p^{a}\nabla_{a}\left(\xi_{b}p^{b}\right) = \xi_{b}p^{a}\nabla_{a}p^{b} + p^{a}p^{b}\nabla_{(a}\xi_{b)}.$$
(9.71)

The first term on the right vanishes due to (9.70). The second term will vanish if  $\xi^b$  is a Killing vector due to Killing's equation  $\nabla_{(a}\xi_{b)} = 0$ . If it is a (proper) conformal Killing vector then  $\nabla_{(a}\xi_{b)} \propto g_{ab}$ , so that we must also have  $p^a$  null. In either case we obtain a conserved quantity Q along the particle's worldline

$$Q = \xi_b p^b. \tag{9.72}$$

Furthermore, due to the linearity of  $p^a$  in (9.72), if the sum of the momenta is conserved in collisions between particles, then the sum of the quantities Q will also be conserved. We can interpret this as having a conservation law for the system as a whole in the sense that the total flux of Q across the boundary of a region of spacetime must be zero. In this case we can expect a close similarity with the continuous case of fields. The quantity (9.72) may be generalised to the following non-linear expression

$$Q = \xi_{a\dots d} p^a \dots p^d, \tag{9.73}$$

where  $\xi_{a...d} = \xi_{(a...d)}$  is referred to as a Killing tensor, which satisfies

$$\nabla_{(e}\xi_{a\dots d)} = 0. \tag{9.74}$$

If (9.74) holds, then (9.73) is conserved along the particle's worldline. However, due to the non-linearity in the momenta, the total Q will not be conserved in particle collisions. We may also generalise (9.74) in the following way

$$\nabla_{(e}\xi_{ab\dots d)} = g_{(ea}\eta_{b\dots d)} \tag{9.75}$$

for some  $\eta_{b...d}$ . In this case, we still get a conserved quantity if  $p^a$  is null. Equation (9.75) states that the symmetric trace-free part of  $\nabla_{(e}\xi_{ab...d)}$  is zero. A symmetric trace-free tensor is represented in terms of a spinor which is symmetric in all its primed indices and unprimed indices respectively[89]. Therefore, the spinor translation of (9.75) is

$$\nabla^{(E)}_{(E'}\xi^{A\dots D)}_{A'\dots D')} = 0, \tag{9.76}$$

where without loss of generality we can also assume symmetry in both sets of indices

$$\xi_{A'\dots D'}^{A\dots D} = \xi_{(A'\dots D')}^{(A\dots D)},\tag{9.77}$$

where it is referred to as a *Killing spinor*. Equation (9.76) can incorporate cases with unequal number of primed and unprimed indices, where the use of spinors is now essential. In this case, we obtain a complex quantity Q given by

$$Q = \xi^{A\dots DF'\dots K'} \bar{\pi}_A \dots \bar{\pi}_D \pi_{F'} \dots \pi_{K'}, \qquad (9.78)$$

where  $p^a = \bar{\pi}^A \pi^{A'}$  is the future-null momentum. The quantity Q will be conserved if

$$p^a \nabla_a \pi^{B'} = 0, \tag{9.79}$$

which says that the flag plane of  $\pi^{B'}$  must be parallelly propagated in addition to the flagpole  $\bar{\pi}^B \pi^{B'}$ . When the number of primed and unprimed indices are equal, the Killing spinor  $\xi^{A...DA'...D'}$  is Hermitian and can be represented as the tensor  $\xi^{a...d}$ , in which case we get a real Q according to (9.73). In the case of just one spinor index, the expression (9.78) is linear in either  $\pi^{A'}$  or  $\bar{\pi}^A$ . Therefore, in analogy to the case of linear momentum, we can expect a corresponding conservation law for the whole system. Accordingly, this conservation law should be evident in the case of continuous fields, which we turn to now.

In the case of a continuous field, the symmetric energy-momentum tensor  $T_{ab} = T_{ba}$  takes the role of the momentum. For suppose the continuity equation holds

$$\nabla^a T_{ab} = 0. \tag{9.80}$$

Then we have

$$\nabla^a \left(\xi^b T_{ab}\right) = \xi^b \nabla^a T_{ab} + T_{ab} \nabla^{(a} \xi^{b)}.$$
(9.81)

The first term vanishes due to (9.80). If  $\xi^b$  is a Killing vector the second term vanishes. Else, if it is a (proper) conformal Killing vector then we must also have  $T_{ab}$  traceless. In either case we obtain a conserved current  $J^a$ , where

$$J_a = \xi^b T_{ab},\tag{9.82}$$

and

$$\nabla_a J^a = 0. \tag{9.83}$$

This shows the similarity, particularly for currents linear in energy-momentum, to the particle case. Moreover, further currents exist, in addition to the helicity and the energy-momentum-stress. In [3], a complete classification was given of all locally constructed conserved currents associated with the massless free field equations (9.1). These include generalised *zilch currents* [61], and less well studied *chiral currents*, which have odd parity under a duality rotation [3].

In field theory, we showed that conserved quantities arise from a conserved current according to

(9.83). The link between a conserved current and its corresponding conserved quantity, often referred to as a generalised charge, is provided by the fundamental theorem of exterior calculus, which in different dimensions is more commonly referred to as the divergence theorem of Gauss, or the Kelvin-Stokes curl theorem. In differential form notation, the theorem is as follows

$$\int_{V} \mathrm{d}^{*} \boldsymbol{J} = \int_{\partial V} {}^{*} \boldsymbol{J}, \qquad (9.84)$$

where \*J is a *p*-form and V is a compact p + 1-dimensional oriented volume whose boundary  $\partial V$  is *p*-dimensional and is also oriented and compact. In four-dimensional spacetime, the conserved current  $J^a$  in (9.83) is dual to the 3-form \*J. In differential form notation, (9.83) says that the corresponding 3-form is closed

$$\mathbf{d}^* \boldsymbol{J} = 0. \tag{9.85}$$

Substituting (9.85) into (9.84) gives

$$\int_{\partial V} {}^*\boldsymbol{J} = 0. \tag{9.86}$$

In accordance with  $J^a$  being a current vector, \*J describes the flow (or flux) of the conserved quantity (generalised charge) across the boundary  $\partial V$ . Hence, (9.86) states that the total flowing into the volume V is equal to the total flowing out, which expresses the conservation of generalised charge.

Recall that the massless free-field equations (9.1) are conformally invariant if the spinor field has conformal weight equal to -1, cf.(9.6). If the conformal weight of the potential field  ${}^{(1)}\bar{\eta}_{A'_1}^{A_2...A_n}$ in (9.60) is also equal to -1, then the conformal weight of the one-form current in the integrand of (9.60) is equal to -2. Raising the tensor index yields a vector current of conformal weight -4. Since the alternating tensor has a conformal weight of 4, dualising produces a 3-form of conformal weight 0, hence

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{s}}\boldsymbol{J} = \boldsymbol{s}\boldsymbol{J}. \tag{9.87}$$

From (9.87), it follows that the helicity charge

$$H_s = \int_{\Sigma} {}^* \boldsymbol{J}, \qquad (9.88)$$

has conformal weight zero, that is, it is conformally invariant. This would then agree with the fact that the helicity operator and the scalar product can be constructed from functions of *twistors*, which are conformally invariant objects. In the next section, we describe some relevant details of twistor theory [90, 52], including the representation of the helicity operator.

### 9.7 The helicity operator in twistor theory

We started this chapter with the goal of showing exactly how the duality transformation corresponds to the helicity constant in the way that spacetime translations and rotations correspond to energy-momentum and angular momentum (where Lorentz boosts would correspond to uniform motion in a straight line of the mass centre). From the perspective of Hamiltonian mechanics, quantities that correspond to each other in this way are canonically conjugate variables. Since the duality rotation changes the phase of the spinor, phase and helicity are also conjugate variables. The momentum and angular momentum variables are invariant with respect to phase changes, hence so is the symplectic two-form

$$\omega = dp_a \wedge dx^a, \tag{9.89}$$

which describes a particle with zero spin. The generalisation to particles with non-zero spin was given in [97]. An elegant representation, particularly for massless particles, is given in terms of twistors [33, 113]. Moreover, when the basic phase space variables are given in terms of twistors, the canonical relationship between phase and helicity is manifest. Many definitions of a twistor exist [78]. For our purposes, they may be thought of as the reduced (Weyl) spinors for the pseudo-orthogonal group, O(2, 4), [90]. Thus in the same way that spin vectors form a complex two-dimensional vector space (spin-space) in which  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  acts, the twistors form a four-dimensional vector space in which SU(2, 2) acts. Accordingly we have the following group isomorphisms

$$SL(2,\mathbb{C}) \to O_+(1,3),$$

$$(9.90)$$

$$SU(2,2) \to O(2,4) \to C(1,3),$$
 (9.91)

where each map is a 2-1 isomorphism and C(1,3) is the conformal group. Furthermore, in analogy to how a two-spinor can be thought of as a square root of a (future-pointing) null vector, a twistor can be thought of as a square root of the energy-momentum-angular-momentum structure of a zero-rest-mass particle [86]. Earlier we introduced concepts from symplectic geometry in order to give an expression for conserved quantities. The main idea is that conserved quantities arise as observables which generate canonical transformations on phase space, cf. (9.40). It was first shown in [33] that the twistor symplectic structure for null geodesics is identical to the standard symplectic structure on the phase space (cotangent bundle) over spacetime. Therefore, we can describe how the helicity constant arises in twistor theory according to the symplectic methods already introduced. In term of the twistor phase space coordinates  $(Z^a, \bar{Z}_a)$ , the potential one-form is given by

$$\theta = \frac{i}{2} \left( Z^a d\bar{Z}_a - \bar{Z}_a dZ^a \right). \tag{9.92}$$

Taking the exterior derivative of (9.92) gives the symplectic two-form,

$$\omega = idZ^a \wedge d\bar{Z}_a,\tag{9.93}$$

which is closed  $d\omega = 0$ . The vector field corresponding to the helicity Hamiltonian is given by

$$X_s = \frac{i}{2} \left( Z^a \frac{\partial}{\partial Z^a} - \bar{Z}_a \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{Z}_a} \right).$$
(9.94)

Therefore, according to (9.40) the helicity constant is given as

$$H_s(Z, \bar{Z}) = i_s \theta = \frac{i}{2} \left( i_s(Z^a d\bar{Z}_a) - i_s(\bar{Z}_a dZ^a) \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} Z^a \bar{Z}_a.$$
(9.95)

The infinitesimal transformation on the phase space coordinates  $(Z^a, \overline{Z}_a)$  is

$$\delta Z^a = i Z^a, \qquad \delta \bar{Z}_a = -i \bar{Z}_a, \tag{9.96}$$

exponentiating gives the corresponding finite transformation

$$Z^a \to e^{i\theta} Z^a, \qquad \bar{Z}_a \to e^{-i\theta} \bar{Z}_a.$$
 (9.97)

Equations (9.96) and (9.97) should be compared to their respective analogues in the case a spin-s spinor field (9.32) and (9.33). The finite transformation (9.97) is precisely that which corresponds to the helicity constant in the sense of Noether's theorem. It is simply a phase transformation of the twistor coordinates, similar in form to the duality rotations of a spinor field (9.33). Furthermore, in twistor theory, there exist contour integral formulae giving the general solution to the spin-s massless field equations in terms of twistors [84], which thereby provide the link between the transformations (9.96) for twistors and (9.32) for fields.

Twistors can also be expressed, relative to a spacetime origin, in terms of a pair of two-spinors  $\omega^A$  and  $\pi_{A'}$  as follows

$$Z^{a} = \left(\omega^{A}, \pi_{A'}\right), \qquad \bar{Z}_{a} = \left(\bar{\pi}_{A}, \bar{\omega}^{A'}\right).$$

$$(9.98)$$

The two-spinors  $\omega^A$  and  $\pi_{A'}$  are related to the momentum and angular momentum in the following way

$$p_a = \pi_{A'} \bar{\pi}_A,\tag{9.99}$$

$$M_{ab} = i\omega_{(A}\bar{\pi}_{B)}\varepsilon_{A'B'} - i\bar{\omega}_{(A'}\pi_{B')}\varepsilon_{AB}, \qquad (9.100)$$

where  $p_a$  is necessarily future-null. The helicity can be represented in terms of  $\omega^A$  and  $\pi_{A'}$  by substituting (9.98) into (9.95). Alternatively, the same result follows by substituting (9.99)

and (9.100) into (9.13) [90],

$$S_{a} = {}^{*}M_{ab}p^{b} = \left(\omega_{(A}\bar{\pi}_{B)}\varepsilon_{A'B'} + \bar{\omega}_{(A'}\pi_{B')}\varepsilon_{AB}\right)\bar{\pi}^{B}\pi^{B'} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\omega^{B}\bar{\pi}_{B} + \bar{\omega}^{B'}\pi_{B'}\right)\bar{\pi}_{A}\pi_{A'}.$$
(9.101)

Comparing (9.101) with (9.14) and (9.99), we can write

$$H_s = s = \frac{1}{2} \left( \omega^A \bar{\pi}_A + \bar{\omega}^{A'} \pi_{A'} \right).$$
(9.102)

In terms of two-spinors, the vector field (9.94) is

$$X_s = \frac{i}{2} \left( \omega^A \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega^A} + \pi_{A'} \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_{A'}} - \bar{\omega}^{A'} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\omega}^{A'}} - \bar{\pi}_A \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\pi}_A} \right).$$
(9.103)

The corresponding infinitesimal transformations of the two-spinors are

$$\delta\omega^A = i\omega^A, \qquad \delta\pi_{A'} = i\pi_{A'}, \qquad \delta\bar{\omega}^{A'} = -i\bar{\omega}^{A'}, \qquad \delta\bar{\pi}_A = -i\bar{\pi}_A, \tag{9.104}$$

and their finite counterparts

$$\omega^A \to e^{i\theta}\omega^A, \qquad \pi_{A'} \to e^{i\theta}\pi_{A'}, \qquad \bar{\omega}^{A'} \to e^{-i\theta}\bar{\omega}^{A'}, \qquad \bar{\pi}_A \to e^{-i\theta}\bar{\pi}_A.$$
 (9.105)

Comparing (9.105) with (3.2), we see that the finite helicity transformation can be understood as a rotation of the flag plane of the spinors  $\omega^A$  and  $\pi_{A'}$ . In order that (9.100) transform correctly under translations as momenta and angular momenta, the twistor two-spinor parts must satisfy

$$\omega^A = \tilde{\omega}^A - ix^{AA'} \pi_{A'}, \qquad (9.106)$$

$$\pi_{A'} = \tilde{\pi}_{A'},\tag{9.107}$$

where  $\tilde{\omega}$  and  $\tilde{\pi}$  are constant spinor fields whose values coincide with  $\omega$  and  $\pi$  respectively at the origin. From (9.106) and (9.107), the following equations follow

$$\nabla_{A'}^{(A}\omega^{B)} = 0, (9.108)$$

$$\nabla_{BA'}\omega^C = -i\epsilon_B{}^C\pi_{A'},\tag{9.109}$$

$$\nabla_{AA'}\pi_B = 0, \tag{9.110}$$

where (9.108) is referred to as the *twistor equation*. In conformally flat space, where the Weyl tensor is zero, (9.108) also implies (9.106) and (9.107). If  $\omega^A$  is assumed to have a conformal weight of zero,  $\hat{\omega}^A = \omega^A$ , then (9.108) is conformally invariant [90]. The solutions to the twistor

equation (9.108) constitute a four-dimensional vector space over the complex numbers, and give a useful definition of twistor space. Due to the conformal invariance of (9.108), twistors are conformally invariant objects. It follows that expressions constructed from twistors, such as the helicity (9.95) and the scalar product [51, 48], are also conformally invariant, in agreement with the conformal invariance of the helicity integral (9.88), cf. (9.87).

Comparing (9.108) with the spinor conformal Killing equation (9.76), we see that the twistor equation is just a particular case. Therefore,  $\omega^A$  may be considered to be a one-index Killing spinor. Furthermore, from (9.102), we see that the helicity constant is linear in the momentum. In accordance with our earlier discussion, we therefore expect to find a corresponding conservation law for the entire system, in the form of a conserved current vector. Our earlier derivation of the conserved helicity integrals suggest that the corresponding conserved current, for a spin s massless field, is given by the integrand of our helicity integral (9.60).

It was noted in the introduction to this chapter, that the connection between the helicity constant arising in particle theory (9.95) and that arising in field theory (9.32) is usually described via 'twistor first quantization', i.e., via a quantum description regarding the field as a one-particle state. On the other hand, according to the discussion on complex structure in section 9.5 and conserved quantities in section 9.6, the connection can also be described classically in terms of (conformal) Killing vectors or Killing spinors. Consider the familiar example of the energy, the conserved quantity in particle theory is represented as

$$E = t^a p_a, \tag{9.111}$$

where, according to (9.71), E is constant along the particle's worldline,  $t^a$  is the Killing vector corresponding to a time translation and  $p_a$  is the particle momentum, cf. (9.72). The corresponding result in field theory is

$$E = \omega(\mathcal{L}_t \phi, \phi) = \int_{\Sigma} t^a T_{ab} \mathrm{d}\sigma^b, \qquad (9.112)$$

where  $\phi$  is any scalar, tensor or spinor field and  $T_{ab}$  is its corresponding energy-momentum tensor, conserved according to (9.80). In the case of helicity, the analogue of (9.111) is given by (9.95) or equivalently (9.102). The analogue of (9.112) is the helicity integral (9.60). Curiously, on first sight, there is no mention of a Killing spinor in (9.60). However, according to (9.102), the multiplying factor s in (9.60) is actually a function of  $\omega^A$  and  $\pi_{A'}$ , but it is covariantly constant. Therefore, according to (9.102), we could rewrite (9.60) as

$$H_{s}(\phi) = \omega(\hat{s}\phi,\phi)$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} \int_{\Sigma} \left( \omega^{A} \bar{\pi}_{A} + \bar{\omega}^{A'} \pi_{A'} \right) \left( \phi_{A_{1}A_{2}...A_{n}}{}^{(1)} \bar{\eta}_{A'_{1}}^{A_{2}...A_{n}} - \bar{\phi}_{A_{1'}A_{2'}...A_{n'}}{}^{(1)} \eta_{A_{1}}^{A'_{2}...A'_{n}} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma^{A_{1}A_{1'}}.$$

$$(9.113)$$

The multiplying factor s is now interpreted as playing an analogous role to the Killing vector components  $t^a$  in (9.112). The obvious difference being that (9.102) is a (pseudo-) scalar quantity. According to twistor theory, it forms the trace part of a Hermitian twistor. The corresponding trace-free part contains fifteen parameters, providing the twistor representation of a conformal Killing vector corresponding to the fifteen continuous symmetries of the conformal group [90, 52]. Therefore, as is the case for energy-momentum and angular momentum, the connection between the conserved helicity constant in particle and field theory can be understood via the concept of a Killing spinor, according to the general theory described in section 9.6. According to twistor theory, each spinor can be represented as a function (more correctly an element of first sheaf cohomology) on twistor space. The vector field corresponding to the helicity (9.94) is essentially determined by the Euler homogeneity operator [90], such that the homogeneity degree of the twistor function determines the helicity via an eigenvalue equation, in accordance with Euler's homogenous function theorem. The description in terms of helicity

eigenstates is the standard one and is equivalent to the discussion given above.

# Chapter 10

## Summary and Outlook

In this thesis, we have investigated two sets of conformally invariant equations using the twospinor formalism. First we looked at the Bach equations, where the focus was on finding exact solutions. Our main original contribution was the translation of the spinor equations into compacted spin-coefficient form. As an application of the formalism, we reconstructed two previously known exact solutions, namely the PP-wave spacetime and the static sphericallysymmetric spacetime. Since the latter was found to be conformally related to the Schwarzschildde Sitter solution, it was natural to look at the conditions under which a general solution of the Bach equations was conformal to a solution of the Einstein field equations. For a certain class of spacetimes, which excludes type N spacetimes such as the PP-wave, the necessary and sufficient conditions are the vanishing of the Bach and Eastwood-Dighton tensors. For the spherically symmetric solution, we applied the conditions in order to find the conformal factor for the Weyl scalar, which transforms a solution of the Bach equations to a solution of the Einstein equations. We applied the spin-coefficient formalism also to the Weyl-Lanczos equations in order to find the Lanczos coefficients for the PP-wave and spherically symmetric spacetimes. In both cases, we showed that they were proportional to the spin coefficients.

Further extensions of this work could include the search for new exact solutions of the Bach equations. As in the case of the EFE, the NP spin-coefficient formalism will be a useful calculus. In comparison to the large number of known exact solutions to the EFE, the number of known solutions to the Bach equations is relatively few, particularly solutions which are not conformal Einstein spaces. Part of the reason is the increased difficulty of solving non-linear higher-order derivative equations. As is the case for the EFE, computer algebra packages can play a useful role [62]. In particular, when solving equations using the NP formalism, spinor packages such as [47] can be used.

The second set of equations we investigated were the massless free-field equations for spin s. In conformally flat spacetime, the general solution can be represented by means of a contour integral expression involving arbitrary analytic functions. Therefore, in contrast to our investigation of the Bach equations, where the focus was on exact solutions, our approach was to investigate the relationship between duality rotations and a certain conserved quantity, interpreted physically as the helicity. Using concepts from symplectic geometry, such as the symplectic two-form, we derived an expression for the helicity of an integer spin s field in terms of a three-surface integral over a conserved current density. In general, the conserved current is a real four-vector, constructed from the spin s field and a certain potential from its corresponding potential chain. Moreover, the conformal invariance of the helicity integral expression follows from the conformal invariance of the massless free-field equations.

Further extensions of this work could be to translate the helicity integral expressions into twistor form, as was done in [78] for the electric charge, mass-energy and angular momentum. According to the symplectic approach, the result should agree with the moment map (9.40), where the vector field is (9.94), i.e. the twistor helicity Hamiltonian vector field. Moreover, the symplectic product is the standard one [88], closely related to the scalar product (9.67), given in terms of twistor functions. Another extension concerns the generalisation of conservation laws to curved spacetimes. In the introduction to section 9, we noted that in conformally curved spacetime, algebraic consistency relations exist for the massless field equations. Similar conditions hold also for the potential equations (9.63) and the twistor equation (9.108). Furthermore, the (conformal) Killing equation has non-zero solutions only when the spacetime possesses continuous symmetries. In spite of these difficulties, much progress has been made in describing conservation laws in curved spacetime. Especially for conserved quantities, such as the electric charge or mass-energy-angular-momentum, that permit a quasi-local description [87, 101]. In such approaches, the conserved quantities are expressed as integrals over closed spacelike two-surfaces. For a particular class of two-surfaces, so called *non-contorted*, the quasi-local mass construction produces many appealing results [106]. However, in the *contorted* case, modifications are required [52]. For such cases, the main obstacle is that the standard definition of the twistor norm (9.102), interpreted physically as the helicity, is not constant. For the contorted cases, various alternatives for the twistor norm have been suggested. For example, in [89] three proposals are put forward: an averaging procedure over the two-sphere, the inclusion of the Gaussian curvature of the two-sphere, the inclusion of the determinant of any four linearly independent solutions to (the tangential parts of) the twistor equation (9.108). Due to the physical interpretation of the norm as helicity, the discussion in section 9.7 suggests an alternative tentative proposal along the lines of (9.113), but generalised so as to apply to curved spacetime. It would be interesting to investigate whether this line of inquiry could lead to a modification of the twistor norm suitable for contorted surfaces in curved spacetimes.

# Bibliography

- Tim Adamo and E. T. Newman. The Kerr-Newman metric: A Review. arXiv:1410.6626 [gr-qc, physics:hep-th], November 2016. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1410.6626.
- G. N. Afanasiev and Yu. P. Stepanovsky. The helicity of the free electromagnetic field and its physical meaning. *Il Nuovo Cimento A (1965-1970)*, 109(3):271-279, March 1996. ISSN 1826-9869. doi: 10.1007/BF02731014. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02731014.
- [3] Stephen C. Anco and Juha Pohjanpelto. Conserved currents of massless fields of spin s ≥ 1/2. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 459(2033):1215-1239, May 2003. doi: 10.1098/rspa.2002.1070. URL https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.2002.1070.
- [4] Gonzálo Ares de Parga, Oscar Chavoya A., and José L. López Bonilla. Lanczos potential. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 30(6):1294–1295, June 1989. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10.1063/1.528306. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.528306.
- [5] A. Ashtekar and Anne Magnon. Quantum fields in curved space-times. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 346(1646):375-394, November 1975. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1975.0181. URL https://royalsocietypublishing. org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1975.0181.
- [6] Abhay Ashtekar. A note on helicity and self-duality. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 27 (3):824-827, March 1986. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10.1063/1.527187. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.527187.
- [7] Abhay Ashtekar, Luca Bombelli, and Oscar Reula. The covariant phase space of asymptotically flat gravitational fields. In M Francaviglia, editor, *Mechanics, analysis and geometry: 200 years after Lagrange*. North-Holland ; Sole distributors for the U.S.A. and Canada, Elsevier Science Pub. Co., Amsterdam; New York; New York, N.Y., U.S.A., 1991.
- [8] Rudolf Bach. Zur Weylschen Relativitätstheorie und der Weylschen Erweiterung des Krümmungstensorbegriffs. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 9(1):110–135, March 1921. ISSN 1432-1823. doi: 10.1007/BF01378338. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01378338.

- W. L. Bade and Herbert Jehle. An Introduction to Spinors. Reviews of Modern Physics, 25(3):714-728, July 1953. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.25.714. URL https://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.25.714.
- [10] Franco Bampi and Giacomo Caviglia. Third-order tensor potentials for the Riemann and Weyl tensors. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 15(4):375–386, April 1983. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/BF00759166. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00759166.
- [11] Stephen M. Barnett. Maxwellian theory of gravitational waves and their mechanical properties. New Journal of Physics, 16(2):023027, February 2014. ISSN 1367-2630. doi: 10.1088/1367-2630/16/2/023027. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/1367-2630/16/2/023027.
- Stephen M. Barnett, Robert P. Cameron, and Alison M. Yao. Duplex symmetry and its relation to the conservation of optical helicity. *Physical Review A*, 86(1):013845, July 2012. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevA.86.013845. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.86.013845.
- [13] R. J. Baston and L. J. Mason. Conformal gravity, the Einstein equations and spaces of complex null geodesics. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 4(4):815, 1987. ISSN 0264-9381. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/4/4/018. URL http://stacks.iop.org/0264-9381/4/i=4/a=018.
- [14] H Bateman. Mathematical analysis of electrical and optical wave-motion. Cambridge Univ Press, 2016.
- [15] Peter G. Bergmann. Two-Component Spinors in General Relativity. *Physical Review*, 107 (2):624-629, July 1957. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.107.624. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.107.624.
- [16] Iwo Bialynicki-Birula. Helicity amplitudes, polarization of EM waves and Stokes parameters: classical versus quantum theory. *Journal of Optics*, 21(9):094002, August 2019. ISSN 2040-8986. doi: 10.1088/2040-8986/ab3380. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/2040-8986/ab3380.
- [17] Iwo Bialynicki-Birula, E. T. Newman, J. Porter, J. Winicour, B. Lukacs, Z. Perjes, and A. Sebestyen. A note on helicity. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 22(11):2530-2532, November 1981. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10.1063/1.524828. URL https://aip.scitation. org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.524828.
- Konstantin Y. Bliokh, Aleksandr Y. Bekshaev, and Franco Nori. Dual electromagnetism: helicity, spin, momentum and angular momentum. New Journal of Physics, 15(3):033026, March 2013. ISSN 1367-2630. doi: 10.1088/1367-2630/15/3/033026. URL https://doi. org/10.1088/1367-2630/15/3/033026.

- H. W. Brinkmann. Einstein spaces which are mapped conformally on each other. Mathematische Annalen, 94(1):119-145, December 1925. ISSN 0025-5831, 1432-1807. doi: 10. 1007/BF01208647. URL https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01208647.
- [20] H. A. Buchdahl. On the compatibility of relativistic wave equations in riemann spaces. *Il Nuovo Cimento (1955-1965)*, 25(3):486–496, August 1962. ISSN 1827-6121. doi: 10. 1007/BF02733688. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02733688.
- M. G. Calkin. An Invariance Property of the Free Electromagnetic Field. American Journal of Physics, 33(11):958-960, November 1965. ISSN 0002-9505. doi: 10.1119/1. 1971089. URL https://aapt.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1119/1.1971089.
- [22] J.H. Caltenco, J. López-Bonilla, and A. Zúñiga-Segundo. Lanczos Spintensor and GHP Formalism. *Czechoslovak Journal of Physics*, 52(8):901–909, August 2002.
   ISSN 1572-9486. doi: 10.1023/A:1019803803431. URL https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1019803803431.
- [23] Robert P. Cameron and Stephen M. Barnett. Electric-magnetic symmetry and Noether's theorem. New Journal of Physics, 14(12):123019, December 2012. ISSN 1367-2630. doi: 10.1088/1367-2630/14/12/123019. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/1367-2630/14/12/123019.
- [24] D. J. Candlin. Analysis of the new conservation law in electromagnetic theory. Il Nuovo Cimento (1955-1965), 37(4):1390-1395, June 1965. ISSN 1827-6121. doi: 10.1007/BF02783348. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02783348.
- [25] Salvatore Capozziello and Mariafelicia De Laurentis. Extended Theories of Gravity. *Physics Reports*, 509(4):167-321, December 2011. ISSN 0370-1573. doi: 10.1016/ j.physrep.2011.09.003. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0370157311002432.
- [26] Moshe Carmeli and Shimon Malin. Theory of Spinors. World Scientific, apr 2000. doi: 10.1142/4380.
- [27] E. Cartan. Les groupes projectifs qui ne laissent invariante aucune multiplicité plane. Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France, 2:53-96, 1913. ISSN 0037-9484, 2102-622X. doi: 10.24033/bsmf.916. URL http://www.numdam.org/item?id=BSMF\_1913\_ \_41\_53\_1.
- [28] Élie Cartan. The Theory of Spinors. Dover Publications, New York, 1981. ISBN 9780486640709.

- [29] S. Chandrasekhar. The Mathematical Theory of Black Holes. Oxford Classic Texts in the Physical Sciences. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, September 1998. ISBN 9780198503705.
- [30] Shiing-shen Chern. Complex manifolds without potential theory : with an appendix on the geometry of characteristic classes. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [31] P. R Chernoff and Jerrold E Marsden. Properties of Infinite Dimensional Hamiltonian Systems. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006. URL https://public. ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=5590591.
- [32] W. J. Cocke. Table for constructing the spin coefficients in general relativity. *Physical Review D*, 40(2):650-651, July 1989. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.40.650. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.40.650.
- [33] M. Crampin and F. A. E. Pirani. Twistors, Symplectic Structure and Lagrange's Identity. In Charles Goethe Kuper and Asher Peres, editors, *Relativity and Gravitation*, page 105. New York: Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, 1971.
- [34] Čedomir Crnković. Symplectic geometry and (super-)Poincaré algebra in geometrical theories. Nuclear Physics B, 288:419-430, January 1987. ISSN 0550-3213.
   doi: 10.1016/0550-3213(87)90221-5. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0550321387902215.
- [35] Talmadge M. Davis. A simple application of the Newman-Penrose spin coefficient formalism. II. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 15(5):319–321, May 1976.
- [36] Stanley Deser and Claudio Teitelboim. Duality transformations of Abelian and non-Abelian gauge fields. *Physical Review D*, 13(6):1592–1597, March 1976. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.13.1592. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.13.1592.
- [37] Kenza Dighton. An introduction to the theory of local twistors. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 11(1):31-43, October 1974. ISSN 1572-9575. doi: 10.1007/BF01807935. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01807935.
- [38] Paul Adrien Maurice Dirac. Relativistic wave equations. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 155(886):447-459, July 1936.
   doi: 10.1098/rspa.1936.0111. URL https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1936.0111.
- [39] Jürgen Ehlers and Wolfgang Kundt. Exact solutions of the gravitational field equations. In L. Witten, editor, *The Theory of Gravitation*, pages 49–101. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1962.

- [40] M. Elbistan, C. Duval, P. A. Horváthy, and P. M. Zhang. Duality and helicity: A symplectic viewpoint. *Physics Letters B*, 761:265-268, October 2016. ISSN 0370-2693. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2016.08.041. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0370269316304610.
- [41] B. Fiedler and R. Schimming. Exact solutions of the Bach field equations of general relativity. *Reports on Mathematical Physics*, 17(1):15–36, February 1980. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0034487780900737.
- [42] M. Fierz, Wolfgang Ernst Pauli, and Paul Adrien Maurice Dirac. On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 173(953):211-232, November 1939. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1939.0140. URL https: //royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1939.0140.
- [43] Hamish Forbes. The Bach equations in spin-coefficient form. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 35(12):125010, May 2018. ISSN 0264-9381. doi: 10.1088/1361-6382/aac1eb. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1361-6382%2Faac1eb.
- [44] Helmut Friedrich. Twistor connection and normal conformal Cartan connection. General Relativity and Gravitation, 8(5):303-312, May 1977. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/ BF00771141. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00771141.
- [45] R. Geroch, A. Held, and R. Penrose. A space-time calculus based on pairs of null directions. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 14(7):874-881, July 1973. doi: 10.1063/1. 1666410. URL http://aip.scitation.org/doi/10.1063/1.1666410.
- [46] Robert Geroch. Quantum field theory: 1971 lecture notes. Minkowski Institute Press, Montreal, 2013.
- [47] Alfonso García-Parrado Gómez-Lobo and José M. Martín-García. Spinors: A Mathematica package for doing spinor calculus in General Relativity. *Computer Physics Communications*, 183(10):2214-2225, October 2012. ISSN 0010-4655. doi: 10. 1016/j.cpc.2012.04.024. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0010465512001634.
- [48] Leonard Gross. Norm Invariance of Mass-Zero Equations under the Conformal Group. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 5(5):687-695, May 1964. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10. 1063/1.1704164. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.1704164.
- [49] S. W. Hawking and G. F. R. Ellis. The Large Scale Structure of Space-Time. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1973. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511524646. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/ large-scale-structure-of-spacetime/1E6B961EC9878EDDBBD6AC0AF031CC93.

- [50] Marc Henneaux and Claudio Teitelboim. Duality in linearized gravity. *Physical Review* D, 71(2):024018, January 2005. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.71.024018. URL https://link. aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.024018.
- [51] A. Hodges and S. Huggett. Twistor diagrams. Surveys in High Energy Physics, 1(4): 333-353, August 1980. ISSN 0142-2413. doi: 10.1080/01422418008225260. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/01422418008225260.
- [52] S. A. Huggett and K. P. Tod. An Introduction to Twistor Theory. London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2 edition, 1994. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/an-introduction-to-twistor-theory/ E0FEB7802E3C3E49DC97C72D7DE1D658.
- [53] Reinhard Illge. On potentials for several classes of spinor and tensor fields in curved spacetimes. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 20(6):551–564, June 1988. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/BF00758910. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00758910.
- [54] Leopald Infeld and Bartel Leendert van der Waerden. Die Wellengleichung des Elektrons in der allgemeinen Relativitätstheorie. Sitzungsber. Ber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Physik.math., 9:380–401, 1933.
- [55] J. M. Jauch and F. Rohrlich. The Theory of Photons and Electrons. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1976.
- [56] Shoshichi Kobayashi. Transformation Groups in Differential Geometry. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1972.
- [57] Carlos N. Kozameh, Ezra T. Newman, and K. P. Tod. Conformal Einstein spaces. General Relativity and Gravitation, 17(4):343–352, April 1985. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/ BF00759678. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00759678.
- [58] C. Lanczos. The Splitting of the Riemann Tensor. Reviews of Modern Physics, 34(3): 379-389, July 1962. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.34.379. URL https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.34.379.
- [59] Cornelius Lanczos. A Remarkable Property of the Riemann-Christoffel Tensor in Four Dimensions. Annals of Mathematics, 39(4):842-850, 1938. URL https://www.jstor. org/stable/1968467.
- [60] Otto Laporte and George E. Uhlenbeck. Application of Spinor Analysis to the Maxwell and Dirac Equations. *Physical Review*, 37(11):1380–1397, June 1931. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRev.37.1380. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.37.1380.

- [61] Daniel M. Lipkin. Existence of a New Conservation Law in Electromagnetic Theory. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 5(5):696-700, May 1964. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10. 1063/1.1704165. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.1704165.
- [62] Malcolm A. H. MacCallum. Computer algebra in gravity research. Living Reviews in Relativity, 21(1):6, August 2018. ISSN 1433-8351. doi: 10.1007/s41114-018-0015-6. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s41114-018-0015-6.
- [63] M. S. Madsen. The plane gravitational wave in quadratic gravity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 7(1):87–96, January 1990. ISSN 0264-9381. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/7/1/014.
   URL https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/7/1/014.
- [64] W. F. Maher and J. D. Zund. A spinor approach to the Lanczos spin tensor. Il Nuovo Cimento A (1965-1970), 57(4):638-648, October 1968. ISSN 1826-9869. doi: 10.1007/ BF02751371. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02751371.
- [65] P. D. Mannheim and D. Kazanas. Exact vacuum solution to conformal Weyl gravity and galactic rotation curves. Astrophysical Journal, pages 635-638, 1989. URL http: //inis.iaea.org/search/search.aspx?orig\_q=RN:21012580.
- [66] Philip D. Mannheim and Demosthenes Kazanas. Solutions to the Reissner-Nordström, Kerr, and Kerr-Newman problems in fourth-order conformal Weyl gravity. *Physical Review D*, 44(2):417–423, July 1991. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.44.417. URL https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.44.417.
- [67] Charles W Misner and John A Wheeler. Classical physics as geometry. Annals of Physics, 2(6):525-603, December 1957. ISSN 0003-4916. doi: 10.1016/0003-4916(57)90049-0. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0003491657900490.
- [68] H. Κ. Moffatt. The degree of knottedness of tangled vortex lines. Journal of Fluid Mechanics. 35(1):117-129,January 1969. ISSN 1469 -0022-1120. doi: 10.1017/S0022112069000991. 7645. URL https: //www.cambridge.org/core/journals/journal-of-fluid-mechanics/ article/abs/degree-of-knottedness-of-tangled-vortex-lines/ 798DFB897A75D97CE3081F4C1DA970F0.
- [69] Mikio Nakahara. Geometry, Topology and Physics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2 edition, January 2017.
- [70] E. T. Newman and A. I. Janis. Note on the Kerr Spinning-Particle Metric. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 6(6):915-917, June 1965. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10.1063/1.1704350.
   URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.1704350.

- [71] Ezra Newman and Roger Penrose. An Approach to Gravitational Radiation by a Method of Spin Coefficients. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 3(3):566-578, May 1962. ISSN 0022-2488, 1089-7658. doi: 10.1063/1.1724257. URL http://aip.scitation.org/doi/10.1063/1.1724257.
- M. Novello and A. L. Velloso. The connection between general observers and Lanczos potential. General Relativity and Gravitation, 19(12):1251-1265, December 1987. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/BF00759104. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00759104.
- [73] P. J. O'Donnell. Analysis of the Lanczos tensor incorporating generating techniques for some empty spacetimes. Ph.D., University of Sussex, 1998. URL https://ethos.bl.uk/ OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.244351.
- [74] Peter O'Donnell. Introduction to 2-Spinors in General Relativity. World Scientific, April 2003.
- [75] Peter O'Donnell. Letter: A Solution of the Weyl-Lanczos Equations for the Schwarzschild Space-Time. General Relativity and Gravitation, 36(6):1415-1422, June 2004. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1023/B:GERG.0000022577.11259.e0. URL https://doi.org/10.1023/B: GERG.0000022577.11259.e0.
- [76] Peter O'donnell and Pye, H. A brief historical review of the important developments in Lanczos potential theory. *EJTP*, 7(24):327–350, 2010.
- [77] W. T. Payne. Elementary Spinor Theory. American Journal of Physics, 20(5):253-262, May 1952. ISSN 0002-9505. doi: 10.1119/1.1933190. URL https://aapt.scitation. org/doi/abs/10.1119/1.1933190.
- [78] R Penrose. Twistor theory, its aims and achievements. In C. J Isham, R Penrose, and D. W Sciama, editors, *Quantum gravity: an Oxford symposium*, pages 268–407. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1975.
- [79] R. Penrose and M. A. H. MacCallum. Twistor theory: An approach to the quantisation of fields and space-time. *Physics Reports*, 6(4):241-315, February 1973. ISSN 0370-1573. doi: 10.1016/0370-1573(73)90008-2. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0370157373900082.
- [80] Roger Penrose. A spinor approach to general relativity. Annals of Physics, 10(2):171–201, June 1960. ISSN 0003-4916. doi: 10.1016/0003-4916(60)90021-X. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/000349166090021X.
- [81] Roger Penrose. A Remarkable Property of Plane Waves in General Relativity. Reviews of Modern Physics, 37(1):215-220, January 1965. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.37.215. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.37.215.

- [82] Roger Penrose. Zero rest-mass fields including gravitation: asymptotic behaviour. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 284(1397):159-203, February 1965. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1965.0058. URL https: //royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1965.0058.
- [83] Roger Penrose. Structure of space-time. In Cecile M DeWitt and John Archibald Wheeler, editors, *Battelle Rencontres*, pages 121–235. WA Benjamin Inc., New York, 1968.
- [84] Roger Penrose. Twistor quantisation and curved space-time. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 1(1):61-99, May 1968. ISSN 1572-9575. doi: 10.1007/BF00668831.
   URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00668831.
- [85] Roger Penrose. Solutions of the Zero-Rest-Mass Equations. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 10(1):38–39, January 1969. ISSN 0022-2488. doi: 10.1063/1.1664756. URL https://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.1664756.
- [86] Roger Penrose. Relativistic Symmetry Groups. In A. O. Barut, editor, Group Theory in Non-Linear Problems, Nato Advanced Study Institutes Series, pages 1–58. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1974. doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-2144-9\_1. URL https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-010-2144-9\_1.
- [87] Roger Penrose. Quasi-local mass and angular momentum in general relativity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 381(1780):53-63, May 1982. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1982.0058. URL https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1982.0058.
- [88] Roger Penrose. Gravity and quantum mechanics. In C Kozameh and O. M Moreschi, editors, *General relativity and gravitation 1992: proceedings ...*, Cordoba, Argentina, 1993. Institute of Physics.
- [89] Roger Penrose and Wolfgang Rindler. Spinors and Space-Time: Volume 1: Two-Spinor Calculus and Relativistic Fields, volume 1 of Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1984. URL https://www.cambridge. org/core/books/spinors-and-spacetime/B66766D4755F13B98F95D0EB6DF26526.
- [90] Roger Penrose and Wolfgang Rindler. Spinors and Space-Time: Volume 2: Spinor and Twistor Methods in Space-Time Geometry, volume 2 of Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/spinors-and-spacetime/ 24388801C4B4BA419851FD4AF667A8F0.
- [91] Michael E. Peskin and Daniel V. Schroeder. An Introduction To Quantum Field Theory. CRC Press, Boca Raton, January 2018. doi: 10.1201/9780429503559.

- [92] Del Rajan and Matt Visser. Cartesian Kerr-Schild variation on the Newman-Janis trick. *International Journal of Modern Physics D*, 26(14):1750167, December 2017. ISSN 0218- 2718. doi: 10.1142/S021827181750167X. URL https://www.worldscientific.com/ doi/abs/10.1142/S021827181750167X.
- [93] A. F. Ranada. On the magnetic helicity. European Journal of Physics, 13(2):70-76, March 1992. ISSN 0143-0807. doi: 10.1088/0143-0807/13/2/003. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/0143-0807/13/2/003.
- [94] Ronald J. Riegert. Birkhoff's Theorem in Conformal Gravity. Physical Review Letters, 53(4):315-318, July 1984. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.53.315. URL https://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.53.315.
- [95] H.-J. Schmidt. A new conformal duality of spherically symmetric space-times. arXiv:grqc/9905103, May 1999. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/gr-qc/9905103.
- [96] J. A. Schouten. *Ricci-Calculus*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1954. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-662-12927-2.
- [97] J. M. Souriau and C. h Cushman. Structure of Dynamical Systems: A Symplectic View of Physics. Springer Science & Business Media, September 1997.
- [98] Hans Stephani, Dietrich Kramer, Malcolm MacCallum, Cornelius Hoenselaers, and Eduard Herlt. Exact Solutions of Einstein's Field Equations. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2 edition, 2003. ISBN 9780521467025. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511535185. URL https://www. cambridge.org/core/books/exact-solutions-of-einsteins-field-equations/ 11CF6CFCC10CC62B9B299F08C32C37A6.
- [99] J. M. Stewart and Stephen William Hawking. Hertz-Bromwich-Debye-Whittaker-Penrose potentials in general relativity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences*, 367(1731):527–538, September 1979. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1979.0101. URL https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10. 1098/rspa.1979.0101.
- [100] John Stewart. Advanced General Relativity. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991. ISBN 9780521449465. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511608179. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/ advanced-general-relativity/OBAA633CA1A6B32F9485F36F8EC2DD3F.
- [101] László B. Szabados. Quasi-Local Energy-Momentum and Angular Momentum in General Relativity. Living Reviews in Relativity, 12(1):4, June 2009. ISSN 1433-8351. doi: 10. 12942/lrr-2009-4. URL https://doi.org/10.12942/lrr-2009-4.

- [102] P. Szekeres. Spaces conformal to a class of spaces in general relativity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 274(1357):206– 212, July 1963. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1963.0124. URL https://royalsocietypublishing. org/doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.1963.0124.
- [103] H Takeno. On the spintensor of Lanczos. Tensor, 15:103–119, 1964.
- [104] C. J. Talbot. Newman-Penrose approach to twisting degenerate metrics. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 13(1):45-61, March 1969. ISSN 1432-0916. doi: 10.1007/ BF01645269. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01645269.
- [105] A. H. Taub. Lanczos' splitting of the Riemann tensor. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 1(3):377-380, January 1975. ISSN 0898-1221. doi: 10.1016/ 0898-1221(75)90039-5. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/0898122175900395.
- [106] K. P. Tod. Penrose's Quasi-local Mass. In Toby N. Bailey and R. J. Baston, editors, Twistors in mathematics and physics, pages 164–188. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [107] A. Trautmann, F. A. E. Pirani, and H. Bondi. Lectures on General Relativity. Brandeis Summer Institute of Theoretical Physics 1964 Volume One. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1965.
- [108] B. L. van der Waerden and Guglielmo Pasa. Spinor analysis. arXiv:1703.09761 [physics], April 2017. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1703.09761.
- [109] Raymond O. Wells. Differential Analysis on Complex Manifolds. Springer New York, 2008. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-73892-5.
- [110] Hermann Weyl. Gravitation und Elektrizität. Sitzungsber. Königl. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 26:465–80, 1918.
- [111] Louis Witten. Invariants of General Relativity and the Classification of Spaces. *Physical Review*, 113(1):357-362, January 1959. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.113.357. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.113.357.
- [112] N. M. J. Woodhouse. Geometric Quantization. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, second edition, August 1997. ISBN 9780198502708.
- [113] Nicholas Woodhouse. Twistor theory and geometric quantization. In A. Janner, T. Janssen, and M. Boon, editors, *Group Theoretical Methods in Physics*, Lecture Notes in Physics, pages 149–163, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1976. Springer. ISBN 9783540382522. doi: 10.1007/3-540-07789-8\_14.

[114] J. D. Zund. The theory of the Lanczos spinor. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, 104(1):239-268, December 1975. ISSN 1618-1891. doi: 10.1007/BF02417018. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02417018.